IDENTITY, BELONGING AND POLITICAL ACTIVISM IN THE SRI LANKAN COMMUNITIES IN GERMANY

MICHAELA R. TOLD

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of East London for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

This research examines the dynamic relationship of Sinhalese and Tamils living in Germany in regards to their home and host country, and seeks to better understand the complexities of their political involvement. The research is based on qualitative research methodologies. The author conducted 30 interviews in Berlin during the period 2006–2008 to inform this research.

The research not only provides an overview of the historical contexts of Sri Lanka and Germany, it also links these histories with the processes of out-migration from Sri Lanka and in-migration to Germany. It then continues to analyse the construction of belonging in the context of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin. The research examines how far concepts of home, citizenship, nationalism and identity construction shape the sense of belonging of first and second generation Sinhalese and Tamils in Berlin. Finally, it analyses the ways the members of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities engage in economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities in the home and host country, and how far these activities shape belonging and are politically motivated. The research also considers and studies the gendered nature of belonging and transnational political practices.

The research uniquely combines the study of the Tamil diaspora with the study of the Sinhalese diaspora in Berlin. It allows new insights into the complex and multiple constructions of belonging and identity and into the interplay of gender, ethnicity and generations, and it highlights the importance of political activism in the conceptualization of belonging.

<u>Key words:</u> belonging, diaspora, gender, Germany, identity, Sri Lanka, transnationalism, qualitative research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
DEDICATION	IX
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Relevance of this research and research questions The structure of this thesis	5 8
CHAPTER 2: EPISTEMOLOGICAL AND METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK	
Epistemological framework	16 20 28
CHAPTER 3: THE ETHNIC CONFLICT IN SRI LANKA AND IT MIGRATION FLOWS	
Post-independence Sri Lanka and its migration flows	32
Language as identity marker and the first anti-Tamil riots	
The rise of the Sinhalese and Tamil youth movements	
Anti-Tamil riots and the emergence of the LTTE The militarization of society in the 1990s	
The ceasefire agreement and the end of the war	
CHAPTER 4: FROM GUEST WORKERS TO A	
'MULTICULTURAL' SOCIETY IN GERMANY	52
Economic migration into Germany after World War II	
Asylum seekers and refugees in the 1980s	
The fall of the Iron Curtain and the Berlin Wall	
Racist sentiments against immigrants	
Migration-related initiatives from the EU The development of a new legal framework	
Sri Lankans in Germany: Their citizenship and multicultural Germa	

CHAPTER 5: BELONGING, CITIZENSHIP AND IDENTITY	73
Framing belonging	73
Diasporic belonging	
Relating to 'home' and 'homeland'	
Creating an 'imagined home'	85
Relating to citizenship	
Relating to nationalism	94
Constructing identities	97
Multiple identities	100
Ethical and political value systems	104
CHAPTER 6: TRANSNATIONAL POLITICAL PRACTICES	105
CHAPTER 6: TRANSNATIONAL POLITICAL PRACTICES Economic activities	108
Economic activities	108 117
Economic activitiesPolitical activities	108 117
Political activitiesSocial activities	108 117 132
Economic activities Political activities Social activities Cultural activities	108 117 132 141 152

ABBREVIATIONS

ADS Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes (Federal Anti-

Discrimination Office)

AGG Allgemeines Gleichbehandlungsgesetz (General Equal Treatment

Act)

CDU Christlich Demokratische Union (Christian Democratic Union)

CP Communist Party of Sri Lanka

CSU Christlich Sozialistische Union (Christian Socialist Union)

DDC District Development Council

EC European Community

EPRLF Eelam People's Revolutionary Liberation Front

EROS Eelam Revolutionary Organisation of Students

EU European Union

FDP Freie Demokratische Partei (Free Democratic Party)

FP Federal Party (of Sri Lanka)

FRG Federal Republic of Germany

GDR German Democratic Republic

GoSL Government of Sri Lanka

IATJ International Association of Tamil Journalists

INSD International Network of Sri Lankan Diaspora

IOM International Organization for Migration

IPKF Indian Peace Keeping Force

JDS Journalists for Democracy in Sri Lanka

JHU Jathika Hela Urumaya (Buddhist Monks' Party)

JVP Janatha Vimukthi Peramuna (People's Liberation Front)

KPD Kommunistische Partei Deutschland (Communist Party of

Germany)

LSSP Lanka Sama Samaja Party

LTTE Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam

NFR Networking for Rights

NGO Non-Governmental Organization

PDS Partei des Demokratischen Sozialismus (Party of Democratic

Socialism)

PLOTE People's Liberation Organisation of Tamil Eelam

PSO Public Service Ordinance

PTA Prevention of Terrorism Act

PTOMs Post-Tsunami Operational Management

SED Sozialistische Einheitspartei Deutschlands (Socialist Unity Party of

Germany)

SLA Sri Lanka Association Berlin e.V.

SLDF Sri Lanka Democratic Forum

SLFP Sri Lankan Freedom Party

SLMC Sri Lanka Muslim Congress

SPD Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands (Social Democratic

Party of Germany)

TELO Tamil Eelam Liberation Organisation

TMVP Thamil Makkal Vidudal Puligal

TNA Tamil National Alliance

TRO Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation

TULF Tamil United Liberation Front

UK United Kingdom

UN United Nations

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNHRC United Nations Human Rights Council

UNP United National Party

UPFA United People's Freedom Party

US United States

VOIP Voice Over Internet Protocol

WW II World War II

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This PhD thesis has been an incredible journey and an adventure. It started out of the desire to contribute to Sri Lankan history a small piece of intellectual reflection at a time when I worked full time at an international organization. The journey had to overcome many hurdles, not only that of a working 'student' but also of a tsunami hitting Sri Lanka, the loss of family members and close friends, a constantly changing political environment and the beauty of new life emerging. This journey will not end here: it will continue but it has found a temporary moment of rest. And, as such, it has ended with the same passion as it was started with. I am still convinced that a history is to be told that nobody has yet accounted for: the history of diaspora Sri Lankans – Tamils and Sinhalese alike – and their political contribution to rebuilding peace and a more just society, but also, unfortunately, their role in fostering nationalism and conflict. This journey also ended still working full time and with a son to nurture and grow with. It ended in an incredible story of write-up, which should be told at a later stage.

But this journey also ended in and re-launched a renewed solidarity with – and commitment to – the Sri Lankan people, inside and outside the country and all over this world, struggling to restore the rule of law, human rights and democracy. It also ended in and was accompanied all along by colleagues, friends and mentors, without whom such a journey would have never reached this point:

I want to extend my heartfelt gratitude to:

- my supervisors, Prof Nira Yuval-Davis and Dr Maja Korac-Sanderson for their endless patience, academic guidance and moral support throughout these years.
- my closest Sri Lankan friends, Sunanda Deshapriya and Sunila
 Abeysekera for their continuous concern about my writing. Sunanda,

thank you for providing the space and loving my son so much. Sunila, you have told me early on "Micha, so many books are written on the history of Sri Lanka but we often forget that the political history crosses borders and that its history continues abroad. You should really do this, really". I do hear your words still in my ears and you have constantly asked about the 'P-word' progress. I know that you wanted to see this finished and I am terribly sorry that you could not read and comment this text any more. But, hopefully, your spirit lives through these pages. I learnt about politics, feminism, Sri Lanka from you. Thank you.

- my mother for her love and support throughout these years and, my father and my brother, though lost many years ago, who accompanied me all along in my heart, and my son, for his astuteness and common sense at the age of three, his laughter and pointed comments about me working again rather than playing football or reading a book with him.
- my interviewees for their trust, confidence and openness to share their experiences and my many, many other Sri Lankan friends, both Sinhalese and Tamils, living in Canada, France, Germany, Switzerland, the UK and Sri Lanka.
- and many other friends who have been supportive in different ways and at different stages during this long journey, especially Sabiene Bingel-Faller, Linda Deelen, Gundi Dick, Vera Egenberger, Heinz Gabler, Henriette Gunkel, Elisabeth Holzinger, Brigitte Holzner, Justine and Nick Kouppari, Markus Mair, Michael Mertsch, Miro Modrusan, Kanyana Mutombo, Ursula Pühringer, and my working colleagues and friends for taking over work so as to give me writing space, especially Prof Ilona Kickbusch and Kristina Petrova.

Thank you.

DEDICATION

To my father, his wisdom, love and sense of justice

and

in solidarity with those struggling for peace and justice

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Most countries of the world are affected by migration flows, be it as a source, transit or destination country – or a combination of these. Migration patterns can be observed in various directions and the reasons for migration are manifold. In a globalized and interconnected world, international migration is gaining more importance, both in national and international politics. In 2010, an estimated 214 million people were on the move, of whom 49% were female (A/67/254, 2012; UN, 2009). This figure, however, only considers long-term international migrants and excludes undocumented migrants, short-term travellers and internally displaced persons. Even though the number of migrants is steadily growing, they only represent around 3% of the current world population (UN, 2009).

The first special rapporteur on the Human Rights of Migrants, Ms Gabriela Rodríguez Pizarro, defined migrants (in her report to the then UN Commission on Human Rights (E/CN.4/2000/82) in the context of protecting their human rights) as:

- "(a) Persons who are outside the territory of the State of which they are nationals or citizens, are not subject to its legal protection and are in the territory of another State;
- (b) Persons who do not enjoy the general legal recognition of rights which is inherent in the granting by the host State of the status of refugee, permanent resident or naturalized person or of similar status; and
- (c) Persons who do not enjoy either general legal protection of their fundamental rights by virtue of diplomatic agreements, visas or other agreements." (Pizarro, 2000)

This working definition focuses on the legal protection of the rights of migrants and encompasses a broad conceptual framework without concentrating on the

reasons for departure from the country of origin or the legal status within the destination country. Indeed, international migration can therefore be considered as a move of people from one place to another for a longer period of time (Hammar et al., 1997b) and by crossing national borders (Hammar et al., 1997a); usually, a permanent or semi-permanent change of residence is part of this move (Lee, 1966).

For the purpose of this research, these definitions will apply. However, the target of investigation will not only concern 'international migrants' as described above, including asylum seekers, refugees, otherwise displaced or uprooted people, and economic migrants, but will also include persons who have become citizens of the host country after a period of being an international migrant.

These broad definitions are useful because they consider the increasingly complex and intersecting conditions that urge people to move: political persecution, conflict, economic instability and poverty, natural disasters or environmental degradation, as well as family links in foreign countries, study opportunities abroad, starting a family or generally the personal life situation all constitute reasons for leaving the home country, but a clear distinction between these causes of migration and the search for better living conditions is often difficult to establish. Richmond (1994) precisely points at the intertwinement of political and economic causes, placing 'proactive' and 'reactive' migration at the two opposite ends of a migration continuum. The circumstances and conditions around the migrant define these opposite categories. Similar to this understanding, Van Hear (1998) refers to 'voluntary' and 'involuntary' migration, distinguishing the two through the level of choice one has to leave a country. However, these distinctions often do not reflect the reality of today's migration population, whose decision is frequently based within a continuum between 'voluntary' or 'proactive' and 'forced' or 'reactive' migration. These two conceptual frameworks are not interchangeable and can only be compared if they are considered circumstantial because a person who is 'forced' to leave is also proactive in the search for the best option to travel, for example, and, therefore, has a clear agency and is not just reactive. The important aspect,

however, is that very often there is not a clear-cut single reason to leave or settle in a country.

The contacts in the Sri Lankan diaspora communities across Europe confirm this continuum: many were forced to leave due to political reasons; at the same time, they have chosen a particular destination country because of their family or community ties in that country. In the case of Sri Lanka, this quite often happened among the Tamil population forced to leave and choosing either France, Switzerland or the UK where previous ties existed. Sometimes, this same 'forced' migrant may also turn into a 'voluntary' migrant; for example, once settled in a country, he may bring along his family from back home and stay on voluntarily, regardless of his legal status. Among the Sri Lankan Tamil population, mainly men left the country in order to escape either the threats or recruitment policies of the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) or government repression. They then brought along their wives and children at a later stage and then, when they would have been actually able to return, they have chosen to stay on for a better future for their children.

Even though Sri Lanka has a significant number of women migrating to the Middle East, including Saudia Arabia, as domestic helpers, the predominant female migration pattern in the context of this research is tied to men, either as wives or through arranged marriages.

"I came to Berlin in 1995 as a wife of a Jaffna man. I did not know my husband before but we were three sisters in the family and we all wanted to get out. The two other sisters are now settled in Norway and Canada. My parents passed away, so we are a dispersed family. Our children speak different languages but we keep our relations somehow." (Theva, Tamil, female, first generation)

It is neither unusual for women to come to Western countries to marry Tamil men nor for family members to settle in different countries of the West. Often, brothers from the same family migrate to the same country, whereas sisters settle in different countries due to their marriage. Despite the alienation and loss

of family that many women experience, they are still bound by family and community, even at a global level. An arranged marriage can be 'voluntary' as in the case above, and may then "lead to a lifelong supportive partnership, but some of them can be accurately described as 'forced'." (Caritas Internationalis, 2011: 5)

The continuum from a 'forced' migrant to a 'voluntary' one may also apply to 'voluntary' migrants who suddenly become 'forced' to stay outside their country of origin when the political situation in the country changes and prevents them from returning back home. This experience may be faced by a male interviewee from the Sinhalese community who left for Germany as a student and, given his involvement in the diaspora networks in Germany, may now find it difficult to return. All these examples just show that many mixed forms of migration exist and that these dichotomies between 'voluntary' or 'proactive' and 'forced' or 'reactive' migration are often created by states and do not consider the viewpoint of the migrant (Martin, 2001; Hammar et al., 1997b).

Castles and Miller (2009) apply a different categorization of an 'international migrant', defining eight sub-categories, namely temporary labour migrants, highly skilled and business migrants, irregular migrants, refugees, asylum seekers, forced migrants, family members reunification and return migrants. This categorization as such neither considers Richmond's and Van Hear's continuum concept, nor does it differentiate between the reason for migration and the legal status of the migrant, but, rather, such categorizations allow – as Castles himself mentions – migration flows to be better controlled. States create these differentiations in order to establish their policies of reception and return. In the European Union, asylum application procedures or temporary study and employment visas¹ (Daily News, 2011), as well as family reunification, are currently the only ways to gain legal entry. Consequently, states have imposed restrictive admission mechanisms, such as strict visa regimes or carrier sanctions, in order to control access. Yet, these mechanisms – often targeted

.

¹ Italy, for example, signed an agreement in 2011 to provide 3,500 jobs for Sri Lankan passport holders in Italy (see Daily News, 22 October 2011). Germany has provided work and study visa for Sri Lankans, but on a much smaller scale.

towards and affecting asylum seekers – neither adequately address the protection needs of migrants nor their rights, precisely because failed asylum seekers, economic or irregular migrants are often not considered in this framework as they should be (Martin, 2001). However, the system is undergoing major modifications as the EU is facing demographic changes that will require large numbers of skilled workers in the near future. As a response, channels for regular and legal immigration into the EU are currently under discussion.

The determination of the legal status indeed often remains secondary in regards to the migrants' relations to the country of origin, although the level of integration can be considered as an important facet of the relationship between the country of origin and the destination country. Therefore, rather than deciding on a useful classification of international migrants, the focus here shall be on the characteristics of the migrants in regards to their settlement in the destination country. Motte et al. (1999) describe "transnational migration" as a particular case of international migration characterized not only by a change of location and a certain pluri-locality, but also by building different social relations across borders that link the country of origin and destination country. Other characteristics would involve the identification with both cultures, which is facilitated through transport and communications technology. Many of the interview partners have confirmed this pluri-locality and shift between cultures, even though the dynamics are often more complex and will be extensively analysed in the next chapter. The research focuses particularly on transnational migrants, regardless of their legal status and motives for departure.

Relevance of this research and research questions

The causes and patterns of migration have frequently been subject to research in regards to both Sri Lanka and Germany (Schröder, 2003; Fair, 2005; Vimalarajah et al., 2010; Cheran, 2003; Deshingkar et al., 2006). Nevertheless, specific research on the particularities of Sri Lankan migration into Berlin has never been conducted. Berlin has been uniquely characterized as a divided city

until 1989, which also included different migration policies between the then German Democratic Republic (GDR) and the Federal Republic of Germany (FRG). The historical circumstances therefore have not only been shaped by the conflict in Sri Lanka itself, but also by the political context in Germany.

A number of diaspora and transnational communities have been researched by different scholars, for example, Kurds, Bosnians, Armenians, Iranians and Somalis, and lessons can be drawn from these research projects. Even though the academic world discovered Sri Lanka and its diaspora population in the aftermath of the tsunami, the focus of research remained on the developmental aspects of the relationship between the diaspora as a transnational community with its country of origin. This research focuses, however, on the political dimensions of the relationship between home and abroad and the emergence of collective identities among Sinhalese and Tamil communities, even though the lines between politics and development are at times blurred.

In addition, the main attention in current Sri Lankan research is given to the Tamil population organized through the structures of non-state bodies, such as the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE). This does not take due account of the heterogeneity among the Tamil as well as Sinhalese population living abroad. Even though the research will recognize the importance of the Tamil diaspora, it will also bring to the fore other community networks that are equally well organized and functioning with similar mechanisms as the Tamil diaspora. Therefore, the perspective and angle of this research is rather unique in attempting to analyse the political engagement of the two major Sri Lankan ethnic communities in Sri Lanka and Germany and to compare their perceptions – in order to prove their commonalities and differences.

Diaspora and transnationalism studies have been an emerging field of study in recent years. Despite the wide range of available literature, only limited attempts have been made to integrate concepts of diaspora/transnationalism with concepts of citizenship, identity, gender and belonging. The available literature highlights specific aspects of these theoretical concepts, but does not

necessarily link them together in the context of transnationalism and political activism.

Therefore, this research will examine the relationship of Sri Lankans in Germany towards their country of origin and their 'host' country, as well as the ways in which a particular Sri Lankan identity develops among those living in Germany, resulting in a certain sense of belonging and a particular notion of 'home'. These concepts are interrelated and are constructed differently by women and men. The research analyses how economic, political, social, cultural, and virtual activities develop abroad and how they impact on the political engagement of Sinhalese and Tamils.

Within this context, the following four research questions guided this research:

- Which historical circumstances resulted in out-migration from Sri Lanka and what are the different forms of settlement in Berlin?
- What kind of belonging and what collective identities have emerged among Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin?
- What is the gendered character of collective identities and political processes involved in the development of transnationalism and diaspora politics of these communities?
- How are members of the Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin perceiving and assessing their political engagement in nationalist projects?

Overall, by following the above-mentioned guiding questions, this research allows an examination of migration patterns into Berlin, exemplified through the Sri Lankan communities. It attempts to fill a significant gap of information and analysis that exists in relation to collective politics of the Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities. The analysis of the diaspora communities as agents participating at material and ideological levels in national projects reveals the dynamics between home and 'abroad'.

The structure of this thesis

In order to examine the research questions, this research is divided into six substantive chapters:

Following this introduction, chapter 2 outlines the epistemological and methodological framework in which the research is located. Knowledge is situated (Harding, 1987; Haraway, 1988) and thus, this research is defined by the researcher's feminist ontological and epistemological position, which is shaped by her political and academic involvement with and for Sri Lanka. The research is based on qualitative research conducted through in-depth, semi-structured interviews among 30 Sri Lankans, both Sinhalese and Tamils, in Berlin. This methodological approach facilitates the development of an understanding of processes and meanings involved in the research questions. The social construction of the realities of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin is emphasized, the relationship between the researcher and the topic of research, the situational limitations involved in the research process, as well as an exploration of the creation of social experiences and their meaning is taken into account (Denzin et al., 2008). Ethical considerations that have been considered during the research process are outlined. Therefore, the chapter provides a brief description of the overall research design.

Chapter 3 is dedicated to the history of the ethnic conflict in Sri Lanka after independence until the end of the war in 2009. It contextualizes the research and allows gaining a better understanding on the manifold reasons for migration out of Sri Lanka, but also provides an important background against which the experiences and the positions of the diaspora communities in Berlin can be assessed. The different ethnic groups in Sri Lanka have their distinct history of migration linked to the political and economic situation in the country. Sinhalese came to Germany due to political reasons in the early 1970s; 20 years later, they were mainly economic migrants. Tamils, in contrast, left Sri Lanka from the early 80s onwards due to the conflict situation in the north and east of the country (McDowell, 1996; Fuglerud, 1999; Cheran, 2003).

Chapter 4 provides an overview of Germany's migration history, from the end of World War II until 2009. Germany has for long rejected the notion of an 'immigration country' and its economic miracle of the 1960s and 1970s was based on the 'guest workers' from Turkey, Italy and Portugal, among others. Sri Lankan migrants arrived mainly in the mid-1980s, which can be directly linked to the anti-Tamil riots of 1983. At the time, entry to Germany was through East Germany. The fall of the Berlin Wall had a major impact on asylum seekers and refugees, but also on foreign migrants more generally. The chapter shows how the political context has shaped the way migrants are perceived and treated within the German policy framework. Only the red–green coalition government in 1998 brought positive change towards a more multicultural society. Consequently, several legal reforms were undertaken and Germany has finally embraced its immigrants and the need for a society marked by diversity. Only through this historical contextualization can an understanding of the different perceptions of the Sri Lankan communities towards their home country be gained.

Chapter 5 examines the theoretical framework underpinning some of the data collected. After a short introduction of the Yuval-Davis (2011) analytical framework on belonging, the different components are discussed in more detail. Belonging is constructed by the interrelationship of social locations, emotional attachments and identifications, as well as the political and ethical value system. It necessitates an intersectional analysis in order to give justice to the complex realities shaping the individual. This framework, however, is put in relation to the diaspora communities in Germany and, hence, the academic literature will be enriched by the narratives of the interviewees. Particularly in the diaspora, the sense of belonging is shaped by the relationship to home, the citizenship status of the migrant and the nationalist projects in which they are embedded. Identities are narratives that can be contained within and outside the nation (Edensor, 2002), which can lead to the formation of specific diaspora or transnational identities. However, identities are negotiated through multiple mediations of political and historical practices that are shaped by different social locations. In fact, diaspora identities can be local and global at once, representing networks of transnational identifications that encompass imagined

and encountered communities (Brah, 1996). This chapter therefore provides this overarching framework, which influences the political engagement of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin.

Chapter 6 analyses the transnational political practices of the diaspora communities in Berlin. The collected data provide the basis for this chapter, which is structured in economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities (Al-Ali et al., 2001b; Vertovec, 2001). These activities are either targeting directly the home country or are located within the host country. They are influenced by the reasons for migration and the political context in Sri Lanka (chapter 3), Germany's policies towards migrants and their integration policies (chapter 4), as well as the different components shaping belonging (chapter 5). In addition, each section of the chapter is specifically assessed in regards to women's involvement. This chapter is a reflective chapter, attempting to tie these different elements together and to – at least, approximatively – give justice to the different realities of the Sinhalese and Tamils living in the diaspora in Berlin. At the same time, it provides new insights into diaspora and transnational political activism.

The final chapter constitutes the concluding chapter, which transforms the collected data into new knowledge by synthesizing the findings of the previous chapters. In this way, a perspective for the future is provided and areas for further research are identified.

CHAPTER 2: EPISTEMOLOGICAL AND METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK

Diaspora and transnational studies have now become distinct academic fields, researching all aspects of diaspora and transnational communities. Interdisciplinary research is conducted to study causes and patterns of migration worldwide and to analyse transnational practices of diaspora and transnational communities. Within this context, the Tamil diaspora and transnational communities have been subject to investigation. However, only limited attempts were undertaken so far to analyse the Sinhala diaspora and transnational communities. Therefore, this research examines the relationship of both Tamils and Sinhalese in Germany, particularly in Berlin, towards the home and host country, the ways identities are constructed among these communities in Berlin resulting in different forms of belonging. The research analyses the economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities conducted by the Sinhalese and Tamil communities in Berlin and their political impact on the home and host country. As such, the research attempts to gain an understanding of and new insights into the dynamics of the Tamil and Sinhala diaspora communities in Berlin. The findings of the research should allow policy-makers in the home and host country to better comprehend the complexity of diaspora and transnational communities and adapt relevant policies accordingly.

In order to understand the analysis and the findings of this research, the epistemological and methodological framework in which this research is located is outlined in this chapter. The choice of this framework is informed by the researcher's research ethics and is based on her epistemological framework. The researcher's (i.e., my) world view and experiences, however, were not only shaped by my Austrian background, but also through my long involvement in Sri Lanka and the diaspora communities in Europe, particularly in Germany, as well as my links to the feminist and political movements in Sri Lanka. This allowed me to learn and grow through different perspectives, but still search for a

common denominator paving the way for political action. The chosen research approach, but also the research topic, reflects these experiences.

A research approach comprises two interrelated parts, which, according to Harding, are the research methodology – a "theory and analysis of how research does or should proceed" - and research methods - "techniques of gathering evidences" (1987: 3). Following this definition, the research methodology adopted in this research concerns how the nexus history and migration, the concept of belonging and identity formation and the practices of the diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin have been analysed in order to understand the political engagement of the Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin. This research is based on qualitative research methodologies. The first part of the research aims to explore and contextualize the migration flows from Sri Lanka and to Germany (chapters 3 and 4), as well as the theoretical concepts of belonging, 'home', citizenship, nationalism, and identity construction (chapter 5). Narratives obtained through the interviews will inform these chapters but will then be used more frequently when analysing the transnational practices of the Sinhalese and Tamil diaspora communities in Germany and the resulting political activism (chapter 6).

The research methods are informed by this methodological framework and refer to the ways in which the interviews have been conducted in Berlin and how the secondary data has been obtained. The 'dialectical' research approach can be seen as a guiding principle of both the research methodology and the research methods because of its dynamics and the permanent shift between the different levels of analysis and between the researcher and the researched. This approach leads to transformations of existing knowledge and can create new knowledge.

Epistemological framework

The epistemological framework depends on the position of the researcher and his/her 'experiences of being' (Haraway, 1988) and will be influenced by the researcher's understanding of social worlds. This will ultimately determine also the knowledge generated through the research (Mason, 1996). I have chosen the framework of feminist epistemologies as it will allow the application of a gender lens, but also enable the perception of women and men as 'knowers' within the research process (Harding, 1987; Hughes, 2002). Harding (1987) distinguishes between feminist empiricism and feminist standpoint as two ways to theorize women's experiences. In my research, I cannot claim to have the same experiences as the researched, even if they are women. The different socialization and material realities in which we are living are shaping our realities and understanding. Therefore, it is important to recognize this difference but also undertake the effort to understand the realities of the researched and to find possible common denominators in order to be able to achieve social change and impact on a wider policy framework together (Harding, 1987). Hence, this research is located within the standpoint theory, which is situated in the life and the realities of the interviewees and their marginalized position within the host society. Not only are women's standpoints taken into account in the research, but also those of men from within the diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin. The actualities of their lives are sites through which "concepts and theories are examined for how they are activated in organising social relations" (Smith in Hughes, 2002: 153). Knowledge, however, is, according to Harding (1987), not a perspective but an achievement. A standpoint can only be achieved through forms of critical consciousness, reflexivity and political struggle (Harding, 1991; Hughes, 2002).

Along the lines of Harding's concept of 'strong objectivity' (1991), I value the perspective of my interlocutors but I do not go 'native' or merge myself with them but, rather, attempt to consider the particularity of their historical, political, social and cultural locations from a critical distance. This leads to reflexivity, which includes my own role as researcher in this process. It not only means that

I underwent a continuous process of awareness and reflection in order to posit myself in relation to the interviewees, but also that I am aware of the risks involved, for example, in terms of power relations and ethical considerations. I am, on the one hand, a 'foreigner' to their lives and struggles and, on the other hand, I am for many also a friend and a person in solidarity with their struggles. Therefore, throughout the research period, I was both an insider and an outsider to the research process (Adler, 2004; Merton, 1972). This position was determined by my interactions with the interviewees and by the social and political context within which the interview took place (Kusow, 2003). I was defined by "shifting identifications amid a field of interpenetrating communities and power relations" (Narayan, 1993: 671).

So reflexivity applied here also means that the way I perceive and describe the social realities of the interviewees not only describes them but also constitutes them (Miller et al., 2002). I do not claim to apply a value-free objectivity as expected in traditional research: rather, I have applied "conscious subjectivity" (Duelli Klein, 1983: 94).

Along similar lines, Haraway pleads for the inclusion of "embodied and situated knowledges" (1988: 582 - 583), including the researcher's ones. Situated knowledge also means that the women interviewed are "agents of knowledge" (Harding, 1987: 3). This has to be recognized by me as an outsider to the Sri Lankan diaspora communities. The incorporation of these situated knowledges will lead to a "fusion of horizons" (Nielsen, 1990: 29): The standpoints expressed in the different interviews, these varied 'horizons', can be connected to each other. A synthesis of the interviewee's perspectives will result from this 'fusion', which will contribute to an enlargement and broadening of my own 'horizon' and of my knowledge of the dynamics of the Sri Lankan conflict situation and of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin. In de Vries' terminology, a "performative" conception (1992: 79) can be achieved, and this synthesis is not only an enactment of cultural knowledge but, rather, its production (de Vries, 1992).

Important to the production of knowledge is also the relationship to the group being researched – in my case, the diaspora communities in Berlin. Collins (2000) has coined the term 'dialogical approach' within the context of Black feminist thought whereby she outlined that thinking results in changed actions, which, in turn, again stimulates a changed consciousness. So, in order to produce knowledge, an ongoing dialogue occurs in which action and thought inform one another. In applying such an approach, it is essential to recognize my relations to 'the' diaspora communities.

Of course, 'the' diaspora communities in Berlin are not one single, coherent group, rather – and this will be shown throughout the research – they are very heterogeneous among themselves: as women and men, as Sinhalese and Tamils, as first and second generation. So these broad categories are diverse at two levels: within each of the categories and between them. In addition, different power relations influence both intra- and inter-categorical relationships. So the positions and social locations of each interviewee are different and shifting. Even if similarities are found, they may still follow different value systems (Yuval-Davis, 1999c). Hence, in order to produce new knowledge, I have to recognize these dynamics, on the one hand, and find common ground, on the other.

For this to happen, it is also important to recognize that research also involves imagination of "why, whether and what we are ready to experience, perceive and know" (Stoetzler et al., 2002:325). This imagination is situated or subjective and is determined by our lives. It will also influence my own research but it does influence also the narratives of my interviewees. The acknowledgement of 'situated imaginations' will also allow social agency to be recognized as being driven by values, ideals and goals (Stoetzler et al., 2002). It is on this basis that a "transversal dialogue" (Stoetzler et al., 2002: 328) is possible, recognizing the differences within the diaspora communities, and yet find the common ground among differently positioned interviewees based on a shared value system.

My involvement in Sri Lanka is based on many years of solidarity work, which led to empathy (Nielsen, 1990; Scott, 1993) with the interviewed persons and

played an important role in experiencing and recognizing the members of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin as knowledgeable subjects. It also helped me to reach 'conscious subjectivity', which is linked to "partial identification" with the interviewees and a "view from below" (Mies, 1978: 47 - 48). Yet, I applied a 'multiple consciousness', as a White woman, as an outsider to the society, as a person involved in Sri Lanka and as a researcher, in order to achieve a critical distance from the interviewees. My attempt is not to speak for or on behalf of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities but to 'approximate truth'. Truth, according to Walker, comes only "when all sides of the story are put together, and all their different meanings make one new one" (Walker in Collins, 2000: 38). This approximation has to be based on situated imaginations and transversal dialogue and it contributes one piece to the picture within a 'whole story'. Therefore, to approximate truth and to find common ground among the interviewees is part of the challenge of this research, but it will also be the basis for the production of new knowledge.

Methodological framework

The choice of the research methodology was influenced by my own experiences within the diaspora communities but also by the attempt to appreciate the interviewees' experiences and positions as expressed in the interviews. Therefore, I have chosen a qualitative research approach as a basic methodological framework.

There is no right or wrong approach to research; rather, I have chosen and consider qualitative research as the more appropriate way to address my research questions and to serve my research purpose. *Qualitative research* focuses on the socially constructed nature of realities and is characterized by situational constraints and by the close relationship of the researcher with the topic of research. It is oriented to processes and meanings, and analyses the construction of social experiences in order to give them meaning (Denzin et al., 2008). Therefore, qualitative research allows me to understand the research

dynamics and to locate the research within the epistemological framework as outlined above. Through qualitative research, I am able to address the differentiated social locations of my interviewees and I can locate them within the feminist paradigm of recognizing them as 'knowledgeable agents'. In addition, qualitative research allows me to understand the manifold social realities of the members of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin in a differentiated way.

One concern in qualitative research is the identification and the understanding of the different perspectives of the interviewees, the description of their problem and the analysis of their strategies to resolve the problem. This provides a general framework for the analysis of the collected data. (Sapsford et al., 2006). Qualitative research necessitates an interpretative and flexible approach in order to understand the meanings, interpretations and experiences of the interviewed individuals (Liamputtong, 2010).

Indeed, my research wants to reveal processes and relationships among the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin. My concern and interest in this research was to understand the dynamics and processes shaping the sense of belonging of both Sinhalese and Tamil diaspora communities and their political activism resulting from this. Not only is Germany as a context of Sri Lankan diaspora under-researched, but also the Sinhalese diaspora community has rarely been of interest to researchers worldwide. Hence, the starting point of my research was to collect data but with an open mind and without preconceived hypotheses.

My research relied on in-depth stories or narratives through which the interviewees described their worlds (Silverman, 2013). Thus, the interview situation became "micro-sites for production of narratives" (Czarniawska, 2009: 657). The answers to my interview questions transformed into narratives; in fact, my questions evoked them.

These narratives are "personal stories shaped by the knowledge, experiences, values and feelings of the persons who are telling them" (Moen, 2006: 5), but

they are also 'collective' in so far as they are influenced by the political, social, cultural and institutional settings surrounding them. Therefore, narratives are contextual and represent not only one voice of the individual, but many (Moen, 2006). They allow an analysis of the way the interviewee is presenting himself/herself and how they construct themselves. According to Hendry (2009), individuals construct meaning through complex and multiple ways that are expressed through narratives. This implies that the researcher has to dare to cross boundaries and explore new ways of thinking during the process of analysis. In-depth stories and narratives also require active listening through which the researcher is "seeing the world from the perspective of our subjects" (Glassner and Loughlin in Silverman, 2013: 125).

The use of in-depth stories and narratives goes hand in hand with the epistemological framework used in this research. The interviewees choose to tell a story and sometimes leave other stories untold. I considered different accessible materials and did not just restrict myself to the written text or the spoken word. I merged the existing literature with my interview data, especially in chapter 3, 'The Ethnic Conflict in Sri Lanka and its Migration Flows', chapter 4, 'From Guest Workers to a 'Multicultural Society' in Germany', and chapter 5, 'Belonging, Citizenship and Identity'. Chapter 6, 'Transnational Political Practices', is based on the in-depth stories, notes from observations and conversations, relevant visual materials, but also newspaper articles, social media and other data. The narratives were also shaped by culturally specific communication styles, facial and paralinguistic expressions. The interviewees not only shared experiences and described events, but also conveyed thoughts and feelings. In this way, narratives gave external expression to internal representations of the concepts and practices researched (Squire et al., 2013).

Qualitative research allows, among other things, for an interdisciplinary approach, for bridging theory and practice, and for enabling relations between politics and research (Squire, 2008). This makes this methodology particularly relevant for my research topic: I want to fill the existing knowledge gap in regards to a more comprehensive understanding of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin and their engagement in politics.

Qualitative research, however, also faces criticism and challenge. This is mainly linked to the reliability, validity, transferability, credibility and confirmability of the data (Silverman, 2013; Mason, 1996; Sapsford et al., 2006; Marshall et al., 2010).

Reliability refers to the degree of consistency in ensuring the assignment of instances to the same category (Hammersley, 1992). Reliability can be ensured in my research through the use of codes that are assigned consistently to the narratives. In addition, I was the only person to handle this data and, therefore, could apply the same logic to each narrative. Notes taken during the process helped to record the categorization and the assignment strategy.

Validity is the extent to which the narrative accurately represents the research questions or the research topic (Hammersley, 1992). Validity can relate to the generation of data and to the interpretation of data (Mason, 1996). I have addressed the problem of validity through different means: On the one hand, 'anecdotalism', which is used in the research, can be validated through a process of triangulation whereby the narrative will be looked at from different angles, by different persons. Often, different interviewees could provide this triangulation. On the other hand, in a few cases, I was able to undertake a validation by the respondent (Silverman, 2013); this means I could send some of my findings to the person and check their reaction to it. Finally, I have tried to apply the principle of 'refutability' (Silverman, 2013), which means that I did look out for different voices, not always to validate the original data but also to show and actually prove the diversity of data and positions.

Transferability refers to the generalizability of the findings. This entails the question of how far the research can be useful for other similar research questions, and to what extent the analysis has more general applicability (Mason, 1996). My research does not claim necessarily that the data is transferable as such: Sri Lanka and Germany are very specific contexts, the diaspora communities are relatively particular, hence, a simple transferability would not give justice to this complex context. However, having embedded the

research within a theoretical framework and systematically analysing the data should allow others to apply a similar analytical framework to their contexts.

Hence, only under these conditions, transferability should be possible.

Credibility refers to the way that the interviewees have been adequately identified and described. For this purpose, I have explained in the next section in more detail the data collection and analysis process to facilitate a reasonable assessment of the credibility of my findings (Silverman, 2013). In addition, I have tried to address this concern by contextualizing my interviewees in the research.

Finally, *confirmability* refers to the concept of objectivity and how far the findings can also be confirmed by others. I have tried to address confirmability through some sort of triangulation process but also through my own integrity and engagement in the research. This also meant that I have tried to deconstruct complex meanings and narratives in its different parts. This should allow the reader to follow the deconstruction process and, in doing so, be able to confirm the findings.

Considerations regarding the research methods and data analysis

Research methods are techniques of data collection. I used primary and secondary data as sources of information. The *primary data* are based on the interviews conducted in Berlin over a relatively long period of time, namely between 2006 and 2008. The first set of interviews was carried out during the ceasefire period and after the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami. The second set of interviews then followed after the government had withdrawn officially from the ceasefire agreement and the war actually restarted again. This has had a major impact on the perceptions of the interviewees and their positioning. As the political context has changed over the period of data collection, the interviews also provide unique data on perceptions and sentiments of members of the

diaspora and transnational communities towards their country of origin at times of the ceasefire and at times of war. The research period did not extend beyond 2008 because the end of the war was declared in May 2009, with the LTTE militarily defeated and their organization destroyed. This impacted on the political context and changed the dynamics in the Sri Lankan diaspora communities dramatically.

Germany as the country of investigation was chosen because it hosts a variety of different diaspora networks and individuals. In contrast to some other countries, Germany represents the heterogeneity and complexity of the Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities in all its dimensions: members of the two ethnic groups, Sinhalese and Tamils, live side-by-side; Sinhalese of different political convictions, as well as Tamils with diverse political backgrounds and ideologies have found their way to Germany; the reasons for migration to Germany were forced and voluntary, conflict- and economic-induced; Sri Lankan citizens, as well as German citizens of Sri Lankan origin, are participating in Germany's society; and finally, first and second generation Sri Lankans, that is, Sri Lankan-Germans, have been interviewed. This enormous heterogeneity allows for cross-examining and analysing the research questions from very different angles.

Berlin as a particular site of research was selected because of the high and diverse concentration of Sri Lankans with the above-mentioned profiles. Even though there may be other cities in Germany with a higher density of Sri Lankans, for example, Oberhausen or Stuttgart, they may not be as diverse as in Berlin.

The method of research was based on semi-structured, focused, in-depth interviews with open-ended questions. I felt that this approach was appropriate to "uncover and understand what lies behind any phenomenon about which little is known yet" (Strauss et al., 1990: 19). The questions concerned the following thematic blocks, which were entry points for a more in-depth conversation: personal background; migration history (reason/travel); arrival in Germany; stay in Germany (settlement/residence title/citizenship status/work); contacts to Sri

Lanka/Germany; activities in Sri Lanka/Germany/co-ethnics; self-identification; cultural practices and value system; future for Sri Lanka (peace/war).

The interviews were all conducted face-to-face in Berlin and I had travelled to Berlin for these occasions. The advantages in interviewing personally were the high response rate and the possibility to unobtrusively observe the interviewee and his or her setting (Singleton Jr et al., 1993). All persons contacted for the interview agreed to the interview freely, although I was aware that the cultural setting may have made saying "no" difficult. Yet, interviewees could have expressed their disagreement in other ways and in more subtle language. This, however, did not occur. My position as insider/outsider and as a known person to the community, sometimes also having been introduced through a broker, helped to access the participants (Liamputtong, 2010).

The face-to-face interviews allowed me also to observe the interviewee's reactions to my questions, their body language, and their hesitations in responding and their silences. These were important aspects in understanding the narratives of the interviewee, and it required my own immersion into the culture to be able to interpret them adequately. These observations are woven into the analysis of data and will be highlighted in the analytic chapters where relevant. Occasionally, the body language of the interviewee helped me to understand when I had to reword or explain my question to better reflect the intended meaning. This was crucially important to ensure the reliability and validity of my research.

I did not allot a particular length of time to each interview. Interviews lasted, on average, 1.5 hours, and ranged from 45 minutes to 3.5 hours. I have been flexible in this regard in order not to disrupt the story-telling of the interviewee. The semi-structured nature of my questions, however, helped to ensure that all the thematic blocks outlined above were addressed.

In some instances, telephone and Skype interviews were also conducted to clarify or verify specific aspects of my findings. Such interviews, however,

targeted only persons whom I had interviewed earlier or other key informants whom I knew from other settings.

The research focused on Sinhala and Tamil communities only. The Sri Lankan Muslim community is relatively insignificant in Berlin and, hence, I did not include them in my sample.

The sample was otherwise determined by a snowball sampling technique: I know a limited number of renowned Sri Lankans in Berlin, both Sinhalese and Tamil, who are well anchored in their respective communities. They were able to act as a 'culture broker' (Liamputtong, 2010) and to introduce me to other Sri Lankans. Eide and Allen consider snowballing as:

"an effective method of helping the researcher to be known to others by the process of positive recommendations... Snowballing provides opportunities for the broker and participants to vouch for the cultural competency of the researcher to new contacts" (2005: 6).

The politicized context of Sri Lankan diaspora communities, indeed, requires such introductions in order to be able to access the interviewees. It helped to build trust and create a friendly interview setting. I was fully aware, however, that precisely this politicization but also the heterogeneity of the communities required an outreach beyond the usual contacts of my brokers. To balance such sample bias, I considered parameters which were important determinants to achieve my research objectives: I then purposively reached out to other persons who did not represent alternative Sri Lankan politics but were ideologically considered to reproduce a nationalist or mainstream Sinhala or Tamil discourse. The brokers, but also the different interviewees, helped to identify these persons or provided me with their contact details.

My interviews considered the following variables: women/men, Sinhala/Tamil, first/second generation, and reason of migration (political/economic migrant). In total, 30 persons were interviewed and an attempt was made to keep a certain balance between the numbers of interviewees belonging to the different

categories. The higher number of men and Tamils in the interview sample mirrors the higher presence of men and Tamils within the Sri Lankan diaspora in Berlin in contrast to women and Sinhalese.

Despite the outreach to different ideological groupings, the different shadings of Sri Lankan politics is hard to reflect in all its dimensions. Although Sinhalese nationalists have been interviewed, the far-right Sinhalese Buddhist nationalists are not appropriately reflected in the sample, partly because their concentration in Berlin is comparatively less than in other cities and countries, for example, Italy.

Finally, the sample remains a reflection of the different political circumstances: For example, in the first round of interviews, all interview partners agreed to speak out on all thematic blocks but this has gradually changed with the political context and, in the second round of interviews, i.e., during the full-out war situation, many of the interviewees restricted themselves due to fear of repercussions and personal feelings of insecurity. The application of semi-structured interviews (Miller, 1991) allowed the interviewees, to a large extent, a certain freedom to reply according to their understanding of the situation and their individual feeling of security in order to ensure a protective environment.

Table 1 below provides disaggregated data based on sex, ethnic group and generation. These three elements have been used to analyse the perceptions and experiences of the interviewees. They intersect with other social locations, such as gender, class, caste and religion.

Table 1: Interviewees by ethnicity, generation and gender

	1 st generation		on 2 nd generation		Total
No. 30	Sinhalese	Tamils	Sinhalese	Tamils	i Olai
Men	5	12	1	2	20
Women	2	3	1	4	10
	7	15	2	6	30

All interviews were conducted in either English or German, hence no interpreter was needed. None of the interviewees wanted to conduct the interview in their own mother tongue, Sinhala or Tamil. On two occasions, friends of the interviewees helped in translating particular thoughts if the German or English equivalent words could not be found to express themselves. The language capabilities of the interviewees, however, indicated to some extent their level of integration into German society and their social status or affiliation to specific strata of society, although this was not a common rule.

Language, in general, is an important feature of qualitative research because it permits the interviewees to convey their thoughts and feelings, and to identify meanings in their social realities (Liamputtong, 2010). The Sri Lankan society, however, also relies heavily on paralinguistic expressions, such as smiling, different ways of head movement, facial expressions, hand movements, voice and tonal expressions, and general body language. Often, hesitations and disagreements are expressed paralinguistically rather than verbally. Silence is an important feature of the Sri Lankan style of communication. The first generation particularly relies on these paralinguistic expressions, whereas the second generation is more adapted to the German 'directness' of verbal expressions.

Besides these interviews, key informants in Sri Lanka and in the diaspora from different research institutes, human rights and women's organizations were interviewed. Owing to the political context, key informants found their space for progressive politics after the war had resumed only outside their own country, and Geneva has become a hub for informal interactions between the different groups. These regular personal contacts proved useful for the research in order to receive a sense of the changing role of the diaspora as perceived by human rights activists living in Sri Lanka itself. I also met other key informants in London, Berlin and Stuttgart.

In addition, I attended different diaspora conferences in Germany that took place in October each year between 2006 and 2011, and in April between 2007 and 2009. I also participated in the activities of the International Network of Sri

Lankan Diaspora (INSD) and in the founding event of Journalists for Democracy in Sri Lanka (JDS), as well as in Geneva-based human rights activities on Sri Lanka (Human Rights Council sessions held between 2007 and 2012 in Geneva and NGO talks between diaspora LTTE and Sri Lankan-based activists in September 2007).

The perspectives of the key informants and these informal discussions with different diaspora groups on different occasions in Geneva and elsewhere, as well as my notes on observations made during these interviews and at these conferences, complemented the interviews conducted in Berlin. These additional data allowed me to cross-check some of the interview findings and it provided additional insights into the dynamics of diaspora politics.

I was in Sri Lanka for a period of eight months immediately after the tsunami in 2005. Unfortunately, due to the deteriorating political situation, one research visit to Sri Lanka planned for December 2008 had to be cancelled and my involvement in human rights activities in Geneva after the end of the war was not conducive to a further return to Sri Lanka. On a positive note though, these developments also provided me with the privilege of learning more about the context and to gain credibility within the Sri Lankan communities in the diaspora.

Secondary data collection was carried out in research institutes and libraries in Europe, especially in the UK (British Library, University of East London, School of Oriental and African Studies – all in London), in Switzerland (Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies, Geneva), in the Netherlands (Institute of Social Studies, The Hague) and in Germany (Humboldt Universität, Berlin). This gathering of information allowed me to obtain statistical information, historical data, but also relevant case studies of other countries, which contributed to enriching my understanding of the Sri Lankan context. In addition, the internet, with its many websites, e-journals, online newspapers, and e-books, provided useful information relevant to the topic of research. Facebook and other social media were a further source of information. Visual materials, mainly video clips of

diaspora activities and photographs, were either found on the internet or were provided by the interviewees and key informants.

In order to *analyse the data* obtained, all interviews were transcribed literally in the language of the interview, i.e., either in English or German, in order to keep the different nuances of the stories told. Paralinguistic aspects of the interview were mentioned in the transcript, too. This was a time-consuming process but it displayed also the richness and wealth of the available data. These transcripts, together with other materials, were then uploaded into a software program for qualitative research (atlas.ti).

Atlas.ti is a 'code-and-retrieve' software (Lee et al., 2004) and it was chosen because it is not only a software of considerable sophistication for qualitative analysis, allowing also visual materials to be used as data (Silverman, 2013), but also because it is run bilingually in English and German, helping me to handle the programme itself.

All uploaded information was then indexed through a list of 28 codes reflecting aspects of the conceptual framework of my research, and memos were integrated into the software as appropriate. One criticism of the use of such software is that text segments are disassociated from their original context and, thus, the interpretation of data can be distorted and the understanding of human action compromised (Lee et al., 2004). I responded to this concern by assigning large parts of the text to one code, including the interview questions, the paralinguistic aspects of the interview and other notes. This resulted in the retrieval of text segments, which were often much longer than necessary, but which captured important information for the interpretation of data. The coding and indexing of data, therefore, facilitated the management of the information and helped the write-up of the empirical data.

To address the concerns of confidentiality, all names of the interviewees were changed and new names allocated to them. The quotes reflect the voice of the interviewees displaying their ethnicity, sex and generation, but their name was newly assigned by me.

Some ethical considerations

Qualitative research implicating human beings needs particular care in order to ensure that no harm is done to the interviewee (Lee-Treweek et al., 2002). The principle of *primum non nocere* ('first do no harm') has to be kept in mind at all steps in the research process (Liamputtong, 2010; Busch-Rossnagel, 2006).

In general terms, in order to protect the interviewee and respect their feelings, I presented, at the beginning of each interview, an oral statement that included the following elements: purpose of the research, a guarantee of confidentiality, and the right to interrupt the interview at any moment. This allowed the interviewee to give their informed consent to the research or to opt out. None of the interviewees opted out. However, on some occasions, interviewees did not want to respond to one or other of the questions asked during the interview in order not to reveal their political orientation. This was accepted on my side, even if this may have meant that I could not coherently collect all data from all interviewees. Owing to the sensitivity of the situation, I did not ask for written consent for the interview but, instead, a recording is available from all interviews, which is still being stored.

In order to ensure a 'safe' environment, some other precautions have been taken to avoid any possible risk or danger: I have conducted interviews among a sample of persons with very different personal and migration histories. Sometimes, remembering life back in Sri Lanka may set free different kinds of emotions and complexities. I have tried to absorb this through my empathy and attentiveness towards the interviewee. I did not encounter any problems in my interviews but I respected the choice of the interviewee not to reply to questions or to change the topic. Through the semi-structured and flexible format of the research method, I could also react to such deviations.

Power relations always matter, including in the interview situation. Throughout the interviews, I have been aware of my own standpoint as an outsider to the situation but also as a person who may be perceived as an 'intruder' into the personal life of interviewees speaking either the host country's language or the former colonizer's language. I could only try to have a critical consciousness about these unequal power relations. Due to my close links to the diaspora communities, but also due to my knowledge on Sri Lanka, I was often perceived as a 'friend' or an insider rather than as a researcher, which allowed me to build trust. Despite this perception and treatment, I remain conscious of my role and position.

The conditions under which the interview took place influenced the quality of the research. Indeed, the interview setting merits careful attention to ensure that the interviewees feel 'safe'. I usually let the interviewee define the meeting point, assuming that their choice will also be one in which they feel emotionally safe.

Finally, political research also implies the danger of instrumentalization. I have been well aware that the interviews were conducted at a critical time – just after the EU put the LTTE on the list of terrorist organizations – and interviewees did not know yet what impact that might have. As a result, they were very careful in replying to my questions. I tried to sense their reluctance in the interview and react accordingly. In addition, I assured full confidentiality and that data would not be used other than for the purpose of this research.

Scope and limitations of this research

This research focuses on the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin. In using this terminology, I refer however only to Sinhalese and Tamils in the diaspora. Both groups are very heterogeneous in themselves, which brings in new dimensions of complexity to the analysis of data. I have tried to absorb that specificity in so far as it was relevant to the analysis. Batticaloa Tamils and Plantation Tamils were not the subject of this research, nor were Moors.

The sample size has been relatively small considering that the axis of analysis has been ethnicity, gender and generation. At times, other dimensions, such as

class, caste or religion, were included when deemed appropriate. Further analytical grids could be applied to the data and the person, even though they may or may not contribute to more insights. Despite the small sample, the objective of the research – to analyse the political activism of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Germany – can be met. The sample provides insights into the complexity and the heterogeneity of the Sinhala and Tamil communities among themselves, and it allows similarities and differences between them to be highlighted. Yet, this remains a limitation of this research.

The interviews were conducted between 2006 and 2008: hence, this research today provides a historical perspective on the dynamics of the diaspora communities at the time. The Sri Lankan context is politically challenging and rapidly changing. Hence, changes occurred during the research period and dramatically after it. Changing political contexts were recognized both in Germany and Sri Lanka in so far as they were relevant for the thematic focus of this research. Therefore, the research only provides a particular insight into a specific moment of time.

My position as an outsider posed many restrictions in terms of my understanding of the complexities of the situation and the 'untold' stories. An attempt was made to still comprehend and include these dimensions in the analysis but this may not have been successful throughout. In addition, my lack of knowledge of Tamil and Sinhalese imposed certain restrictions in terms of access to information – written, orally and through the internet. At times, I had to rely on translations by others in order to understand a text in the original language. Translations are, however, always prone to a 'margin of error'. As the interviews were conducted in German and English, this margin is likely to have been small. However, it also limited some interview partners in expressing themselves eloquently as they had to speak in their second or third foreign language.

Finally, in no way do I want to claim that I speak on behalf of the Tamil and Sinhalese diaspora communities, or on behalf of women in the diaspora, but I want to thank all my interviewees and I hope I can speak 'next to them'.

CHAPTER 3: THE ETHNIC CONFLICT IN SRI LANKA AND ITS MIGRATION FLOWS

Sri Lanka's post-independence history on migration is closely linked to its history of ethnicity-based discrimination and, since the early 1980s, to war and conflict. Sri Lanka is a multi-ethnic, multilingual and multi-religious country. The social, economic and political tensions between the three major ethnic groups -Sinhalese, Tamils and Moors² – have shaped the Sri Lanka of today. They all settled in Sri Lanka through migration processes. This chapter provides an overview of the history of Sri Lanka from 1948 to 2009. It elaborates, in particular, the emergence and development of the ethnic conflict and its related migration flows. Out-migration from Sri Lanka for economic reasons also occurs. However, it is not the main focus of this chapter as it only concerns a relatively small population. The conflict, in contrast, has had a wide-ranging economic, political, cultural and social impact on the population with its diverse composition. This historical contextualization deliberately ends with 2009, as this marks the 'end of the war', though not the end of the conflict. Nevertheless, the dynamics have changed dramatically after that date and, thus, need to be treated separately.

The historical legend of the *Mahawamsa* (Geiger, 1912) traces the origin of the Sinhalese back to the Indian Prince Vijaya Singha, who, in the 5th century BC, landed in *Tambaparni* – today's Sri Lanka. The legend still plays an important role in Sri Lankan politics as it is perceived and treated as a historical fact (Roberts, 2005). Sinhalese are considered as Indo-Aryan migrants from north India as descendants of Prince Vijaya (de Silva, 2005), even if approximately 40% originally migrated from south India (Hoole et al., 1990). The Tamils migrated from south India, according to Tamil scholars, in the 3rd century BC

² 'Moor' is a term introduced in the early 20th century to name an ethnic group that are today narrowed down to a religious identity (Muslim) only. In contemporary usage, Moors are called Muslims and have lost their ethnic identity. I will use the terms Moors and Muslims interchangeably; both should refer to an ethnic group including, inter alia, a religious identity.

(Mahadevan, 2002) and, according to mainstream Sinhalese scholars, only after the 7th century AD (de Silva, 2005). The question of whether the Sinhalese or Tamils were the first to settle in the country is still part of a controversy in the political landscape of Sri Lanka today. Finally, the Moors, the third largest ethnic community, settled as traders in the 8th century AD from west Asia in Sri Lanka (Abeyasinghe, 1966), and a second wave of Muslim settlers arrived in the 13th century AD from south India (Dewaraja, 1994). Muslim traders, however, cultivated a close relationship with the Sinhalese kings and their settlements became more widespread, with some locations of higher concentration (David, 2009b). Moors lived quite peacefully among the Sinhalese until the early 20th century (Perera, 1998).

This shows that all three major ethnic groups in Sri Lanka were originally migrants and none of them can be seen as homogenous among themselves. Rather, they are characterized by a number of sociocultural and economic segmentations. However, despite the differences within one ethnic group, distinct ethnic identities were formed, which, in relation to other socio-political factors, gradually led to the conflict and different waves of out-migration.

Other minority groups are Burghers³, Malays and Veddhas⁴, who did not play a dominant role in the ethnic-based nationalist conflict and, therefore, will not further be elaborated here.

Post-independence Sri Lanka and its migration flows

Sri Lanka received its independence from Britain on 4 February 1948 (Gunawardena, 2005). The first government was mainly formed by the Sinhalese elite with a few Tamils in the cabinet, all being loyal to the former British colonizers (Kearney, 1964). The 'divide and rule' policy of the British had resulted in the first incidents of an ethnic character already back in 1833

_

³ 'Burgher' is a term derived from the Dutch word 'burger' and means citizen. They are considered a separate ethnic group, being descendants of the Dutch. Many of them left the country in the late 1950s. One of the well-known Burghers is the writer Michael Ondaatje.

⁴ Veddhas are considered the indigenous population (aboriginals) of Sri Lanka.

through localized anti-Christian riots organized by Buddhist monks (Balakrishnan et al., 1981), and in 1915 through a Sinhala Buddhist-led assault on Muslims (Seneviratne, 2004). This latter was based on trading rivalries between Muslim and Sinhalese (Jayawardena, 1970) and took place in the whole of southern Sri Lanka⁵ (Nuhman, 2004). It also marked the rise of a militant Buddhist Sinhala ideology based on the 'superior chosen people', propagated by Anagarika Dharmapala (Weiss, 2011; Grant, 2009; Seneviratne, 2004).

In 1931, universal franchise empowered the Sinhala Buddhist majority, further allowing them to enter into a nationalist discourse and, in 1935, the Board of Ministers under the Donoughmore Constitution became all Sinhalese, which, in addition, aggravated ethnic feeling among Tamils (de Silva, 2005).

Ethnic tensions were then reinforced by the newly independent government as it continued the British 'divide and rule' policy and deprived the Plantation Tamils⁶ of their citizenship and voting rights within a year of independence⁷ (Schrijvers, 1999; Rotberg, 1999; Wilson, 2001). As a result, the Plantation Tamils dramatically lost seats in parliament at the elections in 1952 (Vije, 1987; Wilson, 1975) and, in the following two decades, nearly 60% of the Plantation Tamil population was repatriated to India or became citizens of Sri Lanka (Rajasingham-Senanayake, 2001; Wilson, 1975). In 1964 and 1974, bilateral agreements were signed between India and Sri Lanka, which allowed a total of 600,000 Plantation Tamils to be repatriated to India and 375,000 to apply for Sri

.

stateless. (See also Rajasingham-Senanayake, 2001.)

⁵ Najimudeen (in Nuhman 2004: 1) quotes a statement by Governor Robert Chalmers reporting, in November 1915, that 25 Muslims were killed, 189 wounded, 4 women were raped, 4,075 shops were looted, 350 shops were burnt to the ground and 103 mosques were destroyed or damaged.

⁶ Plantation Tamils are a Tamil-speaking population group, originally brought to Sri Lanka to work in the tea plantations in the upcountry of Sri Lanka. Therefore, they are also often referred to as 'Upcountry Tamils'. Although ethnically Tamils, they have a different migration history from Jaffna Tamils. In Sri Lanka, a differentiation is often made between Plantation Tamils, Jaffna Tamils and Batticaloa Tamils.

⁷ Note that the Plantation Tamils had received voting rights in 1931 during British colonialism through the Donoughmore Constitutional reform. With independence, the new government introduced amendments of the Ceylon Citizenship Act (1948), the Immigrant Act (1948), the Parliamentary Elections (Amendment) Act (1949), as well as the Indian and Pakistani Residents (Citizenship) Act (1949) leading to the disenfranchising of Plantation Tamils. In particular, the Parliamentary Elections (Amendment) Act required three or more generations of paternal ancestry in Sri Lanka and made 975,000 Plantation Tamils

Lankan citizenship.⁸ (de Silva, 2005; UNHCR, 2001). These measures reinforced ethnic politics and Plantation Tamils are still considered as the most impoverished community in Sri Lanka.

With independence, the *Indian and Pakistani Residents* (*Citizenship*) *Act* and the *Immigration and Emigration Act* entered into force, both to some extent regulating migration flows. The *Indian and Pakistani Residents* (*Citizenship*) *Act* (1949) gave Indians and Pakistanis who had resided for a certain period of time in Sri Lanka the right to Sri Lankan citizenship. Some 134,300 people received their citizenship based on this act (Department of Immigration and Emigration, 2009). The *Immigration and Emigration Act No. 20* (1948), in contrast, regulated immigration to and emigration from Sri Lanka, specifying, among other things, in which circumstances people were allowed to leave the country (Wouters, July 2006). It also controlled the entry of non-Sri Lankans, regulated their exit and removal from Sri Lanka (Department of Immigration and Emigration, 2009) and concerned mainly unskilled labourers working in agriculture, which effectively meant the Plantation Tamils.

Sri Lanka's migration history is characterized by a constant mix of internal displacement and out-migration to other countries. Resettlement policies, however, have always played an important role in conflict creation. Already, the British had started to establish Sinhalese resettlements in the predominantly Tamil-populated North and East⁹. These policies were continued on a large scale only after independence, mainly to the Gal Oya valley in the East, where a large irrigation project was planned that provoked major ethnic tensions as it created 120,000 acres of irrigated land for Sinhalese in the East within a period of four years (Fuglerud, 2003; Thangarajah, 2003). The establishment of such Sinhalese agricultural settlements through so-called colonization schemes was originally a socio-political strategy by the government and changed the

⁸ The Sirima–Shastri Pact (Indo-Ceylon Agreement) of 1964 ruled that 525,000 Plantation Tamils could be repatriated to India and that 300,000 could become citizens of Sri Lanka. The fate of the remaining 150,000 Plantation Tamils would be decided later and, only in 1974 with the Sirimavo–Indira Gandhi Pact, they were to be absorbed in equal parts in both countries (de Silva, 2005). Effectively, only 506,000 out of the 600,000 Plantation Tamils applied for Indian citizenship (UNHCR, 2001).

⁹ Already, in 1944, the Tamil Congress complained to the Soulboury Commission about the Sinhalese settlements in the predominantly Tamil-populated areas in the Eastern Province (Wickramsinghe 2006).

demographic structure in the East dramatically (Moore, 2007; Muggah, 2008). During the three decades of the war, these state-sponsored Sinhalese settlements in the North and East transformed into a political-military strategy (Muggah, 2008). They were used to unleash violence against Tamils (Hoole et al., 1990) and to make Tamils a minority in their considered 'homeland', resulting in the construction of ethnic identities using land as a means (Thangarajah, 2003). Even after the war period, in 2009, such strategies are used by the government to destabilize the region.

In contrast, the Tamil and Muslim population in the North and East increased naturally until the late 1970s. This also meant that the population could migrate without much hindrance within the country. However, once the anti-Tamil riots started in 1977, the Sinhalese government started to send thousands of Tamils from the South to the North and East under the pretext of safety concerns. This was the beginning of the forced internal displacement of the Tamils by the government, contributing to the armed struggle and out-migration (Manorajan, 1995). One person interviewed described his family's experience:

"Two of my uncles lived in the South, running small businesses but, during the 1983 riots, both of them were sent to camps in Colombo before they brought them in buses to Vavuniya and released them there. They then lived with relatives there and, once the area in which they lived was militarized by the government, they left for India." (Krishna, Tamil, male, first generation)

This experience was quite common for the Tamils in the South, who were gathered together and were brought in buses or ships either to Vavuniya or to Jaffna respectively. Large-scale out-migration of Tamils started only at this point.

Language as identity marker and the first anti-Tamil riots

However, the first significant out-migration of Sri Lanka occurred among the English-speaking, Colombo-based Burgher community. With independence, the first Sri Lankan government shifted Sri Lanka's working language from English to Sinhala and, in the 1950s, Sinhala communalism and anti-Christian attitudes increased, resulting in the migration of Burghers – mainly to Australia and other English-speaking Commonwealth countries (Colin-Thorny et al., 2005). This tendency was reinforced when the Official Language Act ("Sinhala Only") was adopted in 1956 (Ramerini, n.a.) by the S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike regime: Sinhala was then introduced as a sole language, resulting in further outmigration by Burghers, whose mother tongue had been English for more than 150 years (Colin-Thorny et al., 2005). The 'Sinhala Only' Language Act, however, impacted on all minorities and became a turning point in the history of ethnic disharmony and conflict, as it abolished both English and Tamil as official languages. Consequently, it provoked peaceful protests among the Tamil population, and Tamil nationalism started to emerge as a counter-reaction to the beginning of Sinhala Buddhist nationalism (Wilson, 1994). However, it did not yet trigger a larger Tamil-based population movement, but formed the basis for the Tamil struggle in later years (Weiss, 2011; David, 2009b).

The *Bandaranaike–Chelvanayakam Pact* of 1957 had recognized the need to give rights to the Tamil population. In its original version, it had a provision for the "reasonable use of the Tamil language" (Wilson, 1994: 8). However, Sinhala Buddhist nationalists protested against this clause and the prime minister then abandoned its inclusion. At the same time, Tamil political leaders and their supporters demonstrated against this at the site of the parliament and were physically assaulted (Wilson, 1994). Anti-Tamil riots spread within Colombo and 150 people died on this occasion (Wickramasinghe, 2006). Even though S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike, who later became Prime Minister, was one of the first to advocate a federal political organization in Sri Lanka, even as early as 1927,

he never included minorities in his political campaigns¹⁰ (Hennayake, 2006; Wilson, 1994; de Silva, 2005). After the ratification of the 'Sinhala Only' Act, he nevertheless negotiated and signed a power-sharing plan with the Tamil Nationalist Federal Party, known as the *Bandaranaike–Chelvanayakam Pact* of 1957. This pact recognized Tamil as an administrative language in the North and East, in addition to a minimal devolution set-up (Wilson, 1994). As an official language, however, Tamil was only reintroduced 20 years later (Government of Sri Lanka, 1978).

The opposition United National Party (UNP) organized a mass campaign against the *Bandaranaike–Chelvanayakam Pact*, arguing that it would divide the country. This was the beginning of the opposition political parties contesting any proposal to devolve power to the Tamil-dominated North and East by the ruling party. Indeed, both major political parties in the country, the Sri Lankan Freedom Party (SLFP) and the United National Party (UNP) behaved in this same way and made alliances with the Sinhala Buddhist nationalist forces to oppose any potential political settlement negotiated by the ruling party. This led Loganathan (1996) to call Sri Lanka a country with a history of "Lost Opportunities".

In view of this, not only the opposition party but also sections of the Sinhala Buddhists demanded that the pact be annulled and, before it was fully abrogated, the so-called 1958 riots broke out. The trigger was when the Transport Ministry at the time sent state-owned buses to the North and East with number plates bearing the letters '*Sri*' in the Sinhala language before the numerical digits. This provoked protests by Tamils in a context of already existing tension, and they overwrote the Sinhala letters with tar (Wickramasinghe, 2006). As a result, the number plates were removed, provoking, in turn, a mass sit-down protest staged by Sinhala Buddhist monks in Colombo in May 1958. The Buddhist monks demanded the abrogation of the *Bandaranaike—Chelvanayakam Pact* in front of the prime minister's private

¹⁰ S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike used, in his 1956 election campaign, the slogan "Sangha, Weda, Guru, Govi and Kamkaru" (Buddhist monks, indigenous physicians, teachers, farmers, and workers) to mobilize people. This did provide a platform for Buddhist monks, but left out Tamils and other minorities of the country (Hennayake, 2006: 64).

residence (Wilson, 1994). These protests happened shortly before the Tamil-led Federal Party (FP), the opposition party, was due to hold its convention in the North provincial town of Vavuniya on 22 and 23 May 1958. Rumours spread that this convention was to be the preparation for an invasion by Tamils of the sacred cities of the Buddhists in the neighbouring districts. Consequently, these rumours triggered widespread mob violence against Tamils in three waves: from 22 to 25 May 1958, riots were limited to adjoining districts; from 25 to 29 May 1958, Tamils in Sinhala-dominated areas were attacked (Wickramasinghe, 2006); and on 27 May 1958 a state of emergency was declared and Tamil political leaders were placed under house arrest. As a result of these events, 12,000 people were displaced within the country and some Tamils started to leave the country (Tambiah, 1991). The state of emergency was eventually lifted in March 1959.

One Tamil interviewee left Sri Lanka at that time and explained:

"I left Sri Lanka back in 1963. I fell victim to the 1958 riots. All my friends were Sinhalese; but they were not Sinhalese friends, they were friends who happened to be Sinhalese. In May 1958, I was at the village of a friend who had failed his exams to help him resit them, and then the 1958 riots broke out. I was shocked. There was pain about these events but, more than that, there was shock because I have always seen myself as a Sinhalese and my Sinhalese was fluent without an accent. Then, suddenly, I was very rudely reminded that I was Tamil. So, I just finished my studies, graduated with honours in 1961, and as soon as I collected enough money I left the country. I was just going away without any plans or ambitions." (Pillay, Tamil, male, first generation)

The humiliation that Tamils faced during the 1958 riots was also reproduced by journalist Varindra Tarzie Vittachi:

"In Colombo, on that occasion, the police looked on or looked the other way when Tamils were beaten up on the street hardly a hundred yards away from the Houses of Parliament. They did not move a finger when

hoodlums stripped the Federalist politician and chased him all the way across the Galle Face Green to the hotel. Police explained that they had been ordered not to interfere." (Vittachi, 1958: 104)

During this period of time, language became an important marker of identity and remained so for the years to come. Indeed, the 1958 riots had far-reaching consequences:

The Bandaranaike—Chelvanayakam Pact failed. In its place, the leading Sri Lankan Freedom Party (SLFP) introduced, in August 1958, the Tamil Language Act, which allowed for the 'reasonable' use of the Tamil language. (Wilson, 1988). This was an identical provision that was part of the original proposal of the Official Language Act in 1956 and of the Bandaranaike—Chelvanayakam Pact in 1957. However, the prime minister, S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike, was assassinated by a Buddhist monk in September 1959 for not keeping his promises towards the Buddhists and Sinhalese (Hewitt, 1997). After his death, the ruling coalition failed and parliament was dissolved. S.W.R.D. Bandaranaike's widow took over the party leadership and reopened, once again, negotiations with the Tamil nationalist Federal Party under its leader S.V.J. Chelvanayakam (Wilson, 1994) in order to secure a parliamentary majority. At the time, she agreed to implement some provisions of the Bandaranaike-Chelvanayakam Pact.

The new SLFP government was elected in July 1960, then headed by Sirimavo Bandaranaike. Once in power, she then declared that she would implement the 'Sinhala Only' policies in a more rigid way (Ross et al., 1988a) and bypassed the Tamil Language Act of 1958 (Pinto-Jayawardena, 2010). Contrary to her political party's undertakings to address Tamil grievances articulated by the Federal Party, the government, under her leadership, enacted a number of discriminatory policies against the Tamil minority, among others the introduction of Sinhala as the parliamentary language in 1960 and as the language of the courts in 1961 (de Silva, 2005).

Under these circumstances, ethnic tensions not only did not cease, but also satyagraha¹¹, peaceful protests for justice and equality, were called on a regular basis in the North and East. Tens of thousands of Tamils followed these satyagraha campaigns led by the Tamil political leadership (Sashi Sri Kantha, 2011; Ponniah, 2011). The government, however, reacted by declaring in the North and East a state of emergency under the Public Security Ordinance (PSO) of 1947¹². The state of emergency remained in force until the beginning of 1962 (Pinto-Jayawardena, 2010).

Probably because the Tamil nationalist movement was still able to campaign peacefully, migration flows were kept to a limit. Nevertheless, language politics have played an important part in the emerging conflict and in identity politics until today.

In view of the aggravating economic situation, the left political parties joined together in 1963 to launch mass protests, including a general strike. Consequently, Prime Minister Sirimavo Bandaranaike negotiated with the leaders of the left to enter the government and a coalition government with the Lanka Sama Samaja Party (LSSP)¹³ was formed in 1964. Before the coalition lost its majority in parliament, the Sirimavo Bandaranaike government prepared a blueprint for devolution based on districts. As with the *Bandaranaike—Chelvanayakam Pact*, the *District Council Bill* was abandoned due to opposition from Sinhala Buddhist monks (Wilson, 1994). The coalition lost the elections in March 1965 to the UNP led by Dudley Senanayake and, for the first time, the Federal Party, a political party representing the Tamils, joined the government and became a part of the UNP-led coalition government (Ponnambalam, 1983).

This happened on the basis of pre-election political negotiations, when the UNP invited the Federal Party to join their campaign on the basis of a power-sharing

¹² The Public Security Ordinance (PSO) of 1947 was enacted by the State Council and was aimed at suppressing working class agitation for better working conditions (Pinto-Jayawardena, 2010). The PSO played an important role in suppressing not only peoples' campaigns for social justice, but also the Tamil nationalist movement.

¹¹ The term was coined by Mahatma Gandhi to name the movement he founded at the time.

¹³ The LSSP was the oldest Marxist party of Sri Lanka and followed the Trotskyite stream. Throughout the years, the LSSP was split along ideological lines into different leftist parties.

agreement, which later came to be known as the *Dudley–Chelvanayakam Pact*. Unlike the earlier *Bandaranaike–Chelvanayakam Pact*, this pact had provisions for language and land rights for the Tamils (Wilson, 1994; Samaranayake, 2008). The opposition started campaigning against the *Dudley–Chelvanayakam Pact*, resulting in police shooting at protestors and the death of a Buddhist monk on 8 January 1966. In 1968, all efforts to enact the *District Council Bill* had to be abandoned due to internal and external political opposition (Samaranayake, 2008). The UNP-led government was only able to pass the *Indo-Ceylon Immigration Act*, allowing any Plantation Tamil to apply for Sri Lankan citizenship, and abolishing, at the same time, the *Sirima–Shastri Act* of 1963 (Wilson, 1994).

The rise of the Sinhalese and Tamil youth movements

Nevertheless, the UNP government, which came into power in 1965, could not resolve the pressing economic, social and political problems in the country, which brought the SLFP – in coalition with the LSSP and the Communist Party (CP) as the 'United Front' government – back to power in 1970. At the time, the unemployment rate was around 14%, while 83% of the unemployed total was in the 18–24 age group, with around 65% of people living in poverty (Colin Cooke, 2011). This provided the context in which the *Janatha Vimukthi Peramuna* (JVP, People's Liberation Front) emerged as a Sinhalese militant youth movement with a socialist ideology (Uyangoda, 2003a).

The United Front government could not halt the economic crisis but, instead, disillusioned the newly formed Sinhala leftist rural youth movement. Therefore, in April 1971, the JVP launched its first insurrection against the United Front government with the aim of capturing state power and establishing a socialist country based on Marxist-Leninist doctrine. The insurrection failed, between 10,000 and 20,000 people were killed and more than 20,000 young people were detained (Uyangoda, 2003a).

Despite its scope, the situation did not result in large-scale migration, probably because its membership came from the Sinhala Buddhist lower middle classes (Samaranayake, 2008), who did not encounter ethnic discrimination in the country and whose political discourse was based on the protection and development of the motherland (Fernando, 1981). The JVP mind-set, therefore, was not geared towards out-migration and, hence, only a very limited number of young people left the country right after the insurrection or their release from detention. Nevertheless, one Sinhalese interviewee recalled:

"I was one of the leading figures in the JVP in 1971 and then I was seven years in prison. When I was released, I continued to be politically active for the JVP and I went to Jaffna with them, also to be with the Tamil minority. But due to the later developments within the JVP and in the North, the situation became dangerous for me, I had to be in the underground, and I was searched for in the country. So, I then left for Germany in 1980 and, still today, I cannot go back to Sri Lanka."

(Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Since the 1970s, under the rule of Sirimavo Bandaranaike, the rights of the Tamil minority were continuously eroded, while access to education became politicized and ethnicized. The Tamil community valued education highly and, thanks to funding by missionaries, the northern provinces had relatively good English language facilities, as well as pre-university education (David, 2009b). This allowed the Tamils to find better employment opportunities in the English-speaking administration during colonial times. However, in order to restrict Tamils in the bureaucratic structures, a 'standardization policy' was introduced in 1972 that regulated university admission proportionately to the number of students sitting for the entry exams (Wickramasinghe, 2006). This effectively meant that Tamils had to achieve higher scores in order to enter the universities and it increased Sinhalese representation in universities dramatically (World Bank, 2003). Through these policies, education became a political tool and fostered further tensions.

Shortly after the introduction of this policy, in 1972, the '*New Republican Constitution*' was adopted which, among other things, accepted Buddhism as the state religion; recognized Sinhala as the official language by constitution, replaced the country's name from 'Ceylon' to 'Sri Lanka', and formally established Sri Lanka as a unitary country (David, 2009b). In addition, the 1972 constitution discarded section 29 of the Soulboury Constitution of 1947, which provided protection for minorities (Weiss, 2011). Political scientist Jayadeva Uyangoda argued that "[t]he 1972 Constitution brought the public service as well as the judiciary within the sphere of control of the legislature and the cabinet, and merely listed 'fundamental rights' in the Constitution making them explicitly unjusticiable. In retrospect, all these were negative innovations." (Uyangoda, 2003b: 8)

Indeed, the constitutional changes in 1972 were once again geared towards strengthening the majoritarian Sinhala community, neglecting the rights and culture of the other minority groups in the country, and towards treating the Tamils as second-class citizens (Weiss, 2011). Even though these policies of the 1970s did not urge Tamil youth to leave the country, they were discriminatory in essence and provided the basis for the radicalized Tamil student movement to emerge and to consider separation as a solution among the Tamil youth (de Silva, 2005).

In 1976, shortly before the first national convention of the Tamil United Liberation Front (TULF) ¹⁴ was held in Jaffna, demanding the establishment of a sovereign Tamil Eelam state (Wilson, 2001), and the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE)¹⁵ under the leadership of Vellupillai Prabhakaran were formed, ethnic tension between Sinhalese and Tamils increased and, in the 1977 general elections, the Tamil United Liberation Front (TULF) won all 18 parliamentary seats in the North (Sultana, 2010). This victory was considered as an approval of TULF's separatist ambitions (de Silva, 2005; Wilson, 2001)

¹⁴ On this occasion, the Tamil United Liberation Front (TULF) adopted the Vaddukkoddei Resolution, which called for self-determination and independent sovereign statehood and, therefore, wanted to safeguard the existence of the Tamil nation (Wilson, 2001).

¹⁵ The Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) were previously called the Tamil New Tigers (TNT) and were renamed and reorganized in 1976.

and provided the political space for militant youth to replace parliamentarianism by the gun (Wilson, 2001; de Silva, 2005).

Anti-Tamil riots and the emergence of the LTTE

At the general election, however, the UNP under J.R. Jayawardena came to power through its promises to remedy the grievances of the Tamils in fields such as education, colonization, the use of the Tamil language, and employment in the public sector and in semi-public services (Ponnambalam, 1983). The UNP formed the government and J.R. Jayawardena changed the constitution, introducing the executive presidency. The UNP government then negotiated with TULF yet another power-sharing plan, considering the establishment of district development councils (DDCs) (Wilson, 2001). During the subsequent district development council election campaign in 1981, Tamil militants shot dead two policemen in Jaffna, which provoked anti-Tamil riots that lasted one month and resulted in at least 100 deaths, 25,000 displaced persons and hundreds of shops burnt. In addition, the public library in Jaffna, the second largest library on the island with over 90,000 volumes, was burnt to ashes. Even though the DDC elections were held and TULF won all six DDCs in the North, no real power was given to them and, therefore, they lost their importance (Ponnambalam, 1983). At the same time, TULF lost its strength as an opposition party and became marginalized within parliament.

With the anti-Tamil riots of 1977 and 1981, coupled with the increasing militancy of Tamil youth, the cycle of violence spiralled in Sri Lanka and attacks on police stations and public institutions by Tamil militant groups increased. In July 1979, the *Prevention of Terrorism Act* (PTA) was introduced in reaction to the attacks by the Tamil militant groups, notably the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), as a temporary measure, but was turned into a permanent law in 1982 and has since then been in full force¹⁶.

44

¹⁶ During the 2002–2006 ceasefire period, the law was not applied, but, in 2006, the government again fully enacted it.

The conflict was aggravated and, on 23 July 1983, 13 soldiers were ambushed by the LTTE. One day later, on 24 July, riots started against Tamils in Colombo, which then spread island-wide and lasted one week. In total, the death toll among the Tamil community reached at least 387¹⁷, while 116,000 businesses, 18,000 homes and 5,000 shops belonging to Tamils were destroyed (Colin Cooke, 2011). Large numbers of Tamils who had been living in the southern areas of Sri Lanka abandoned their properties and returned to the North and East in the belief they would be safe in those areas (Thangarajah, 2003). More than 100,000 Tamils fled to India due to these events and, as pointed out earlier, this was now the starting point for large-scale out-migration (Wilson, 2001). Fuglerud (1999) mentioned that "[t]he events of 1983 mark the start of the widespread conflict-related flows of Tamils seeking asylum overseas and later through family reunion programmes. It is this third group that has contributed the most numbers to the Tamil diaspora as well as attracted the most attention."

The date 23 July 1983 itself is remembered as 'Black July', being still commemorated among Tamils in the country and in the diaspora today. The *Emergency Regulations* were imposed thereafter.

"Well, we left because of political reasons. My husband was arrested by the army and he was in prison. Within three days, we were able to take him out. He was not really politically involved but, you know, all of us supported the cause. So they thought all Tamils are the supporters of 'that'. So we then just packed, left the place and came within 24 hours." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

Although the armed Tamil militancy could be traced back to the early 1970s, it was only with the 1983 anti-Tamil riots that human and material sources were found and armed training in India started. Tamil youth organized themselves into many different groupings, their differences lying mainly in their political versus military approach, their ideological base and, at times, their caste

-

¹⁷ Figures of deaths vary. The official figure is 387, but estimates go up to 3,000.

composition. By the mid-1980s, more than 30 armed groups existed, but only five were prominent: namely, the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), the Tamil Eelam Liberation Movement (TELO), the People's Liberation Organisation of Tamil Eelam (PLOTE), the Eelam People's Revolutionary Liberation Front (EPRLF) and the Eelam Revolutionary Organisation of Students (EROS).

Over the years, other smaller groups have been absorbed within the structures of the LTTE as they did not allow the existence of other militant representatives alongside them (Ross et al., 1988b). The LTTE not only destroyed the other militant organizations, but also kept 4,000 Tamil prisoners who had dissenting views (UTHR(J), 1992). So, being under threat from the LTTE and the government, many politically active people of some of these militant groups, as well as civil activists, left the country:

"I had been a member of Tamil Eelam Liberation Organisation, TELO, and we were active in Jaffna. TELO was a militant group with some success but, at some point, there was the fall-out with the LTTE. In the mid-80s, TELO cadres got shot and eliminated by the LTTE. In this situation, I left for Colombo to leave for India to receive training in the camps. From there, I left then for Germany. Today, TELO is part of the TNA coalition." (Sivalingam, Tamil, male, first generation)

In the mid-1980s, the first attacks on Sinhalese civilians were carried out by Tamil militants, especially the LTTE. Over the years, the attacks on Sinhalese and Muslim civilians turned into a political-military strategy of the LTTE (Fagerlund, 2011).

The first attempts at peace talks, the 'Thimpu Talks', initiated by the Indian government, were held in June 1985 between the then United National Party (UNP)-led government and various Tamil groups, albeit without success. During this period, India played an open role in mediating the conflict and the *Indo–Sri Lanka Peace Accord*, which provided limited autonomy to Tamil areas, was signed between Rajiv Ghandi and J.R. Jayawardene on 29 July 1987 (Sørbø et al., 2011). Soon after the accord entered into force, an estimated 60,000 to

100,000-strong Indian Peace Keeping Force (IPKF) was dispatched to Sri Lanka's northern and eastern provinces, resulting in a fully fledged armed conflict between the LTTE and the IPKF, which erupted without bringing peace to the country. This triggered new migration streams of Tamils leaving Sri Lanka in the late 1980s. Only in 1990, the IPKF withdrew from Sri Lanka and a ceasefire was negotiated between the UNP government and the LTTE – again without success (Sørbø et al., 2011).

In the same period, the JVP started its second insurgency in 1988 against both the UNP government in the South and the IPKF in the North. Ad hoc work stoppages were imposed on the population in the South, terrorizing opponents and designed to destabilize the state apparatus. In the end, around 40,000 youth were killed and, two years later, in November 1989, the government captured and killed the JVP leader, Wijeweera, and the entire JVP leadership. In addition, an estimated 7,000 JVP members were detained (Uyangoda, 2003a). With the suppression of the JVP, hundreds of Sinhala youth left the country and migrated mainly to Italy, Japan and the United Kingdom. Nevertheless, large-scale out-migration did not occur: even though both JVP insurrections, of 1971 and 1987–1989, created conditions conducive to migration, such as arrests, torture and extrajudicial killings, Sinhala youth did not leave in large numbers. One interviewee in Berlin commented:

"It is probably because the Sinhalese feel ownership of the country that the Sinhalese youth didn't leave the country in waves when they faced political repression in the early 1970s or late 1980s. Leaving the country would not be part of their ideology. So, here, in Berlin, you see only a small number of JVPers. Most migrated for economic reasons. I am one of the few here who left and, in fact, I am the only one of my family outside Sri Lanka – not like my Tamil friends." (Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

The militarization of society in the 1990s

In the 1990s, the militarization of society and conflict-related violence continued on both sides: the LTTE and the government of Sri Lanka. On 22 October 1990, the LTTE ordered between 70,000 and 100,000 Muslims from the Northern Province to leave the North within 24 hours. They were not allowed to take any belongings with them. Some 65,000 of them found temporary shelter in the Muslim-dominated Puttalam districts (Shanmugaratnam, 2001). Even though this can be considered as one of the major displacements in the country, it did not implicate large-scale out-migration. Muslims in Sri Lanka had faced discrimination and communal violence at the hands of LTTE as well as Sinhala nationalist non-state actors throughout the country's post-independence history.

Seventeen years of UNP rule was broken by the victory of the People's Alliance in parliamentary elections in August 1994, and of the SLFP under Chandrika Kumaratunga, daughter of S.W.R.D. and Sirimavo Bandaranaike, in the presidential elections in November 1994. Her election campaign was built on the slogans of 'Democracy, Peace and Prosperity' (Clarance, 2007) and was considered as pro-peace, which, in turn made Tamils vote for her (n.a., 2010). Negotiations between the People's Alliance government and the LTTE had already started in October 1994 and were suspended one month later due the killing of the presidential candidate Gamini Dissanayake and 50 others by female LTTE suicide bombers (Jayaram, 1995). Negotiations resumed in January 1995, with Norway playing an important role as mediator. These negotiations, however, did not succeed due to mistrust and different priorities between the two parties, and the fighting continued (Sørbø et al., 2011).

Despite the hope for change, the war and violence continued. Suicide attacks by the LTTE targeted, among others, the Central Bank building in Colombo (1996), the Tooth temple in Kandy (1998), and the international airport in Katunayake (2001) (Commonwealth Secretariat, 2013). These attacks were usually countered by major military operations by the government. Some attempts at negotiation took place during these years; however, none of them

was ever successful for long (Sørbø et al., 2011). On 18 May 1995, the 'War for Peace' was announced by the Sri Lankan government, resulting in the arming of Sinhalese and Muslims civilians in the East and in border areas in the North, as well as in a number of further military operations in the North. An estimated 900,000 people were internally displaced in 1995 and 1996. Around 55,000 refugees from Sri Lanka lived in the Indian state of Tamil Nadu and another 40,000 throughout the rest of India by the end of 1996 (United States Committee for Refugees and Immigrants, 1997).

The ceasefire agreement and the end of the war

Only in February 2002, the government of Sri Lanka led by Prime Minister Ranil Wickremasinghe signed a permanent ceasefire with the LTTE through the facilitation of Norway. In the following four years, several rounds of peace talks were held, inter alia, in Thailand (September 2002), Berlin (February 2003), Japan (March 2003) and Geneva (October 2006). Each of these rounds focused on different issues, but all of them failed (Sørbø et al., 2011).

In 2004, the United People's Freedom Party (UPFA), a Sinhala-dominated coalition government under the lead of the SLFP, together with JVP and other parties, won the parliamentary elections. In the same year, the tsunami hit the island and more than 35,000 people died and at least 440,000 were displaced. In the following months, the *Post-Tsunami Operational Management Structure (PTOMS) Agreement* was negotiated, giving the LTTE a responsibility to administer the rehabilitation and reconstruction in the North and East, only to be later scrapped by the supreme court (Sørbø et al., 2011).

In the following presidential elections in 2005, Mahinda Rajapakse from the United People's Freedom Alliance (UPFA) won the elections and has since been in power. The LTTE allegedly asked the Tamil population to boycott these elections and much of the current defeat of the LTTE is the result of those elections (Sørbø et al., 2011).

The ceasefire agreement was continuously broken by both sides and, in 2006, the EU, followed by the US and Canada, listed the LTTE as a terrorist organization in their countries (Worldwatch Institute, 2006). This meant that providing funds – directly or indirectly – to the LTTE was prohibited, and a travel ban on LTTE officials was announced. For the Tamil diaspora communities sympathizing with the LTTE – approximately 300,000 people in Europe (International Crisis Group, 2010) – this had a major impact on their political activities.

In the meantime, fierce fighting resumed and violence in Sri Lanka continued to escalate. Within a single week, in March 2007, 40,000 people were displaced and, over a few months, between 120,000 and 150,000 people were on the move (News Stories, 2007). In mid-2007, the Eastern Province was brought under government control for the first time in 13 years and, in January 2008, the government formally declared the end of the 2002 ceasefire agreement (Bajoria, 2009). According to the Defence Ministry, over 2,500 LTTE cadres were killed within the first three months of 2008. Within a year, the government of Sri Lanka took control of the remaining LTTE territories, particularly Killinochhi, the Elephant Pass and Mullaitivu.

On 18 May 2009, the government announced the complete victory against the LTTE and the death of the LTTE leadership, including its leader, Velupillai Prabhakaran, its intelligence chief Pottu Amman and the head of the Tigers' naval wing. With the defeat of the LTTE, many Tigers left the country and, within a relatively short period of time, elections were held in the newly captured territories. In Batticaloa, the *Thamil Makkal Vidudal Puligal (TMVP)*, contesting with the UPFA government, won the elections in March 2008. In Jaffna municipality, the UPFA-led coalition secured a majority in August 2009, although only approximately 20% of the registered electorate cast their vote. In Vavuniya, the *Tamil National Alliance* (TNA), a coalition of Tamil parties close to the LTTE, won the election with a participation of 50% of the registered voters (Fernando, 2011).

In June 2009, the Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka mentioned a total of 391,849 people as internally displaced and living in so-called 'welfare centres'. More than 60,000 people had been displaced due to the creation of high-security zones in the newly captured areas in the North, and LTTE cadres were held in separate camps in the North. The sanitary and living conditions in these 'welfare centres' and camps were much criticized for being inappropriate, yet only few measures have been taken so far to resettle the civilian population (IRIN - humanitarian news and analysis., 2009).

Communication with people living in the camps is restricted and controlled. This practice is a continuation of the heavy attacks by the government of Sri Lanka, restricting media freedom in the country. Several news websites have been blocked in the country, for example *TamilNet*, a Tamil-run multilingual website close to the LTTE hosted in Norway, as well as *LankaNewsWeb*, a Sinhala-run bilingual website hosted in the UK. In addition, between March 2004 and April 2009, 34 journalists were killed and more than 50 journalists have fled abroad during the same period of time. In July 2009, journalists remain the one professional group being targeted since the end of the war, and many still try to leave the country.

CHAPTER 4: FROM GUEST WORKERS TO A 'MULTICULTURAL' SOCIETY IN GERMANY

Germany has a long history of emigration, which dates back to the 17th and 18th centuries. The country was also used by large numbers of eastern Europeans and Russians as a springboard to emigrate to the Americas in the 19th and early 20th centuries. German ports, such as Hamburg and Bremerhaven, had regular shipping services to North and South American ports. Immigration, in contrast, only started to play a role after the Second World War and gained its relevance in the 1960s and 1970s when 'guest-workers' – and, after the mid-80s, also their families – came to Germany. The reasons for migration, however, changed over the decades. In the 1960s and 1970s, 'guest workers' filled the gaps in the labour market, in the 1980s, the majority of the migrants were asylum seekers and, in the 1990s, mainly ethnic Germans from the former Soviet Union and its successor states resettled in the country (Statistisches Bundesamt, 18.12.2012). Most legal reforms concerning immigration took place during this decade.

These different 'waves' of migration were accompanied by changing policies. Sri Lankans entered Germany at different times for different reasons: few economic migrants arrived in the 1960s and 1970s, while Tamils entered mostly as asylum seekers in the 1980s and 1990s as a result of the political situation in Sri Lanka itself. A brief historical overview will highlight the most important policy changes, which enable an understanding and contextualization of both the construction of identities of Sri Lankans in Berlin and their political engagement towards their home country.

Despite its 10.7 million international migrants from 194 countries in 2010, and despite ranking third behind the US and the Russian Federation¹⁸ in world statistics on migration stock, Germany has for long not been considered an

52

¹⁸ Germany has a total migration stock of 9.3% of the total population, the Russian Federation a migration stock of 10.6%, and the USA of 37.1% (based on World Bank 2013 data).

'immigration' country (World Bank, 2013). Only in 1998, the then newly formed government recognized Germany for the first time as an 'immigration country' and, consequently, the policy debate turned into one with a positive flavour (Mehrländer et al., 2001). In 2012, one in eight residents in Germany was foreign born and either themselves, or their (grand)parents, had moved to Germany in the past 60 years (Statistisches Bundesamt, 18.12.2012).

Economic migration into Germany after World War II

The principle of descent, jus sanguinis, 19 has characterized Germany's migration policies since the citizenship laws in 1913. Even though industrial capacity increased during World War II (WW II), production facilities were completely paralysed due to the destroyed transportation routes after the war. With the currency reform in 1948, economic development resumed and could gain a certain momentum. The impact of the Marshall Plan and the availability of human resources allowed the three 'Western Zones'²⁰ to grow dramatically. Migration flows after WW II were mainly characterized by a movement of ethnically German refugees and displaced persons from the 'Eastern Zone' to the 'Western Zones'. They formed about 23.9% of the total population of the then Federal Republic of Germany (FRG) in 1960 and constituted 68% of the total population growth. At the same time, the unemployment rate decreased between 1950 and 1960 from 11% to 1.3% (Herbert, 2001). Indeed, Germany²¹ needed these refugees and displaced persons from the German Democratic Republic (GDR) in order to fill the labour market and enable the 'economic miracle' to happen.

In parallel, the first bilateral *Anwerbeabkommen* ('recruitment agreement') between the government of Konrad Adenauer and the Italian government was

_

¹⁹ Citizenship depended on the nationality of the father, and since 1974 also on the mother.

²⁰ After WW II, Germany was divided into four Allied Zones of occupation. Between 1945 and 1949, the 'Western Zones' referred to areas held by France, the United Kingdom and the United States and these formed, in 1949, the Federal Republic of Germany. The fourth zone, held by the Soviet Union and referred to as the 'Eastern Zone', formed the German Democratic Republic in 1949 until the reunification in 1990.

²¹ In order to facilitate the reading, Germany will be used in this section to refer to either the Federal Republic of Germany or later to the reunified Germany.

signed on 22 December 1955. This agreement allowed the Nürnberg Federal Office for Labour and the Italian labour administration to recruit workers according to the needs of the German economy and specified not only the contractual terms according to the standards of German trade unions, but also the assurance of appropriate accommodation, the possibility to apply for family reunification – which was then to be considered favourably if the living conditions would so allow – and the right to transfer workers' salaries back home. Publicly, it was stressed that these were temporary measures to fill existing gaps in the labour market. This was also based on the premise that regional mobility among German workers was limited, technological rationalization would face financial limitations, women's participation in the labour market was desired but secondary to family politics, and an increase in working hours would have been refused by trade unions (Herbert, 2001).

Even though the integration of the Eastern German refugees and displaced persons was considered relatively unproblematic, partly because the immigrants spoke German and were of German origin, a growing tension between the Western German population and the new population groups started to emerge. Despite being a socially heterogeneous group, the migrants of non-German background were perceived as 'lower' or 'second class', and this perception was reinforced, among other things, by being accommodated in 'camps' or 'ghettos', and by not enjoying the same government privileges as the rest of the German population – although the Eastern German population had the right to vote. In addition, they were considered more and more as a threat in the labour market (Herbert, 2001).

This changing dynamic in the population, and the fact that in 1960, for the first time, the number of open vacancies on the labour market was higher than unemployment, led to the erection of the Berlin Wall in 1961, which abruptly halted the influx of East Germans from the GDR to West Germany. As a result, further recruitment agreements were signed and so-called *Gastarbeiter* ('guest workers') were invited to Germany from Southern Europe, mainly Greece and Spain (1960), Turkey (1961), Morocco (1963), Portugal (1964), Tunisia (1965), Yugoslavia (1968) and South Korea (1970) (Andersen et al., 2003).

The guest workers continued to be considered as temporary visitors and were expected by the autochthon population to return after a period of time. Longer-term settlement only started in 1965 when the *Ausländergesetz* ('foreigners' law') was adopted (Bundesrepublik Deutschland, 1965). However, a coherent system to naturalize migrants who wished to permanently reside in the country had not yet been established by the German government. In 1964, anti-guest worker sentiments increased, and trade unions and the media campaigned against the influx of guest workers. The brief economic recession in 1966–1967 also contributed to further exacerbate these sentiments and, consequently, Federal Chancellor Erhard temporarily halted the recruitment of guest workers (Thränhardt, 2001).

However, already by 1968, the situation changed politically and economically. The major coalition between the *Christlich Demokratische Union/Christlich-Soziale Union* (CDU/CSU, the Christian Democratic Union/the Christian Social Union²²) and the *Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands* (SPD, the Social Democratic Party of Germany) from 1966 to 1969 was able to find a consensus between the different interest groups (Thränhardt, 2001). In addition, the economic growth rate reached 7.3% in 1968 and 8.2% in 1969, which also reflected positively on the labour market: guest worker recruitment resumed and, between 1968 and 1973, the number of foreign workers increased from 1.014 million to 2.595 million. In particular, the number of Turkish guest workers increased rapidly from 130,000 in 1967 to more than 600,000 in 1973. Since 1972, Turks have constituted the biggest minority ethnic group²³ within Germany (Herbert, 2001).

These newly emerging migration patterns required close and regular contacts among family members and, as a result, in subsequent years, resulted in family reunification. Guest workers also started to constitute themselves as ethnic

.

²² The Christian Democratic Union (CDU) is a federal conservative party in Germany. The Christian Social Union is the CDU branch in Bavaria and is based on the constitutional rights of the Free State of Bavaria represented in the federal government.

²³ The term 'ethnic group' is used here to mean the population from Turkey. Turks are ethnically diverse and comprise, among others, Turks, Laz, Kurds, Armenians and Roma.

minorities in various associations. They developed their own infrastructure and colonies, and the first political, cultural and religious associations were founded in the 1960s (Pagenstecher, 1994). These networks among the migrants were also kept alive independently from economic factors (Motte et al., 1999). In 1971, two-thirds of foreign labourers and employees still sent financial remittances to their country of origin. This only changed as of 1980, when real incomes fell considerably (Pagenstecher, 1994).

In November 1973, as a consequence of the first oil crisis and the worldwide economic recession, the government announced an *Anwerbestop* ('recruitment stop'), which was accompanied by tightened entry restrictions. Consequently, foreign employment decreased but the overall proportion of foreigners in the population remained at the same level due to family reunification, which had taken place on a larger scale since 1970 (Herbert, 2001), especially among the Turkish population (Andersen et al., 2003). This also proved that the originally envisaged 'circulatory model', i.e., the temporary movement of foreigners to Germany and their return to their home countries, was not realistic (Thränhardt, 2001). Even more so, 'voluntary circulation' (i.e., voluntary return), which was actively promoted by the government, did not work: financial incentives to return, the so-called *Rückkehrhilfe* ('assistance to return') (2004) offered by the German authorities until June 1984, did not lead to increased return, with guest workers opting to stay in Germany rather than risking a failed readmission after spending some time in their country of origin (Pagenstecher, 1994).

Owing to contractual conditions in the recruitment agreements and with the modification of the foreigners' law allowing guest workers to bring their spouse and children into Germany in 1971, family reunification and the chain migration of women and children, following their husbands and fathers, started. Female guest workers were originally not considered (Motte et al., 1999). Hence, in 1961, women constituted less than 50% of the total number of the male guest worker population²⁴ (Pagenstecher, 1994; Herbert, 2001), although this figure

_

²⁴ According to Herbert (2001), in 1961, the ratio of male guest workers to female guest workers was 1,000:451. In 1981, the ratio was 1,000 male:704 female guest workers, and this only balanced out in 1987.

varied according to nationality and migration conditions (Motte et al., 1999), and the male–female guest worker ratio changed gradually over the years towards a more balanced situation in 1987 (Pagenstecher, 1994).

Throughout the 1960s and 1970s, the concept of 'guest workers' remained a flexible instrument that could be used according to the needs of the economy. The advantage of hiring female guest workers was mainly due their particularly cheap labour, while, at the same time, reproductive activities were not transferred to Germany but remained in the country of origin. Women worked mainly in the textile, garment and food industry, and with the expansion of the public sector, they also found employment as unskilled labourers in the service industry, mainly in canteens, hospitals, cleaning companies and hotels (Motte et al., 1999). In contrast, male guest workers were employed in the production lines of the car industry (Andersen et al., 2003). This labour pattern reproduced the traditional gender structures where women, on the one hand, remained on the lowest and most precarious level of employment and, on the other hand, continued to work in the informal, unprotected sectors and in the service industry close to the 'traditional' household tasks of women (Motte et al., 1999).

Indeed, this is also reflected to some extent in one of the interviews with a Sinhalese woman:

"I came to Germany in the late 1970s. I wanted to study and establish a family. So actually, I did not start my studies but started to work as a day nanny. I am still doing this. I also brought my husband from Sri Lanka later. He has found work with the German Red Cross and we have two daughters." (Priya, Sinhalese, female, first generation)

This interview is striking because it is the only female interviewee who came from Sri Lanka to Germany as an economic migrant during this period, who entered before the husband and whose husband worked also in the 'caring' sector. Sinhalese women usually opted to move to the Middle East, especially Saudi Arabia, as domestic helpers rather than in Europe, and men usually crossed foreign borders first, to later bring their families. Gaining entry through a

temporary student visa and then entering the job market, however, seemed a more common practice among young Sinhalese – even in later years. All interviewees who considered themselves as economic migrants or entered with a temporary student visa were Sinhalese, but not all interviewed Sinhalese were economic migrants. The Tamil interviewees all gained official entry through an asylum application, even if some could have possibly been considered as 'economic migrants'.

In parallel, in the 1970s, with the increasing perception of foreigners as minorities in the country, 'integration'²⁵ became fashionable, even though it neither considered minorities' needs *per se* but was rather geared towards securing the labour market and social peace, and hence aligned itself first and foremost with the assimilation of guest workers and immigrants. A good example was the 'needs-oriented integration model' developed by the Berlin Senate in 1972, which only fulfilled the needs of the economy and the labour market, rather than those of the minorities living in Berlin. Policies concerning 'integration' were temporary measures and, therefore, again, complementary to the policies applied towards guest workers (Pagenstecher, 1994). Both have been shaped by the selective perception that Germany was not an immigration country and, therefore, permanent measures would not be needed. In 1977, the immigration directives stated:

"The Federal Republic of Germany is not an immigration country; it does not strive to increase the number of German citizens in a targeted way through naturalisations" (in Pagenstecher, 1994: 54).

As a result, 'integration' was not considered a task of the government and society at large, but an 'adjustment process' carried out by the migrants as there was a general realization that guest workers may not return any time soon. In addition, guest workers increasingly brought their families to Germany and their children attended school in Germany. In principle, however, the

58

²⁵ Note that in Germany at that time, 'integration' was not the terminology used; rather, there was the expectation that foreigners would just behave as Germans do. The term 'assimilation' was not used either in public discourse, even though the expectations in society were much closer to this concept than to integration. For ease of reading and due to a lack of correct terminology, 'integration' is used here.

general expectation was for migrants to adopt German habits and culture. The role of the government was only to select the foreigners who were temporarily allowed to reside in country. Through such measures, migrants were not able to gain social status and acquire professional skills; rather, the consequence was a stratification of the labour market and the failed integration of minorities into society. In fact, return was always kept open as an option for the German government; the original mother tongue was promoted through various means such as native language radio programmes, counselling services and language classes for migrant children, but not in order to ensure bilingual and intercultural education, but rather to facilitate return (Pagenstecher, 1994).

As early as 1979, the so-called Kühn Report recommended that Germany had to accept its immigration character and, even though in the same year, a specific bill asked for unlimited residence permits to be issued to long-term migrants, conditionality and the possibility of deportation continued to exist.

Asylum seekers and refugees in the 1980s

During the early period after the war, asylum seekers and political refugees were low in number, even though Germany applied a liberal asylum law due to its experience in WW II. Between 1953 and 1978, only 178,000 asylum applications, i.e., 7,000 applications per year, were submitted, and peaks were linked to specific political events, such as the Hungarian revolution (1956) and the Prague Spring (1968–1969) (Münz et al., 1999). Despite these moderate numbers, Germany was until 1980 the main destination country in which to seek asylum in Western Europe, with applicants coming largely from Iran, Iraq, Sri Lanka and Turkey (Bosswick, 1993).

This situation changed radically in 1980–1981 due to the following events: economically, the second oil crisis resulted in more rigid migration policies and asylum laws and, politically, the Turkish military putsch in 1980 and the introduction of martial law in Poland in 1981 resulted in an additional 200,000 asylum applications. Consequent to these events, the government introduced

an obligatory visa for asylum seekers from Turkey and Poland, and asylum seekers were prohibited from working. These measures reduced asylum applications from these two countries by nearly 90%, back to the levels of the mid-1970s (Münz et al., 1999; Pagenstecher, 1994). In addition, the family reunification rule had been tightened and now required not only an entry visa into Germany, but also evidence of a particular area of living space and an extended marriage period before permission to move to Germany was granted (Pagenstecher, 1994).

In 1982, the new coalition government of the *Christlich Demokratische Union* (CDU, Christian Democratic Union), the *Christlich Sozialistische Union* (CSU, Christian Socialist Union) and the *Freie Demokratische Partei* (FDP, Free Democratic Party) under Chancellor Kohl came to power. Helmut Kohl was elected in the spirit of a 'politics of renewal', focusing on decreasing the unemployment rate and explicitly reconfirming Germany as a 'non-immigration country', especially during the election campaigns, although this was not further pursued during his early tenure. Together with French President François Mitterand, Kohl initiated the first Schengen agreement of 1985, aimed at abolishing border controls within the then European Community (EC), although the issue of asylum seekers and refugees was not addressed at that time (Lavenex, 2001).

"I came here in 1981, but my father came first. He wanted to go originally to London, but then the German politics was such that between 1980 and 1984 the CDU said, you can stay here and you can get easy access to asylum. So then we did not go to London but came to Berlin." (Anadan, Tamil, male, second generation)

Even though this interviewee came slightly before Chancellor Kohl took power, obviously the pre-election momentum allowed for these early displacements. The account of this second generation interviewee is also reflected in the statistics: in 1984–1985, the number of asylum seekers rose rapidly again and, at that time, 23.5% of applicants were from Sri Lanka. Indeed, whereas in 1983 only 2,465 Sri Lankans filed asylum applications, in 1984 applications rose to

8,063 and, in 1985, to 17,380 (Bosswick, 1993). These drastic changes mirrored not only German politics at the time but, more importantly, they were rooted in the political situation in Sri Lanka and reflected the mass exodus from Sri Lanka after the 1983 riots.

These developments have to be considered also within the context of the German Democratic Republic (GDR) in order to be fully understood: the *Sozialistische Einheitspartei Deutschlands* (SED, the Socialist Unity Party of Germany), as the sole political party, defined all policies, including those of immigration between 1949 and 1989. Their influence on migration history was significant because they allowed young students from other socialist countries to enter the GDR to be trained in one of their technical institutes for a period of three years. At the same time, they also applied an open refugee policy, which became GDR's symbol for their commitment towards human rights. (Pagenstecher, 1994). One interviewee remembered:

"In 1984, my husband was arrested by the army and he was in prison.

Then, within three days, we were able to take him out but then we just had to pack and come in 24 hours. Just leave the place and come. But, luckily, I had two German friends who came to visit me in Sri Lanka earlier and they told me that whenever I have to travel I can come because at that time, you did not need a visa to come to East Germany. So it was a country where you could land at any time." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

Until 1987, the GDR airline, Interflug, carried political refugees for a fee from Iran, Nigeria, Libya, Sri Lanka and other countries to East Berlin. These refugees, arriving at the airport of Berlin Schönefeld, were allowed to cross the border to West Germany at the Friedrichstrasse station. Indeed, many of the interview partners who left Sri Lanka in the 1980s confirmed that they arrived at Schönefeld Airport in the GDR as no visa restrictions were imposed on Sri Lankan citizens. Within a few hours of arrival, they then crossed over to Germany at Friedrichstrasse station (n.a., 1986).

"We landed in East Germany and we did not need a visa. That means for 24 hours you got the visa for free. It was a free zone. In that time, you could cross the border to West Germany. That's all... I did not know why this was possible but I thought at the time – and I do not know whether this is right or wrong – I thought that was a general income for the East Germans. So they did not mind; 24 hours you stay, we will give you but you have to pay some money for that." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

This interview puts the GDR policies into perspective. So, obviously, the open refugee policy was indeed an important factor as to why Tamils migrated to Germany and not to other countries, such as the UK, France, Canada or Switzerland, but the perception why this was possible obviously differed starkly from the GDR's intentions to emerge as a country with a human rights track record.

Another interviewee recalled the travel itself:

"A young German lady has been very helpful at Schönefeld Airport. She gave me 20 Deutschmarks and she explained to me how I could enter West Germany. I took a taxi to Friedrichstrasse station, which was the border those days. As soon as I arrived on the other side, I claimed asylum." (Rajesh, Tamil, male, first generation)

This large influx of asylum seekers and refugees through East Germany also contributed to the tightening of migration policies in later years.

The fall of the Iron Curtain and the Berlin Wall

With the fall of the Berlin Wall and German reunification in 1989, migration patterns changed considerably: next to asylum seekers and refugees, especially from the Yugoslavian civil wars (Reisslandt, 2006), the number of East Germans entering the Western part exploded to 395,000 people in 1990

alone. By 1993, this number fell again to 180,000 and was later balanced out by the movement of West Germans settling in the East German parts of the then united Germany (Büchel et al., 1994). Within this decade, several million ethnic Germans, the so-called *Spätaussiedler*, from East European countries and the former Soviet Union, could get immediate and unrestricted access not only to Germany, but also to German citizenship due to the continued reliance on the principle of descent (Göktürk et al., 2007).

At the same time, with the reunification of Germany, people from countries outside the European Union who previously channelled their entry into Germany through the Friedrichstrasse station were cut off. The number of asylum seekers from non-European countries fell to below one-quarter of that of the previous year. Even earlier, Germany had signed an agreement with the GDR to close the entry point via East Berlin (Bosswick, 1993).

These events had a major impact on Sri Lankan Tamils who suddenly faced entry restrictions. One Tamil told his story of how he finally entered Germany:

"I am from Jaffna, but then I left in 1992 because my family sent me away from the war; they wanted me to go abroad. But I had to come first to Colombo to organize everything because I could not come through Schönefeld any more. Colombo has a lot of people smugglers and agencies. It took some time to organize; then a friend made contact with one of them. They bring people to Europe, so they brought me to Italy. I did not stay. I did not like it. Then I crossed the border to Germany illegally. I did not have family here but friends. In Germany, I claimed asylum." (Nayan, Tamil, male, first generation)

So the travel and the entry into Germany has become much more difficult. The changes in the political context had a major impact on the legal framework, which changed in the early 1990s: a new foreigner law entered into force on 1 January 1991 which facilitated naturalization and family reunification, on the one hand, and allowed for a more rigid execution of deportations and more interpretative space for authorities, on the other hand (Reisslandt, 2006). In

addition, on 6 December 1992, the so-called 'asylum compromise' was signed between the CDU/CSU, the FDP and the SPD, which introduced major revisions in the *Grundgesetz* ('Basic Law') and the *Asylverfahrensgesetz* ('Asylum Procedural Law') as of 1 July 1993.

Article 16 of the 'Basic Law', which previously allowed temporary residence and the "right to a comprehensive examination of his or her application for asylum even if [it had] no prospect of a successful outcome" (Federal Ministry of the Interior, 1994) was amended. These provisions were now replaced by the right to asylum for persons persecuted on political grounds only if the person did not arrive through a "safe third state" (Federal Ministry of the Interior, 1994; Bosswick, 1993; Achermann et al., 1995).

Article 30 of the 'Asylum Procedural Law' – after its amendment – for example, stated that an asylum application is obviously unfounded when individual conditions indicate that the alien only files an application for asylum because of economic reasons, general hardship or to avoid an armed conflict. Furthermore, asylum applications that were considered as 'obviously ill-founded' would be examined through a short-track procedure and rejected. Finally, a so-called 'airport regulation' was introduced allowing that asylum seekers without legal documents or from safe third countries entering through an airport can be accommodated at the airport and, in the event that the application was rejected, entry into Germany could be refused (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004). As a result, asylum applications fell by 30% in the period following the amendment (Bosswick, 1993) and illegal immigration increased considerably (Göktürk et al., 2007).

The previously existing liberal asylum laws had now radically changed and existed no more. Only 3.7% of the asylum seekers received refugee status according to the Geneva Conventions (Münz et al., 1999). The laws were interpreted strictly and Germany did not accept the threat to life or torture as well-founded reasons for obtaining refugee status; rather, persecution by the state had to be proved, even if the principle of *non-refoulement* remained applicable. As a consequence, different levels of residence titles were

introduced for asylum seekers, which were limited and unlimited in nature. These were: the *Aufenthaltsgenehmigung* ('limited right to stay'), an *Aufenthaltsberechtigung* ('right to unlimited residence'), an *Aufenthaltsbewilligung* ('permission to reside'), an *Aufenthaltsbefugnis* ('residence title for exceptional purposes'), and a *Duldung* ('exceptional leave to remain in the country') (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004).

Many of the asylum seekers from Sri Lanka now received an 'exceptional leave to remain in the country' (*Duldung*) even though, in 1998, Sri Lanka ranked seventh among the countries of origin of asylum seekers²⁶ (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004).

The tendency towards increasingly temporary residence titles is also reflected in the following statistics: in 1990, 138 persons from Sri Lanka had a *Duldung*, in 1995, 875 received a *Duldung* and, in 1998, 1,930 received an exceptional leave to remain in the country, constituting 1.3% of the total number of persons with the same status (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004).

At the same time, in overall figures, the peak in the number of asylum seekers was reached in 1992 and 1993 when 28.1% and 24.1% respectively of the total foreign population entering Germany were asylum seekers. With the introduction of the above-mentioned laws in 1993, this percentage fell dramatically within a year to 11.7% in 1994 (Münz et al., 1999).

The most radical change, however, happened in 1998 with the change of government. Unemployment rates had risen from 2.8% in 1980 to 7.9% after reunification in 1989, and increased in 1995 to 10.4% (Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, 2008). Despite the efforts of European integration, economic difficulties remained.

-

²⁶ 1st rank: Yugoslavia (34,979 asylum seekers), 2nd rank: Turkey (11,754), 3rd rank: Iraq (3,768 asylum seekers), 7th rank: Sri Lanka (1,979 asylum seekers). (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004)

Racist sentiments against immigrants

Within this context of the early 1980s, racism and xenophobia started to grow. The media and political parties in the West have focused on migrants and foreigners as an issue for their election campaigns. Between 1990 and 1993, asylum homes were the targets of arson attacks (Prantl, 2012) and the private homes of people of foreign-born backgrounds were set on fire (Kuhrt et al., 2013). For the first time, foreigners were associated with issues of 'inner security' and criminal activities (Pagenstecher, 1994). Anti-Turkish campaigns also resulted in an increasing dichotomization of 'Europeans', versus 'Non-Europeans', as well as 'Christians versus 'Muslims' (Andersen et al., 2003). This led also to the politicization of migrant networks, especially of the Turkish population (Pagenstecher, 1994).

As a result, after 16 years of tenure, Chancellor Helmut Kohl and his CDU/CSU/FDP government lost the elections in October 1998 and a 'red–green' government of the *Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands* (SPD, Social Democratic Party of Germany) and the *Bündnis 90/Die Grünen* (Alliance 90/Greens) led by Gerhard Schröder came into power (süddeutsche.de/dpa, 2010). The red–green government provided a new perspective and, for the first time in Germany's history, recognized that Germany was indeed an 'immigration country' (Mehrländer et al., 2001; Reisslandt, 2006).

At the same time, after 10 years of reunification, East and West Germany faced two distinct developments: in Eastern Germany, the dreams of 'capitalism' did not materialize, industry crumbled and employment for both women and men became insecure; Western Germany had to absorb the high costs of reunification, which now fully hit the economy and, consequently, unemployment rates exploded, while prejudice and even violent racism directed at foreigners and asylum seekers became a daily phenomenon.

_

²⁷ 'Europeans' refers to Central Europeans who were at the centre of some election campaigns asking even for the repatriation of non-Central Europeans (Andersen and Wichard, 2003).

Migration-related initiatives from the EU

The above-mentioned policy changes were also influenced by the gradually accelerating European integration. In 1992, the 'Treaty on the European Union' ('Maastricht Treaty') was signed that set clear rules not only in regards to a single currency market, but also in foreign and security policy, bringing migration much closer to the Justice and Home Affairs departments (EUR-Lex et al., 2010). Even though the Maastricht Treaty was a milestone towards the harmonization of migration policies among European Union member states, it did not have an immediate direct effect at national level. On 26 March 1995, the Schengen Agreement entered into force in seven countries, among them also Germany. It allowed the free movement of people without passport controls within this Schengen area (Göktürk et al., 2007; Communication department of the European Commission, 1995 - 2013). The last important step in this decade was the signing of the 'Amsterdam Treaty' (1997) in 1997, building on the 'Maastricht Treaty' and creating an 'area for freedom, security and justice' within the European Union. The European harmonization of immigration and asylum also meant to establish more rigid border controls when entering the Schengen area, stronger cooperation amongst the EU countries in asylum and immigration policies and on judicial matters, even though member states maintained their responsibility for ensuring law and order and safeguarding national security (EUR-Lex et al., 1995 - 2013; Reisslandt, 2006; Achermann et al., 1995).

The development of a new legal framework

Since 1993 with the revision of the Aliens Act, foreigners living in Germany for 15 years are allowed to become German citizens if they have no criminal record and have renounced their original citizenship (Sieveking, 1992). The same applies also to ethnic Germans having returned to Germany (*Aussiedler*). Until that time, even second and third generation migrants, who grew up in a country that they perceived as 'theirs' had no automatic right to citizenship (Green, 2004). They had to prove their lasting commitment to Germany (Göktürk et al., 2007). Dual citizenship was only granted under the circumstances that people

could not withdraw from their original citizenship. Therefore, the validity of the principle of descent had far-reaching consequences in characterizing 'Germanness' and in effectively controlling access to German citizenship (Göktürk et al., 2007).

The *SPD–Bündnis 90/Die Grünen* coalition government introduced a change in perspective from 1998 onwards, and in accepting Germany as an immigration country it also introduced a number of important policy changes in a move towards more positive migration policies. One initiative of the red–green government was the reform of the citizenship and immigration law.

After 67 years of applying the principle of descent, a new citizenship law came into effect in 2000, which then allowed children born to non-German parents to obtain automatic German citizenship under the following conditions: one parent had been legally residing in Germany for at least eight years (*jus soli*) (Reisslandt, 2006; Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2005; Göktürk et al., 2007); they had attended a German school for six years; and applied for citizenship between 16 and 23 years of age. For young people with a migrant background, dual citizenship is then accepted if the original country also allows for it. However, at the age of 18, the so-called *Optionszwang* ('enforcement to opt for one citizenship') imposes upon them to choose one citizenship only – either German or the citizenship of their original country. For first generation immigrants, language and civic knowledge is required to obtain citizenship (König, 2013).

This amendment was accompanied by a public debate that had started back in 1998 and culminated in the publication of the report of the so-called Süssmuth Commission in 2001 (Süssmuth, 2001). This comprehensive proposal was developed in cooperation with trade unions, civil society and business representatives, and suggested options for designing a modern immigration law embedded in the EU setting. The government subsequently adopted the *Einwanderungsgesetz* ('Immigration Act') in 2004.

On 1 January 2005, the Immigration Act entered into force, harmonizing Germany's immigration-related residence titles with the other European Union countries. The law also newly incorporated the recruitment of high-tech professionals (Göktürk et al., 2007) as companies called on politicians to allow immigrants to enter into the high-skilled labour market. The act also includes standards for family unification, requirements for language skills of the spouse and for obtaining German citizenship for children of non-German descent born in Germany. For the first time, integration measures such as language and citizenship courses were offered (2004).

During the same period, the *Allgemeines Gleichbehandlungsgesetz* (AGG, 'General Equal Treatment Act'), which is based on several EU equal opportunities directives, was discussed and finally adopted in 2006. Up until then, only Article 3 of the 'Basic Law' provided for a guarantee of equal treatment and only the labour law provided some legal provisions to take action in case of concrete discrimination. The new AGG covers six grounds of discrimination, including ethnicity, direct and indirect forms of discrimination, and it applies to employment, education, social benefits and access to goods and services (Nickel, 2006). The *Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes* (ADS, 'federal anti-discrimination office') was established by the AGG as a specialized body that offers advice to victims of discrimination, publishes reports and provides information concerning discrimination to the wider public. Currently, 25% of all requests for advice concern ethnic discrimination (Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes, 2013).

Sri Lankans in Germany: Their citizenship and multicultural Germany

In 2000, 4,597 people from Sri Lanka sought German citizenship, which represented a rise of more than 40% within one year. The number of applicants for citizenship from Sri Lanka remained high in 2001 and 2002, and only in 2003 did it fall back to the level of 1999 (Thränhardt, 2008). It is worth noting that at

that time, in 2002, the total migration stock of Sri Lankans in Germany was 43,634 persons, being ranked 15th within the overall number of foreigners in Germany (Bundesbeauftragte für Migration Flüchtlinge und Integration, 2003). Some 33% of them were only in possession of a limited stay permit, 17% with either a residence title for exceptional purposes or with an exceptional leave to remain, and approximately 19% without a decision (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, 2004). This also meant that Sri Lankans throughout the years did not have a stable residence permit, even after 20 years of residence in the country. This may also be one explanation for the decision to quickly apply for German citizenship under the new citizenship law.

Most of the interviewees – if they considered a change of citizenship – have applied and received their new citizenship under the new red–green coalition government. This applies to both Sinhalese and Tamils, as well as to the first and second generations alike. Some of their voices are reproduced here:

"I have come here to work at an embassy, but I was paying every year £6,000 for my daughter's education. If you are European, you do not have to pay, but I also thought it will be difficult to get the papers [i.e., official documents/passport]. I got a visa every year, then for two years, then later for five years, so I thought, I do not have to go for the passport as you have to wait for a long time for it. But visa applications also take a long time and sometimes you do not know what will happen, whether they [German authorities] will kick you out. So then, in 2003, after so many years, I decided it was better to get the papers [passport]. Now I am German." (Kumarage, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

"I applied in 2004. I could have done it earlier but the policies were not easy then... I travelled a lot in Europe and went to almost all the places, crossing borders illegally because we had travel restrictions with our permit... Then I applied in 2004 after the new laws came and now I am a German." (Rajesh, Tamil, male, first generation)

"Since October 2005, I am officially German. If you want to become a citizen you have to argue for it. That was not so easy, so I did not apply. Now my German friends helped me and I did it independently of my parents. I am a Tamil, but it [the German citizenship] makes it all easier now. I do not pay fees for my studies, for example." (Anbarasani, Tamil, female, second generation)

Regardless of their background, Sri Lankans applied for their citizenship only between 2000 and 2005, even though they entered Germany largely in the early or mid-80s. Even if two people here did not refer directly to the change in the law, they obviously knew about the difference in the procedures as they all referred to earlier difficulties and the easier access now. Among the interviewees, there was a slight tendency for women to apply more willingly for German citizenship than men. Finally, despite being born in Germany, before 2000, second generation Sri Lankans had to apply for German citizenship. Those born after the new citizenship act came into force automatically received German citizenship at birth.

Based on the above-mentioned historic developments, Germany has turned into a country that acknowledges its diverse population. In 2011, some 26,218 Sri Lankans were residing in Germany, not including those who had obtained German citizenship (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2011). Despite this acknowledgement, the majority population still expects people of foreign-born backgrounds to integrate into German society, speak the language and adapt to German habits. With or without such efforts to integrate, people of colour experience discrimination in many fields of life.

In response, Berlin has, among other places, opened several counselling services to assist victims of racism (Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes, 2013). Furthermore, the city also adopted the *Berliner Partizipations- und Integrationsgesetz* ('participation and integration law of Berlin') in 2010 to ensure the appropriate inclusion of people with a migration background in public administration and political positions.(Kölling, 2013). In addition, *Ausländerbeiräte* ('local integration councils') have been set up and many

foreign-born Germans and non-German citizens, including Sri Lankans as one interviewee witnessed, participate in and contribute to these councils in order to foster the development of local multicultural strategies and to channel their individual political engagement.

CHAPTER 5: BELONGING, CITIZENSHIP AND IDENTITY

The previous chapter focused on the contextualization of migration flows from Sri Lanka to Germany. As such, it provided an understanding of the political and economic factors influencing collective politics in the diaspora. These circumstances provide the framework within which belonging and the politics of belonging emerges. The reasons for migration and migrants' settlement options in the host country are embedded in the political and economic, social and cultural realities of the migrant and, ultimately, impact on the relationships between the home and the host country. This chapter builds on these circumstances and analyses the different factors contributing to the sense of belonging of Sri Lankan migrants in Berlin in particular. It explores the emotional links of Sinhalese and Tamils in the diaspora to home and the 'homeland', to citizenship, and to nationalism, as well as the construction of identity. These are some of the constituent factors shaping the sense of belonging and of the politics of belonging in the diaspora.

Framing belonging

Belonging is an emotional attachment and a feeling of connectedness.

Belonging is multi-layered, dynamic, relational and situational (Wood et al., 2011: 900; Yuval-Davis, 2011). It is anchored in the self, the relationship to people and places, and the different economic, political, social and cultural realities and experiences of the individual. Probyn (1996) refers to belonging as 'being' and 'yearning'. This implies that belonging not only influences and shapes today, but also includes a perspective for tomorrow. Yuval-Davis (2011: 12) constructs belonging along three axes: (1) social locations; (2) identifications and emotional attachments to different collectivities; and (3) ethical and political value systems. This framework, summarized below, is a useful tool that can also be applied in diaspora settings and, hence, will be referred to throughout this chapter.

Social locations are determinants that shape the individual's being along different power lines. They express his or her position in society but their determining character shifts according to different moments in history (Harding, 1991). They overlap and complement each other and one location never stands on its own but is coupled with other determinants. Their importance can vary and can be expressed through 'different embodied signifiers' (Yuval-Davis, 2011: 13). Certain locations can transcend boundaries and be absorbed or assimilated in other determinants. Social locations intersect with each other and allow an understanding of stratifications in society. They interrelate but are different from emotional attachments (see Yuval-Davis, 2011).

Emotional attachments refer to identity narratives that are a way of representing and perceiving oneself, either imagined or experienced (Christou, 2011). These narratives set boundaries, expand boundaries, shift boundaries, define and redefine them. Emotional attachments and identifications relate to a collectivity and are characterized by reflexivity and subjectivity. In fact, through emotional attachments and identifications, 'belonging' can be expressed and collective identities constructed. The different social locations and power relations shape these narratives (Yuval-Davis et al., 2005; see Yuval-Davis, 2011).

Yuval-Davis's third analytical dimension, **ethical and political value systems**, complements social locations and emotional attachments in so far as it involves a judgement and an assessment that positively or negatively influence the sense of belonging. Values are linked to ideologies, which often are drivers for action. Hence, value systems also closely interrelate to the politics of belonging and identity politics, which will be discussed and further elaborated in the next chapter.

Diasporic belonging

The question of 'to whom to belong to' and 'in which ways to belong' is multifaceted and critical to migrants. A migration process is disruptive by nature and an inherently emotional experience. Indeed, emotions are of fundamental importance for the construction of 'belonging', which articulates itself at the interface of power and emotions and the interface of identification and participation (Yuval-Davis et al., 2005). The temporary or permanent settlement in a foreign country and the identity formation process linked to it often carries with it a "heightened emotional need to belong to a community" (Brown, 2011: 230). Belongingness in the diaspora then can be defined as a "process of identification and contestation generated by migrants' struggles to understand their sense of self through place-based emotional attachments" (Christou, 2011: 249).

One interviewee commented:

"I can hear the news about Somalia or any other country, and the situation in other countries can be also very bad, but at the end of the day, I can only relate to the situation in Sri Lanka. I know what war means and I can understand it also in a different context, but emotionally I can only grasp it for Sri Lanka." (Kumarage, Sinhala, male, first generation)

Kumarage expresses his emotional attachment to a place, in this case Sri Lanka. He also shows that indeed belonging is relational and, to some extent, his relationship is based on a struggle – the struggle to understand versus the struggle to feel. The latter, however, remains the determinant factor for his belonging. Kumarage's account brings features of belonging and features of the diaspora together.

The notion of 'being' and 'becoming' is essential for belonging and Christou (2011) precisely makes the same point in referring to the diaspora. Soysal (2000), on the other hand, claims the "[d]iaspora is a past invented for the present" (Soysal, 2000: 2), though not only the present is at stake but also the future, the becoming, the longing.

This entails a process in which agency is essential. Anthias relates positionalities to the "intersection of structure and agency" (2001: 635) and they are "complexly tied to situation, meaning and the interplay of our social locations" (2006:29). Hence, migrants in the diaspora can shape and are shaped by their present and future, depending on their positionalities and social locations, just as belonging is shaped, intentionally and unintentionally, formally and informally, and is both real and virtual. Korac (2009a), in her research, highlights the agency of forced migrants, even though this agency should also be extended to economic migrants.

Relating to 'home' and 'homeland'

Central to the concept of 'belonging' and to the understanding of diasporas is the relationship to 'home' and the 'homeland'. Soysal (2000) points out that the "[d]iaspora is the extension of the place left behind, the 'home" (Soysal, 2000: 3). Brubaker (2005) characterizes diaspora according to three criteria: dispersal, homeland orientation, and boundary-maintenance. So, in diaspora studies, the point of departure for the analysis is the notion of **dispersa**l (Safran, 1991; Cohen, 1997; Brubaker, 2005). This dispersal may be forced – either linked to a traumatic event or to the search for work. Van Hear (1998) elaborates on these reasons for dispersal and differentiates between voluntary and involuntary migration, as outlined in the previous chapter, but he still argues within the conceptual framework of Cohen, focusing on the 'dispersal' as the key to migration. This, however, leads to the critique of the notion that the forced dispersal of a group, the experience of exile, loss and dis-location, as well as the approach towards social, political and economic relationships, are only linked to the home country. Cohen, nevertheless, recognizes that the host country plays an important role in the life of the diaspora communities but he describes it as a "troubled relationship with host societies" (1997:26), which he links to the lack of acceptance from the majority population in the host country. It is this relationship that influences the sense of belonging. Belonging also necessitates being understood and being recognized in the host society (Ignatieff, 1994).

In this context, now, the differentiation between diaspora and transnational communities is essential: Introducing the notion of transnationalism becomes useful in so far as it involves, as a main feature, social formation crossing borders rather than sustaining them (Vertovec et al., 1999; Vertovec, 1999b). Transnationalism is associated with **multiple relationships in both the host** and home country characterized by a movement forth and back or, in the words of Basch et al. (1994:7), transnationalism allows migrants to "sustain multi-stranded social relations that link together societies of origin and settlement", crossing geographic, cultural and political borders. In this way, transnationalism creates a space for belonging that is embedded in both societies and is characterized by mobility. Van Hear (1998) also recognizes these frequent movements between country of residence and country of origin, but he does not elaborate on the multiple facets of the circularity of migrant populations. Circular migration can involve either physical visits to the home country or it can, as Sanders (2002) points out, entail a 'figurative dimension', i.e., virtual visits home through regular communication. Indeed, technology allows for new forms of transnationalism and it also allows for new forms of belonging.

The internet creates a new form of place-based emotional attachment where geographical location is replaced by virtual sociality (Blanchard et al., 2002; Appiah, 1998). Social media becomes a meeting point where identity can be negotiated, leading to a sense of belonging (Christensen, 2012). Even though the internet allows interactions to take place without necessarily becoming a member of a group, they enable "enactments of phantasmic belonging" (Christensen, 2012: 900).

Most interviewees have indeed mentioned the new forms of technology; Skype, VOIP (Voice Over Internet Protocol) technologies, and other social media have dramatically changed their way of interacting and keeping the relationship with 'home' alive. Age and gender, however, matter. Among the older first generation, occasionally, traditional telephone lines are used to communicate but most have mentioned that they used Skype to call home – although this is

often initiated and facilitated by their children. The second generation, both Tamils and Sinhalese, indifferently use the wide range of social media, online platforms, Skype and other VOIP-based technologies. Women and men are both active, but one Sinhalese interviewee whose father was assassinated and who left later to join a father's friend in Berlin shared the following:

"I use Facebook a lot. I can write there what I really think and I log in also in some other platforms and I post my poems. I do not use my real name but I always think about my father and I write about him. I post photos of him, I connect to him like this because I have no family any more elsewhere: I can express myself freely like this and have no social pressures." (Jayani, Sinhalese, female, 35 years, unmarried, first generation)

Jayani takes advantage of the protective space of the internet, where she escapes her social realities and creates for herself a space of 'phantasmic belonging'. The anonymity of the internet gives her comfort and she can break away from the pressures of society, which she otherwise faces as an unmarried woman at that age.

Another interviewee, however, uses the internet quiet differently:

"I am a Facebook journalist. I use it for my political convictions. I share news on Sri Lanka with my friends and I tell the world about the situation in Sri Lanka." (Sivalingam, Tamil, male, 54 years, divorced, first generation)

Between these two interview partners, the gender difference appears obvious: Jayani appreciates the invisibility of the internet whereas Sivalingam uses the internet precisely because of its public outreach. He logs in with his real name and he shares political statements, he connects to friends and others to do politics. It also allows him to meet new friends and create a community he otherwise would not have. So even though Jayani and Sivalingam have a very

different approach to online platforms, they both create a sense of belonging and they both connect to the homeland.

In addition to these individual accounts, in Berlin itself a number of transnational networks have been established in recent years, such as the International Network of Sri Lankan Diaspora (INSD)²⁸ and Journalists for Democracy in Sri Lanka (JDS)²⁹. Both networks work and exert influence through the internet and, in doing so, they become part of a larger transnational community. This, in turn, also creates confidence and brings about emotional attachment and identification.

Even though transnationalism becomes a useful additional concept, it does not yet fully acknowledge the complexity of the relationship to the home and host country as it fails to reflect the ideological dimension of a 'homeland'. In Sri Lanka, 'homeland' has become a loaded concept and is mainly linked to the claim by the Tamil nationalist movement for an independent state in the North and East, which they consider as their traditional 'homeland'. Therefore, the Sinhalese community does not apply this term, especially nationalist Sinhalese, who refer rather to the 'motherland' or 'Mother Lanka'. The association to the 'motherland' and 'Mother Lanka' is rooted in the Sinhalese epic 'Mahavamsa', which served – especially during the war – as an important instrument to mobilize Sinhalese nationalists for war, and defines the relationship to the home country. The mother was glorified not only to protect the family, but also to hail the nation and create a sense of belonging to a collectivity (Told, 1997). So the relationship to the home country becomes gendered.

The differentiation between 'homeland' and 'motherland' becomes important in so far as it expresses a very different emotional and ideological relationship, associated with particular meanings. Therefore, the classical notion of a diaspora community being only linked to the home country without further qualifications is too reductionist. According to many Sri Lankans in Germany, the relationships between Sri Lanka and Germany are far more complex and

-

²⁸ See http://www.srilankandiaspora.com/blog/

²⁹ See http://www.idslanka.org/

multiple: depending on the political situation, the individual and collective migration history, and on the social location of the individual, the relationship to Sri Lanka can either be ideological or real, or it can limit itself to relationships in Germany either with fellow Sri Lankans only, to both Germans and Sri Lankans, or it can transcend into virtual space. Transnationalism indeed absorbs some of this complexity and provides a base to understand multi-layered, multi-territorial and multidimensional belonging (Yuval-Davis, 2011).

Another aspect shaping the relationship to the home country was the ceasefire period of 2002–2005:

"After 20 years, I have been back to Sri Lanka in 2002 at the beginning of the ceasefire for three weeks. Of course, I was a bit excited to go and there are no words to describe how I felt." (Subu, Tamil, male, first generation)

For many Tamils, like for Subu, this period was indeed a window of opportunity to move back and forth to Sri Lanka, especially to the North, which is their considered 'homeland'. Only at this point, circular migration has become important to them. During the war periods, their status in Germany and their political affiliations back home usually did not allow them to move. So although they may have kept communication to the home country alive, often this was interrupted or very much limited. Their engagement then focused on relationships in the host society, even if their motivation to do so was based on their 'failed' or 'interrupted' relationship to the home country, as will also be shown in the next chapter. This especially applies to older first generation Tamils, who indeed kept a diaspora identity alive.

In contrast, the Sinhalese interviewees, especially if they had come to Germany for work or studies, could keep their contacts alive throughout the years. Only those Sinhalese who were politically involved had to often restrict themselves in their movements and contacts, mostly focusing their contacts on family members or those sharing the same political ideology. Circular migration, therefore, was always a feature of the relationship of Sinhalese to Sri Lanka.

Only those politically involved encountered restrictions, which then led to a similar 'interrupted' relationship to the homeland as for Tamils.

The circulation of migrant populations does not correspond necessarily with Safran's (1991) and Cohen's (1997) description regarding the **aspiration to return home** of diaspora communities. Transnational or circular communities, in contrast, practise this return regularly. Indeed, one could argue that this aspiration is geared towards the **permanent** return 'home', which indeed remains a challenge for Tamils, given the political context in Sri Lanka and their new lives built in Germany. At the same time, this aspiration is a necessity in order to maintain a sense of belonging, especially in a host society that does not value diversity, particularly in regards to the first generation.

"After one year here in Germany, I said 'I want to go back'. After two years, I said 'I want to go back' and, if you ask me today, I will say 'I want to go back'. It is just like that. I do not want to stay here. We will just bridge some time here and then I will go back... but, well, who knows?" (Amilan, Tamil, male, first generation, migrated in 1983)

Some authors (Marienstras, 1989; Van Hear, 1998) emphasize the length of stay abroad as a determining feature of diaspora and transnational communities and as a factor influencing the sense of belonging. Many of the Sri Lankan interviewees, when perceiving themselves as transnational communities, challenged the notion of permanent residence or return as they felt they were not bound to one country alone – both in geographical and ideological terms.

For many interview partners, especially for the first generation forced migrants, return remains a 'myth' that may not become reality as such. Indeed, these experiences corroborate Al-Rasheed's findings (1994) on Iraqi Arab and Assyrian refugees in London, whose desire to return is determined by past experiences and the relationship with the country of origin, and who justify their marginality in their country of residence through the imagined return.

Along these lines, Tavarajah and Sivapalan shared the following:

"Why we do not learn German? Because we are staying only temporarily in Germany. We did not come for work; we came because we had to flee. We want to go back. Even after so many years, we still want to go back." (Tavarajah, Tamil, male, first generation, migrated in 1981)

"My plan was to return after a few months when things calmed down.

That's the hope always, no?" (Sivapalan, Tamil, male, first generation, migrated in 1985)

Amilan, Tavarajah and Sivapalan: all three are Tamils with a migration history dating back to the 1980s during the anti-Tamil riots. They all still keep the option of 'return' alive. Kajani, in contrast, shares a different perspective:

"When I think of going home to Jaffna, so what do I do there? Now we lost all our friends and relatives, so I'll be a stranger in that country. I mean, I don't have an affinity to go there only because I feel for it... I am not going to return there and I am not going to live there. I have my children here now. I will stay with them." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation, migrated in 1983)

All four interviewees are Tamil, share a similar migration history, and have children raised in Germany. Kajani, in contrast to Amilan, Tavarajah and Sivapalan, however, is a woman coming from a middle class background, English educated and performing a profession of her choice. Against this background, the difference is class based and gendered: Kajani, despite her feeling for Sri Lanka, does not want to go back because she accepts the changed realities 'back home' and, as a woman, she clearly acknowledges her affinity to her children who indeed influence her decision to stay or return. So the 'public/political' considerations become secondary, and the 'private' prevails. Amilan, Tavarajah and Sivapalan keep the 'myth' of return alive, even though they themselves know that it is indeed an unlikely option given their family ties in Germany, but, for them, the 'political' prevails. So women and men acknowledge their realities differently and integrate these into their sense of

belonging differently. Their reflective process is different, even though they have a shared understanding of their belonging *per se*. To some extent, one could argue here that the 'reflexivity' is gendered and class based.

Returning home remains a desire, even if the political reality does not allow for it. Nevertheless, it helps to keep the emotional attachment to the home country alive despite the fact that "return is a self-deception which we create to live in a myth" (Madura, Sinhalese, male, first generation, migrated for political reasons in 2004).

These voices show in addition that the circumstances of departure and the level of integration in Germany shape this desire to return, rather than ethnicity *per* se, even though sheer pragmatism also comes into play when thinking about migrants' preferred place of residence.

Those who left for political reasons and who have become dissenters of the dominant political ideology keep the myth of a permanent return alive, even though they know that Sri Lanka has changed considerably during their absence and Sri Lanka is not a 'real' option any more; but the idea of return is, in Amilan's words, "in our heads always". This dynamic allows migrants to bear the hardships and marginalization faced in Germany and to justify their political engagement. In Berlin, some Tamils and Sinhalese share these experiences and together create an identity that distinguishes them from the majority population within both ethnic groups. They define themselves through the political context of Germany and Europe at large, and consider democracy and human rights as cornerstones of their political engagement towards the home and host country³⁰. As one of the interviewees explained:

"We need to learn from Europe how democracy works... We enjoy democracy here, so how can we support a militarized rule there?" (Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation, migrated in 1980)

-

³⁰ See also the history of the International Network of Sri Lankan Diaspora (INSD), http://www.srilankandiaspora.com/blog/

Sri Lankans who left for economic reasons are, in many ways, similarly torn between Sri Lanka and Germany, even though they have a real option of return. They very often consider a financial investment, for example, the purchase of land in Sri Lanka, which would be their home in old age. Nevertheless, life has changed in both worlds: children and grandchildren have settled in Germany, and an actual return may or may not happen. For many, the compromise is to live in Sri Lanka and Germany and stay a few months in each country:

"We are planning to go back to Sri Lanka and settle down there. We invested in Sri Lanka, built many houses and we are getting enough income [from these] to live. We are planning to go back, even though I am still here." (Kumarage, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

This, of course, is not a possibility for many Tamils who left for political reasons and express their sadness at the impossibility of return:

"The tragedy is that a lot of Sinhalese people who went out to work, have made their money, bought their little land, and have gone back to end their days in what is home for them. But this option is not available for Tamils." (Pillay, Tamil, male, first generation, migrated in 1958)

The issue of return is, of course, dominant in the minds of the first generation, both Sinhalese and Tamils. They have grown up and lived in Sri Lanka for a substantial part of their lives and so they still have positive memories associated with it. For the second generation – having grown up in Germany already – this desire to return may not apply. And yet, recognizing the difficulties their parents experience in living abroad, and despite feeling 'German', they, too, are split between Sri Lanka and Germany. "I am not quite sure what I want to do; whether I will stay or go back" (Kamani, Sinhalese, female, second generation). A number of interview partners expressed the sense that they are 'German' but they do want to go to Sri Lanka, live and contribute to the development of the country. To some extent, they created a new notion of home for themselves that had not existed before in this way:

"I'd like to go back to Sri Lanka, maybe in ten years, once the situation is normal. I cannot say when exactly. But, definitely, I want to go back and bring knowledge to my people. I can work anywhere, in the East, in the North or in Colombo, although I want to primarily help Jaffna and the Tamil people." (Bala, Tamil, male, first generation, migrated in 1984)

Creating an 'imagined home'

Regardless of ethnicity, the reason for migrating and the length of stay, the desire to return home is closely linked to the collective memory and myths around the country 'back home'. So in analogy to Anderson's 'imagined communities' (1983), an 'imagined homeland' is created that may or may not reflect the actual social, political, cultural or economic context of today's Sri Lanka. This collective memory is inevitably linked to the idealization of 'home' and the desire to maintain, restore or even create the 'homeland' or 'motherland' abroad. Both Sinhalese and Tamil interviewees do reproduce their respective culture abroad at different levels³¹: language, food habits, dress codes, songs and dances, traditions and rituals, caste and class are all reproduced abroad, even though the diaspora communities have different intensity levels in terms of their cultural reproduction. The Canadian Tamil community, for example, has the reputation for being strongly bound to the traditions of Jaffna. The German Tamil community is, in this regard, considered much more 'open', yet, not only a 'home' is created abroad, but also a 'nation' and identity imagined, both on an individual and on a collective level. Indeed, the separatist Tamil national movement fostered this dual reproduction of a nation and an imagined national identity abroad as it enabled the creation of an efficient support network. The notion of 'home' is not static within one person but, rather, can shift and change.

.

³¹ See also F. Anthias and N. Yuval-Davis (1989) on women's reproductive roles in ethnic and nationalist processes.

Joisten (2003) has differentiated between *Heimat* (the space) and *Heim* (place) of living. *Heimat*, however, also includes the feeling of home and being sheltered, which is also linked to the German term of *Geborgenheit* (feeling of security).

Indeed, both *Heimat* and *Geborgenheit* are important in so far as they do not link to a geographical place but to emotional and political space and, in this way, *Heimat* and *Geborgenheit* are, indeed, vital determinants of belonging. Being rooted in the German language, these terms are, indeed, also differentiated and intuitively used in the interviews:

"I am OK here in Europe, especially in Germany, even though I am not accepted here because of the colour of my skin. Here, I am getting looks which can kill, but in Sri Lanka I would be really killed... Where do I want to be? I do not know. I think I can be anywhere where I feel free... I need Heimat. Heimat is where you have Geborgenheit. Of course, I am Sri Lankan and want to be there, but I can be anywhere where I can speak freely and express my thoughts. I need political Geborgenheit more than an emotional home. Then only can I have a Heimat." (Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

For Jayalath, a political migrant and an active political activist, *Heimat* is found in the political space, in which the feeling of freedom and security is important. Much more frequently, however, *Heimat* is associated with an emotional space and clearly it is differentiated simply as a geographical space. Schwineköper (2005) has referred to three components of *Heimat*, emotional, social and spatial, while Greverus (1979) embeds *Heimat* in the trinity of community, space and tradition. Important to all is the social construction of the concept and the mostly positive feeling associated with it³², among others, to *Geborgenheit*, impacting on many aspects of the social, emotional and political life of a person and helping to shape his or her sense of belonging. It may or may not be linked

-

³² Mitzscherlich (1997) also points out that Heimat can also bring along feelings of discomfort and restrictions.

to (early) socialization experiences and to geographical locations (Ratter et al., 2012).

In this context, some interviewees also consider themselves as *heimatlos* (without *Heimat*), both among the first and second generation alike, but mainly within the Tamil community and, consequently, they do not know where 'home' or *Heimat* is any more, just as Anbarasani recounted:

"There were moments where I thought this is all very unfair because my friends can spontaneously say 'Germany is my Heimat' and, if I ask my parents, they also can spontaneously say 'Sri Lanka is my Heimat' because they lived half of their lives there. But I can neither say this nor that." (Anbarasani, Tamil, female, second generation)

If rooted in Sri Lanka, memories of home are often linked to the landscape or the people who were once encountered, and these memories are compared to life in Germany. It is this comparison that creates a dynamism enabling the interviewees to select the 'best' of each country for their notion of *Heimat*. The friendliness of the people and the smell of the sea have often been identified as associations connected to home in Sri Lanka; a free society and democracy were positive features associated with Germany. Gaps in one country are filled through the other country, contributing to 'imagining' a home and, indeed, creating a new notion of home and *Heimat* based on a value system, combining those of Germany and Sri Lanka – a home that is located between both worlds and actually does not exist in real terms. As memories are created and recreated, identities are formed and reformed, the relationship to the home country shaped and reshaped, and *Heimat* constructed and reconstructed. These are multi-layered processes reflecting individual histories, and yet, influenced by a collective, especially in a politicized context like Sri Lanka.

Second generation Sinhalese and Tamils often perceive their home – along with their identity – as being rooted in Germany, but clearly with links to Sri Lanka. However, discriminatory practices and racist attacks on foreigners or visible minorities reinforce the attachment to an imagined home and disrupt the feeling

of belonging in the host society. Yeoh et al. (2003) have argued similarly that the nostalgic memory of a 'lost' or 'imagined' homeland is often accompanied by the refusal of the host country's society to recognize the cultural distinctiveness of community members.

"If there is a Tamil state I can imagine living there. That is why I have married a Tamil woman from Sri Lanka... I can imagine living there and considering it as Heimat, and Germany I consider as a second Heimat, actually a 'Berliner Heimat'. Heimat is for me an area where there is an independent Tamil Eelam and where there are equal rights and conditions: the same conditions to attend university and to work. Heimat is a place where you are not considered second class." (Ganesh, Tamil, male, second generation)

Ganesh's perspective is quite outstanding for several reasons: Ganesh is a second generation Tamil who has been raised in Germany by Tamil parents. He speaks Tamil and German fluently (with a Berlin accent) and is a German citizen. He is politically engaged and this activism shapes his understanding of Heimat as he imagines Heimat in Tamil Eelam. Usually, such a feeling of belonging is only observed among first generation Tamils who have spent a number of years in Sri Lanka and, therefore, can directly associate themselves with this imagined place. But Ganesh's Heimat of the imagination is also borne out of his status in German society, where he is considered 'second class' despite the fact that he is perfectly integrated according to German policy standards. Although he accepts that Germany can be a second *Heimat*, he seems to create his own 'mini-homeland' at home domestically: he married a wife from the Jaffna homeland, carefully selected back home, and brought her to Germany to ensure that his "children are raised in the Jaffna tradition", as he further explains in the interview. Ganesh consciously has chosen his wife to ensure the cultural reproduction of his imagined 'homeland' and, in this way, he instrumentalizes her for his own construction of belonging, his disassociation from German society and his nationalism. The gendered process described here is not unusual as such, but it is so for a second generation Tamil German.

Ganesh also shows that there is a link between the construction of the homeland and the treatment faced in the host country. These two processes – linking strongly to the home country and weakly to the host country – can be mutually reinforcing and this dynamic then influences the sense of belonging. In fact, belonging is not only geared to the 'homeland' and the creation of a new, imagined home, but it is even more so embedded in the host country and the ability to participate in that society.

Relating to citizenship

For Yuval-Davis "[t]he notion of citizenship can be seen as the participatory dimension of belonging to a political community" (2011: 46). Citizenship can be defined as the "set of practices (juridical, political, economic and cultural) which define a person as a competent member of society, and which as a consequence shape the flow of resources to persons and social groups" (Turner, 2000: 2). Citizenship, in its traditional understanding, expresses a legal status and implies rights and obligations of a person in regards to a given state. Marshall (1992) has differentiated three categories of citizenship rights: civil, political and social rights. National citizenship can be considered as a framework that structures modern democracies and legitimates collective action, the allocation of resources and the use of power. In this conception, the nation state sets the boundaries for participatory citizenship (Tambini, 2001) and constitutes the basis for defining national belonging.

"I only realized how difficult everything was, once my father had to leave. He had a problem with the [medical] insurance. They did not want to pay the hospital for him. Then only I realized how difficult everything was. If you do not know the correct answer, then you are lost... He went back after some time but I stayed here. Then I had visa problems but I did not tell him. I started to work as a babysitter and I got married, so I got the visa again. ... I do not want to become a German citizen. I am not from here. I am not German, and I want to go back to Sri Lanka." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation, Sri Lankan citizen)

Chahila's father came as an economic migrant to Germany and kept his Sri Lankan citizenship. As he could not access social support in Germany, he returned to Sri Lanka but Chahila stayed. As her legal status in Germany was bound to the father's income, she also faced problems with regards to her stay permit. So, obviously, access to social rights but also civil rights were bound to her formal citizenship status, but, unlike many of the Tamil interviewees, she did not consider changing her citizenship status. Rather, she found alternative quite gendered – ways to stay: she started to work in the 'caring' sector and she married a Sinhalese man³³. Her Sri Lankan citizenship remained important to her as she neither felt that she belonged to German society, nor that she wanted to stay there. Eventually, she became a 'denizen' of Germany, i.e., a long-term resident of Germany but with formal external citizenship (Bauböck, 2007). She can now enjoy social and civil rights but has no access to political rights in Germany. She defines herself as 'Sinhalese' but, more than that, she also has a nation state where she can return to and where she can exercise her formal citizenship rights fully. This kept her sense of belonging as 'not German' alive and, therefore, did not prompt her to any action to change her citizenship status. Many other Sinhalese also did not change their citizenship status because "I do not need it. I can do all I want here" (Sarath, Sinhalese, male, first generation).

In fact, most Sri Lankans in Germany are 'denizens' and 'denizenship' can, indeed, be considered as a form of post-national citizenship (Bauböck, 2007). In Germany, the Turkish population, as 'denizens', have been instrumental in shaping the understanding of post-national citizenship (Kaya, 2012; Koopmans et al., 2001). With the emergence of human and personhood rights, the delinking of rights and identities and increased mobilization around citizenship, citizenship participation and practices are no longer bound to the nation state alone and to national collectivities (Soysal, 1994; Soysal, 2000; Waters, 1990).

.

³³ Two other interview partners (Jayalath and Sivalingam) also referred to marriage as a means of obtaining permanent residency in Germany. It is important to note, however, that they were both Tamil, male and married German women.

However, very often, the debates on forms of citizenship and modes of participation are influenced by the exclusivist citizenship policies against minorities (Pettman, 1999). Along similar lines, Bauböck (2002) has highlighted the fact that the extent to which migrants are able to change citizenship depends on the perception of states and their citizens towards migrants, and how they construct the meaning of citizenship. This obviously impacts on the migrant's own definition of identity and belonging and, consequently, on their participation in the political community of the host state. One interviewee referred to the differentiation between guest workers and asylum seekers and how it influenced his own relationship to citizenship:

"Those days they [the government/political parties] said we were asylum seekers and underdogs and the others were guest workers. They made this differentiation. Later, they put a stop on asylum seekers entering. They closed the doors... I worked as a cook at the time and, suddenly, people looked at me and told me that I take away the jobs of Germans. So much changed then... I realized then that, for me, also things had changed. I did not like all these developments because I had always worked in this country and I could not go back to my own country. So suddenly, I realized that Germany has gradually become my home... They did not allow me to have dual citizenship, so then I wanted to become a German citizen." (Tavarajah, Tamil, male, first generation, German citizen)

Tavarajah defines himself as a Tamil but his sense of belonging was influenced by the migration policies at the time and his experiences within German society. As these policies impacted directly on his life and his ability to participate in German society, and as he had no option of returning to his home country, he sought German citizenship. Among the male Tamil interviewees, his explanation for changing his citizenship status remained quite exceptional. Most Tamils would argue that they changed their citizenship status for reasons of convenience:

"Practical reasons made me change my citizenship status. If you travel it is easier with a German passport." (Ganesh, Tamil, male, second generation)

Ganesh did not perceive citizenship as a site of either claim-making or civic participation. The second generation interviewees seemed more willing to change their citizenship status than the older generation. Important, however, is the fact that Ganesh and others who changed their citizenship status still defined themselves as Tamils. Anbarasani (Tamil, female, second generation, German citizen) mentioned that "the passport does not change my identity. I am still Tamil". Anbarasani, like many other Tamil interviewees, de-coupled rights and identity and defined herself in relation to Germany and Sri Lanka but at different levels: the relationship to Germany is one defined by citizenship and to Sri Lanka by 'identity'.

In a few instances, the decision to keep the Sri Lankan citizenship has been a conscious, *political* choice which could be observed mainly among the first generation Sinhalese and Tamils, but mainly among those who link themselves also to the nationalist project. This applies even to nationalist Tamils who can only carry a Sri Lankan passport, which ties them to a Sinhala nationalist state structure, but they still perceive this as less of a problem than taking up German citizenship. Culturally, however, their citizenship claims are bound to the nationalist project of 'Tamil Eelam'. The wife of one Tamil nationalist, who kept her Sri Lankan citizenship until he died, explained:

"My husband told me: 'Please allow me to die as a Sri Lankan'. So he never changed his citizenship and I did not change mine either." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

Kajani followed the decision of her husband, whereas her children had already become German citizens at an earlier point. She only took up citizenship once her husband died. This quote highlights gender hierarchies within Sri Lankan society. Both Sinhalese and Tamil women always followed their husbands in their decision to keep or change their citizenship. This reflects the traditional

decision-making power structure within Sri Lankan society, which extends also to abroad. Among the female interviewees of the second generation, some deviation in this pattern could be observed (even if not in all instances): being in Germany, they could break away from these traditional structures and take German citizenship, although always with the consent of the male head of family.

Diaspora and transnational communities, in particular, expand their set of rights and normative expectations as well as their obligations beyond one nation state (Soysal, 2000; Waters, 1990). They are characterized by their link to the notion of multiple citizenship (Pettman, 1999; Werbner, 2002) – if legally possible. In this regard, Yuval-Davis refers to citizenship as a "multi-layered construct" which applies to people's membership in a variety of collectivities – local, ethnic, national and transnational (Yuval-Davis, 1997b; Yuval-Davis, 1999b). Claims for a multiple citizenship in the diaspora are, therefore, directed towards the host and home country (Pettman, 1999; Werbner, 2002). Transnational citizenship can be considered as an expression of multiple citizenship; belonging is then redefined within this new space of citizenship and determined by the civil, social, cultural and political practices of the migrant, which are closely linked to their own identities.

The redefinition of the space of citizenship as participative action by transnational communities refers not only to the national boundaries of the home and host country, but also to 'virtual neighbourhoods' (Appadurai, 1996). Transnational citizens engage at different levels in different spaces simultaneously. Dual citizenship may be a formal expression of this. In Germany, dual citizenship was introduced only by the relatively 'foreigner-friendly' red—green coalition government, after 1998. Sri Lanka, in contrast, allowed for dual citizenship until 2009, and then introduced very restricted access to citizenship. This also mirrors the political situation in the country when

a Sinhala nationalist government came into power and implemented a number of 'anti-Western' policies.³⁴

More importantly, however, the creation of such new citizenship spaces can also concern the creation of nations that have not yet been formally recognized as states or even, more concretely, the call for self-determination of a particular territory. In order for this to succeed, citizenship as a sense of belonging must be created that relates to this political and/or social collectivity. This necessitates the creation of identities that differentiate between 'us' and 'them', the social and cultural connection within a collective and the construction of a common national project (Schnapper et al., 2000). Indeed, it necessitates the feeling of belonging to one real or perceived nation.

Relating to nationalism

Nationalism is a much-disputed concept, closely linked to the creation of the modern nation state. Not only are nation states constructed and constantly changing (Connell, 1990), but also nationalisms are embedded and shaped by history, the political context and their membership. Nationalism can be seen as an instrument of state power (Stavenhagen, 1990), while Norbu (1992) points out that post-colonial nationalism often developed as an awareness of the elite based on national symbols and sectorial interests and, therefore, nationalism may be used by the ruling elite to continue the politics of stratification, which started under colonialism, as shown in chapter 3.

In the process of nation-building, however, "prior and partial identities" (Stavenhagen, 1990: 6) are subsumed in order to ensure the cohesion of the society or of a particular group. Often then, internal diversity is neglected and 'unity' within a state or group is achieved by mobilizing against external forces. Indeed, the case of Sri Lanka illustrates that the middle class failed in attempting to achieve 'unity in diversity' because it was not capable of

³⁴ Note that the interviews were conducted when Germany and Sri Lanka both allowed for dual citizenship. However, the arrival of the interviewees in Germany was mostly before dual citizenship was introduced in Germany. Hence, for most interviewees, dual citizenship was not a feasible option.

accommodating the nationalism promoted by the Sinhalese Buddhist monks (Told, 1997).

Yet, nationalism is not only confined to a specific class or social group, but can be seen as a trans-class phenomenon occurring when a specific population is mobilized in relation to uneven development and stratification, which then often results in situations of conflict and violence, as the history of Sri Lanka has proven.

In this regard, Norbu's (1992) definition of nationalism is useful as it focuses on the importance of the nation state and of national identity. Nationalism refers, in his understanding, to a:

"politicised social consciousness centred upon a common national identity rooted in a shared tradition, and the ideological belief in the structure of the modern nation state as the most efficacious instrument of national unity, national independence and national interest" (1992: 26).

Central to this understanding of nationalism is the notion of national identity, which is a function of tradition, ideology and interests of a particular group or people. A sense of belonging is created as "a way of imagining a relative sense of 'us' as the 'same together'" (Pickering, 2001). Consequently, nationalism arises as national sentiment and ideology, and it then enters the political arena as a political consciousness of a common identity based on collective solidarity within specific 'geographical and cultural boundaries' (Miles, 1996: 254). Nationalism then becomes historically significant because a particular group uses it for political ends to intervene in the state's affairs, i.e., to control and possess the power of the state (Stavenhagen, 1990; Norbu, 1992) in order to reproduce new 'territorial boundaries' (Miles, 1996: 254). This complex of ideas and sentiments are responding flexibly to new situations (Minogue, 1996) and are linked to political movements of diverse orientations (Miles, 1996).

As outlined in chapter 3, the LTTE started as a resistance movement and its mobilizing power was based on claims for an independent 'Tamil Eelam' as a

sovereign state. The dynamics that can be observed here are, in many ways, similar to the post-colonial nation-building project as described above: the LTTE was able to create a sense of belonging to a Tamil 'nation' – a nation that was not only based on the fragmentation of the current Sri Lankan nation state but which, even more importantly, crossed the territorial boundaries of Sri Lanka abroad. The formation of a common 'Tamil' identity by the LTTE was equally important to this end, as was the suppression of any dissenting voices within the Tamil population. As a result, the LTTE was able to create, before its defeat in 2009, a de facto state in the North and East: it had set-up a state administration within its defined territory – even if not internationally accepted – and published textbooks for schools, run the police, judiciary and public service administration, including tax collection, as well as organizing welfare and economic initiatives (Stokke, 2006). The North and East therefore functioned on the basis of a dual state structure where the Sri Lankan government in Colombo officially administered these territories while, in reality however, the LTTE dominated and controlled them and no decisions were made without their consent. This nation-building project had relied, to a large extent, also on the support received from the Tamil diaspora.

Kastoryano (2002) differentiates between diaspora and transnational nationalism: the first leads to a movement towards a 're-territorialization' and statehood and the latter occurs only after nation state formation and results in exclusionary discourses and 'de-territorialization'. Diaspora nationalism can then be understood as a more static concept and is focused only towards the lost or imaged homeland (Faist, 2000). Transnational nationalism remains flexible and newly adjusts itself to different contexts, connecting the 'local' with the 'global'. Smith (2001) argued that the nation state and transnational practices are mutually reinforcing, and the binary opposition of 'local' and 'global' should be abandoned. This involves the possibility to "think and act simultaneously at multiple scales" (Smith, 2001: 164), which creates "deterritorialised nation-states" (Basch et al., 1994) and implies translocality/multilocality and multiple belongings (Appadurai, 1995; Smith et al., 1998; Vertovec, 1999a).

This conceptualization is important in order to understand diasporic belonging as a multi-layered and multi-territorial concept that is influenced not only by the citizenship status of individuals and the associated rights or obligations but also by the occurrence of diaspora and transnational nationalism. Both citizenship status and nationalism in turn also shape the construction of identities, which will be explored in more detail in the following section, and transnational politics, as further elaborated in the next chapter.

Constructing identities

It is essential to understand the construction of identity if one is to comprehend the construction of belonging. Identity construction among the diaspora itself is a condition and a process continuously reconstructed and shaped by an internal-external dialectic, merging internal self-definition and the social identity ascribed by others (Edensor, 2002). This latter process involves a 'triadic' relationship (Safran, 1991; Cohen, 1997; Sheffer, 1986) between the diaspora community in the host country, the state in the home country, and the state in the host country: Identity construction is located within the dynamics of these actors but is also shaped by the relationship to the co-ethnics in the country of origin and by other ethnic group members in other countries (Anthias, 1998; Brah, 1996; Clifford, 1994; Gilroy, 1993). Identities are formed reflexively (Lindgren et al., 2001) and are influenced by historical and institutional sites within discursive practices and modalities of power (Hall, 1996). They are products of different critical situations in life (Lindgren et al., 2001) and their experiences of difference and exclusion (Hall, 1996). Bhatia and Ram (2009) have researched South Asian identification in the US and argued that migrant identities specifically have to be understood as fluid and politicized, formed from different political positions and based on negotiation, dislocation and conflict. The construction of identity is influenced by negative experiences but is coined just as much through positive relationships both in the home and host country. These positive and negative experiences can vary considerably and may change over time.

These characteristics can be observed in the case of Sri Lanka: the relationship between Tamils in Germany, Tamils at home and Sinhalese at home, but also the relationship between Sinhalese in Germany, Sinhalese at home and Tamils at home has a major impact on how the identities of each of these group members are constructed. As Pillay (Tamil, male, first generation) asked rhetorically in the interview: "Can you form a sense of identity irrespective of and indifferent of the other identity that people around you force on you?" Identity construction therefore results from the interaction of state politics, Tamil separatist ideology and practices, and the activities of one's own ethnic group in the host country. This applies to both Sinhalese and Tamils. Nevertheless, Tamil identity formation is more responsive to these dynamics, given that they are a minority group within their home country, facing discrimination and exclusion and, therefore, being determined by their struggle for their rights and for independence, expressed through a separate homeland, both as a response to the Sinhalese-dominated state structures. At the same time, the position of power that Sinhalese have in their home country, being the majority, impacts on their behaviour and attitude towards Tamils abroad and, thereby, influences the triadic relationship of Tamils and Sinhalese. Yet, some of the Sinhalese interviewees have been 'dissenting voices' and hence, they – even though also influenced by the triadic relationship – have constructed a very different identity from their co-ethnics. They have been attributed an identity as traitors to the nation, being referred to as 'Sinhala Koti' (Sinhalese Tigers). Although small in number, their influence in the diaspora is significant, which stems from their prominority rights position among the majority population.

This is just to confirm that the triadic relationship is influenced by various other factors and identity construction is not a monolithic process but fluid, and shaped by the specific experiences of group members – be it as a Tamil LTTE supporter, a Sinhalese government supporter, a Sinhalese dissenter or a Tamil opposition leader. The experiences are diverse, and even though a specific group identity as 'Tamil' or 'Sinhalese' exists, they have to be differentiated within. The many social categories to which one person feels affiliated not only

reflect his or her way of life, but also the social and political complexities of Sri Lanka. This generates multiple identities, as one interviewee deliberated:

"Am I a Sinhalese or a Sri Lankan first? In Sri Lanka, I always called myself a Sri Lankan and sometimes with a political colour, but here in Germany I am confused. I feel more a Sinhalese than Tamil rights' advocate, and only then a Sri Lankan." (Madura, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Hence, the dynamics of diaspora life bring a particular facet of one's ethnic identity to the fore.

Since independence, Tamils have frequently experienced reprisals, violence, discrimination and economic marginalization in Sri Lanka, contributing to their decision to leave Sri Lanka, which is considered by many of the interviewees as part of their collective mind-set. These experiences have been substantively different for Sinhalese as members of the majority ethnic group – even for those members who oppose the government structures. As one interviewee expressed it, "Life and daily life experiences are different. From these stems your identity" (Pillay, Tamil, male, first generation). So even though group experiences impact on identity formation processes, individual experiences play a pivotal role in shaping one's own identity. The reasons for leaving, even the travel experiences as well as the arrival in Germany, influence this triadic relationship. The encounters in Germany with 'other ethnic groups' not only refer to Sinhalese or Tamils as 'others', but also to Germans themselves. This complicates the matter. For Tamils, their experiences of repression and discrimination continue even though now, predominantly, exercised by the local 'White' population and by the authorities in the host country. Not all interviewees perceive the discrimination faced in Germany in the same way, due to the fact that they live abroad and perpetrators are not from Sri Lanka, even though they reject and some even resist the outcome as will be shown in chapter 6. For Sinhalese, however, the experiences of reprisal, violence, discrimination, racism and economic marginalization based on ethnicity are new and yet the same as for Tamils in Germany. But, as a group, they have not experienced all this in Sri

Lanka, even if some individuals may have encountered violence due to their political orientation. This means that repression based on ethnicity and political orientation is not part of the Sinhalese collective mind-set. Hence, these new experiences will influence the process of identity construction for both Tamils and Sinhalese.

Multiple identities

Fearon (1999) has elaborated on the relationship between personal and social identities in highlighting that a personal identity is defined by the one social identity that is most relevant to the person. Reflexive identities constitute a bridge between the concept of self-identity and social identity allowing for continued redefinitions (Lindgren et al., 2001). This also implies that different identities exist in parallel and that group membership may often be a determinant factor, even if personal identities can also be formed without this affiliation.

In a politicized context such as Sri Lanka, membership in a specific social category remains important. Tamils, due their minority position and their distinct language and culture, more often define themselves primarily as Tamils. Sinhalese, however, identify either with their co-ethnics or, if members of opposing state structures, define themselves more likely as members of a political group, for example as JVP supporters, rather than Sinhalese *per se*.

"Due to the political context I feel an alienation from Sinhalese society despite being Sinhalese. My identity is a political identity shaped by my memories and what we went through in 1987–1989 as JVP."

(Priyadarshana, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

The interviewee also refers here to his memories, which are indeed an important aspect of identity construction to any individual or ethnic group. Kinzel pointed out that "[t]ranslocations are never simply changes of place, but

changes of memory, re-creations of memories in which the constructed meanings of identity narratives become encoded" (2010: 118).

So even though the process of identity construction and its influencing factors are similar between Tamils and Sinhalese, the outcome of this process is fundamentally different. Tamils, as a marginalized group, are mainly committed to their **ethnic identity** to reaffirm their difference from the majority ethnic group. Sinhalese, in contrast, may insist on their ethnic identity as Sinhalese if they are supporters of the state ideology, or identify themselves with their **political** or **ideological identity** rather than their ethnic identity if they oppose the state.

At the same time, the Sinhalese interviewees have often defined themselves also as Sri Lankans, hence referring to their **national identity**. National identity itself is a function of tradition, ideology and interest of a particular group of people (Told, 1997). One interviewee confirmed that:

"after living years in Europe, I still have the urge to be at home in Sri Lanka although I call my residence in Berlin 'home'; for instance, I say 'I am at home' when calling my friends back home [in Sri Lanka]." (Madura, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Edensor (2002) has emphasized that identities are shaped by multiple national identifications that can be contained within and outside the nation itself. This would apply for both first and second generation Sinhalese. In contrast, none of the first generation Tamil interviewees have confirmed a Sri Lankan national identity in relation to their home country, despite considering it as an option. Their ethnic identity remained dominant among them, even though the ethnic identity itself can become a national 'imagined' identity, using Anderson's notion of an 'imagined' community (1983). The rejection of the Sri Lankan national identity by the Tamil interviewees is grounded in their ideological and political orientation in relation to their home country, their cultural and linguistic distinctiveness, and their feeling that the Sri Lankan state made no efforts for the protection of their rights and equal treatment. In addition, the recognition of

one unified identity could possibly imply symbolically the recognition of one unified Sri Lankan state. Therefore, first generation Tamils rejected this identification throughout. Yet, many of them use the Sri Lankan identity in relation to Germany, linking it mainly also to the citizenship question as outlined earlier in this chapter.

This illustrates that, on the one hand, national identity is associated with a sense of belonging (Triandafyllidou, 1998) and that it is only meaningful in contrast to an 'other', which is, for migrant populations, often grounded in the experience of exclusion (Delanty, 1996). Therefore, national identity is linked to the society at large (Phinney et al., 2001) and often grounded in the experience of exclusion. Often, this experience of exclusion brings to the fore the politics of identity and hinders the creation of a shared understanding of citizenship (Delanty, 1996).

Second generation Tamils, on the other hand, identify themselves predominantly with their ethnic identity, but also express a German national identity as they were socialized and grew up in Germany. Their primary reference point is their relationship to Germany, rather than to Sri Lanka. So in the cases where they recognize a German affiliation, they call themselves either "Tamil Germans" or "German Tamils" putting an emphasis either on their ethnic or their national identity. Hyphenated identities are therefore an expression of their multiple belongings.

The difference between perceptions and feelings among the first and second generation can also be observed in their expression of a **diaspora** and/or **transnational identity**: "Diaspora identities are... constantly producing and reproducing themselves anew, through transformation and difference" (Hall, 1990: 235) and Tölölyan describes them as "an occasion for celebration of multiplicity and mobility – and a figure of our discontent without being in a world apparently still dominated by nation-states" (1996:28). Hence, they are local and global at the same time (Brah, 1996), which characterizes the Sri Lankan diaspora as well. Bhatia (2002) has pointed out that the '**diasporic self**' is shaped by political and historical practices linked to voices of race, gender,

culture, power, colonial and postcolonial history. Therefore, none of the ethnic communities in Sri Lanka are homogeneous, even though a certain level of empathy and solidarity among co-ethnics does exist (Cohen, 1997). Byfield emphasizes that "the creation of diaspora is in large measure contingent on a diasporic identity that links the constituent parts of the diaspora to a homeland" (2000:2). The assertion of a specific diasporic identity is often based on mythical symbols and distinctive cultural practices with the aim of creating a separate space in a hostile society (Castles et al., 2000). The spatial segregation, however, may not only be a reaction to negative experiences in the host country, but may also serve as a marker of difference.

Transnational identities are as fluid and flexible as diaspora identities, but a transnational community lives and connects different places at the same time. The identities, values and behaviour of members of such a community are not limited to one location, rather they utilize and construct different personal and national identities: they build on national identities and contest them as well, and a sense of placelessness may result from the discrepancy between citizenship and locality (Yeoh et al., 2003). This also means that the identities of the transnational migrant are de-territorialized and dis-embedded from their national contexts and re-embedded within the structures of a host society within a globalized world. They are located within the transnational and global, rather than the local and national context alone (Adamson, 2002).

The interviews confirmed that the first generation, of both Sinhalese and Tamils, consider themselves rather as members of a 'diaspora' even though many do not necessarily identify themselves with the term itself. The first generation has close ties to their homeland, despite living abroad and being dislocated from their original home. They primarily identify themselves through their links to Sri Lanka back home, which brings their diaspora identity to the fore.

Second generation Sinhalese and Tamils, however, do recognize their dislocation not only in geographical terms but also in regards to culture, language and ideology. They have grown up within Germany and affiliate both to the country they have never or hardly seen, Sri Lanka, and to the country

they live in, Germany. They differentiate their identity even further and consider having a 'city identity' or, even more specific within Germany, call themselves 'Berliner' or 'Berlinerin'. The second generation does not recognize geographical boundaries and is located between places: its members feel both Tamil or Sinhalese, and German. Very often, they actually hesitate in defining their identity within one country only as they face 'multiple loyalties' (Delanty, 1996). Rather, they shift in their identification between the different social and cultural worlds. In fact, some of them perceive it as "a kind of double life" (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation) or living in a "parallel society" (Priyadarshana, Sinhalese, male, first generation) – neither here nor there or here and there at the same time. For the second generation, a transnational identity is prevalent.

Ethical and political value systems

The third dimension of Yuval-Davis's analytical framework is the ethical and political value systems influencing the sense of belonging. Values are closely linked to personal convictions, which can influence emotional attachment as well as the construction of identities. They touch upon the personal self but are embedded in the social, political and cultural context and, therefore, are influenced by it. Values can be a motivational factor and a driving force for action. Therefore, in a migrant setting, the ethical and political value system determines the activities the diaspora communities carry out, both in the home and host country. In this regard, the values link to the transnational political practices of both Sinhalese and Tamils will be further explored in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSNATIONAL POLITICAL PRACTICES

The previous chapter highlighted the ways in which belonging is constructed: the relationship to 'home' and the 'homeland' influences the sense of belonging, just as much as the migrant's citizenship status in the home and host country and their relationship to the 'nation'. Nationalism is an 'ideology of mobilization' which often results in political action and has been an influential element in Sri Lanka's history. Social locations, identification and emotional attachments, as well as ethical and political value systems, are analytical axes allowing an analysis of belonging. This chapter builds on the conceptual framework as presented earlier and will discuss different transnational political practices. Economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities have been studied in different contexts (Bhatt, 2000; Ehrkamp, 2005; Horst, 2004; Itzigsohn et al., 1999; Salih, 2001; Viruell-Fuentes, 2006; Wahlbeck, 1998). These constitute a useful categorization and will be used here as a basic structure of the chapter. However, the focus of the investigation will remain on the political engagement of the Sri Lankan diaspora and, therefore, will only refer to these categories in so far as they are relevant in shaping the political practices of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities in Berlin.

Brah (1996) has referred to the 'diaspora space' as the "intersectionality of diaspora, border, and dis/location as a point of confluence of economic, political, cultural and psychic processes", and she further defines it as a "point at which boundaries of inclusion and exclusion, of belonging and otherness, of 'us' and 'them', are contested" (Brah, 1996: 181). This space is 'inhabited' with persons living abroad and those staying behind in the home country. So the local and global link together and cannot be disconnected. Along these lines, political engagement precisely takes place in this space and links the local with the global, but also the home and host country.

This space provides the potential for "transversal politics" (Yuval-Davis, 1997a; Anthias, 1998; Yuval-Davis, 1999a), which takes into account the different

positionings of people, their identities and different value systems, political agendas and power relations while mobilizing around a common interest (Yuval-Davis, 1999b). In order to understand this positioning of diaspora identities, Brah (1996) explicitly recognizes the centrality of power relations. Only by analysing the manifestations and configurations of power relations between minority and majority groups and among the different ethnic minorities can one understand the dynamics within the diaspora space. To some extent, however, 'diaspora space' may not always be an accurate terminology, rather – by analogy – it would be the 'transnational space' in which all the fluidity, dynamism, heterogeneity and intersectionality of class, gender and age, as well as other social locations between the home and host country, take place.

The 'diaspora' or 'transnational' space is also where the politics of belonging and identity politics happen. Yuval-Davis defines the politics of belonging as "specific political projects aimed at constructing belonging to particular collectivity/ies which are themselves being constructed in these projects in very specific ways and in very specific boundaries" (Yuval-Davis, 2011: 10). The politics of belonging requires agency to maintain, shift and change boundaries in order to 'belong to'. Connolly (1996) links the politics of belonging to the 'politics of becoming' as it sets the boundaries of belonging and of not belonging.

The construction of belonging is also influenced by the politics of identity/identities. For Hetherington (1998), the politics of identity is not only a social movement against marginalization but more so a 'source of empowerment and resistance' for marginal identities to differentiate themselves from the 'other'. Identity politics plays a role in the Sri Lankan context, but it is used rather as a tool not only for marginal groups, but for the state and de facto state structures to mobilize against the 'other' and to manifest boundaries of belonging. It is this interplay that also provokes political engagement – both of alignment and resistance. The critique by Yuval-Davis (1999b) mainly concerns the tendency of identity politics to essentialize social categories and to deny the differences within the same social category. Differentiation 'within', however,

does not hinder political engagement and mobilization on issues of common concern.

Transnational political practices take place within the politics of belonging and the politics of identity, one contributing to the other. Equally important is also the consideration of the political context of the home and host country in order to understand the dynamics of these practices. The motivation for migration does play an important role but is not the sole determinant factor to engage politically; rather, there are a number of reasons why people get involved and become 'agents of transnationalism' (Al-Ali et al., 2002). These transnational practices are directed towards different localities – either towards the home or the host country or towards the home and host country (Vertovec, 2001). Levitt and Glick-Schiller refer to "multi-layered, multi-sited transnational social fields" (2004: 1002) and Tsuda (2012) has argued that transnational practices are characterized by simultaneity, building on earlier writings of Levitt and Glick-Schiller. The engagement of the migrant in one or the other country simultaneously impacts on the other country and, in fact, is part of one coherent social process. Simultaneity therefore will be further considered when analysing the different practices of the diaspora communities in Berlin.

Furthermore, Adamson (Adamson, 2002) has pinpointed three different levels of diaspora community mobilization in order to effect political change in the home country: first, through the mobilization of identities, discourses and narratives; second, through networking with state- and non-state actors; and third, through the transfer of resources. Other authors (Vertovec, 2001; Al-Ali et al., 2001b; Tsuda, 2012; Wight, 2000) categorize transnational practices by their impact or areas of involvement, i.e., economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities. The following sections will highlight some selected practices of the diaspora communities in Berlin, and analyse them through a political lens and how they shape their sense of belonging.

Economic activities

Economic activities refer to all remittances and money transfers from the host to the home country. Sri Lanka has always relied heavily for its economic development on remittances from abroad. In 2009, Sri Lanka received more than 8% of its GDP in remittances³⁵, approximately 2,8 billion US dollars, and is among the top 30 receiving countries worldwide³⁶ (Ratha et al., 2011a: 14; International Crisis Group, 2010). Germany is, at the same time, also among the top five remittance-sending countries worldwide with a contribution of 15.9 billion US dollars (in absolute figures in 2010). Bilateral remittances from Germany to Sri Lanka amounted to 158 million US dollars in 2010 (Ratha et al., 2011b). The available figures concern only officially recorded data received through formal networks. The data is not disaggregated by gender, ethnicity or status (i.e., economic migrant, asylum seeker, refugee). Therefore, they do not include the remittances sent by the Tamil population through informal money transfer systems (known in Tamil as undivals), especially to the North and East where only limited banking facilities exist. Cheran and Aiken (2005) have studied the functioning of these undiyals and found that they are not only monoethnic in their functioning, but were also important agents in the post-tsunami period, facilitating relief and reconstruction efforts in the North and East.

Even though the interview partners have not systematically referred to money transfers to the home country, in one Tamil food shop where interviews were conducted, money transfer services were also offered. Clearly, these services were used by Tamils for Tamils and, hence, were just as mono-ethnic as in Canada. The transfers were mainly to family members but patterns changed with the political situation and the tsunami in December 2004 when large flows of donations from the diaspora occurred, often channelled through the Tamil

-

³⁵ The definition used by the World Bank refers to all workers' remittances, compensation of employees and migrants' transfers (Ratha et al., 2011b).

³⁶ The majority of remittances stem from female housemaids or other domestic helpers working in the Middle East. The government of Sri Lanka reacted to this out-migration by establishing a Ministry of Foreign Employment Promotion and Welfare. (see www.asiaecon.org and http://www.foreignemploymin.gov.lk/).

Rehabilitation Organisation (TRO) or other charity organizations. One Interviewee said:

"I like to help my people indirectly. I help money-wise. I send money through my parents and here there are also some organizations that help internally displaced people. Somehow, I help there. The TRO [Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation] is the main organization here." (Nayan, Tamil, male, first generation)

The Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation (TRO), founded in 1985, had an office established in Germany and was considered as one of the main outlets for LTTE fundraising (Keller, 2001). It described itself as a charitable organization independent of the government. It was involved in large-scale development projects in the North and East after the tsunami. With the LTTE being put on the list of 'terrorist organizations' in the US, the UK and other European Union countries in 2006, and with the general tendency in European Union countries to act against the funding channels of these organizations, the TRO ceased to exist as such. Nevertheless, at the time of the interviews it still played a major role and Nayan had chosen a Tamil organization to express his support and contribute to his co-ethnics at home, in Sri Lanka. In Canada, an estimated 10,000 US dollars were collected per month by the TRO (Cheran, 2003). The TRO may have represented, at the time, just one way of expressing solidarity, but the main issue was the urge to help 'my own people', which was quite strong among many of the Tamils, and often they added in the interviews that their desire was to help reduce the suffering of their co-ethnics. So, clearly, there is an affinity, a feeling of belonging to the same 'family', which prompted the decision to help. Kajani, a female Tamil, expressed this even more strongly, linking this 'urge' to the perception of 'helping family members':

"There is this orphanage which I support. I have founded an association together with my daughters and we are sending money for the children affected by the war and by the tsunami. They are from Jaffna and we do not know them directly, but they are like family for us." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

Even though the informal money transfer system is used frequently among the first generation, the tsunami has changed this practice considerably and many displaced Tamils now contribute to development projects for rehabilitation and reconstruction or, alternatively, because they had experienced poverty and were touched by this:

"When I was in Jaffna in 2006, I got to know a teacher and I asked her if I can support them financially. The parents of the children are so poor; they do not have good food and not enough food also, so when I heard this, I wanted to help if I could. And here in Germany, I belong to a Tamil community, so now each year for Christmas we collect money and send it there. This is what I can do." (Muthu, Tamil, female, second generation)

These contributions – irrespective of the form they take or the channels used – were made 'privately' to family and friends or to welfare and social organisations and they are rooted in the strong tradition to help 'my people', an ideology which was fostered by the LTTE throughout the years. Guribye quotes a Tamil leader in Norway who mentioned "Here, Prabhkaran is merely a unifying symbol. Here, sacrifice does not mean a cyanide capsule, but social engagement" (2011: 385).

What is important here is that the contributions were paid in the host country but the above quotes relate to the 'homeland' - the ideological and imagined 'homeland' as described in the previous chapter - and all financial contributions benefited the home country in one or another way. These contributions are based on a strong Tamil identity and are based on different motivations as the existing literature confirms:

Fuglerud (2001) perceives the support by the Tamil diaspora as a contribution to an unfolding history in the country. Indeed, many interviewees have also confirmed that their support changed according to the situation in the country: the more violence and aggression was exercised by the Sri Lankan state

against the Tamil population, the more support they gave. Sivapalan has expressed this as follows:

"Previously, we could only give money, but now it is different. We need to propagate also. They [LTTE] need to buy arms, so they need now bigger amounts. We do need to help them and we need to intensify our support for the war, both financially and morally." (Sivapalan, Tamil, male, first generation).

Sivapalan's interview took place in 2008 when fierce fighting in the country occurred. Guribye (2011) links the support by the diaspora to a psychoanalytic argument: co-ethnics experience traumatizing events in Sri Lanka, resulting in a feeling of guilt among diapora Tamils who live comfortably abroad. Even though Guribye's argument concerns the Norwegian diaspora, Varadan, who lives in Berlin, explained:

"I have left Sri Lanka for political reasons, but, of course, I also hoped for new opportunities. Now I feel a bit guilty when I speak to my friends and family back home or when I read the news. The situation is so bad there and I have left them alone. I feel I have to compensate for that, so I give them [the LTTE] money. Many of us do, actually, for this reason." (Varadan, Tamil, male, first generation)

Sivapalan and Varadan both chose to voluntarily support the de facto state structures of the LTTE, be it to declared LTTE cadres or to its front organizations, such as the World Tamil Movement. To some extent, this coincides with Vimalarajah and Cheran's (2010) argument who suggest that direct financial assistance, knowledge transfer and economic remittances are based on 'rational choice'. They argue, however, that this choice is directed towards the state-building process. Sivapalan, Varadan and other interviewees mentioned that they "want to give" – so they rationally chose to financially contribute -, but they linked their support to the suffering of 'their' people and to the need to respond to the aggression of the Sinhalese state towards their coethnics. Their contributions were motivated by their ethnic identity, their

solidarity with other co-ethnics, and thus, their sense of belonging to the same ethnic group. In contrast to Vimalarajah and Cheran's argument, they did not refer to the larger nationalist project of an independent state of Tamil Eelam or their political identity; even if, ultimately, their contributions helped that purpose.

Despite similar transfer channels, the nature of the support to the LTTE varies greatly within the Tamil diaspora population in the different countries³⁷. Brun and Van Hear (2012) have pointed out that the support to the LTTE were more monolithic in Canada and Norway, whereas in the UK more dissenting voices emerged. In Germany, the support to the LTTE varies across cities:

Oberhausen is considered a stronghold of the LTTE and Berlin has a more diverse Tamil population. Regardless the motivation for and the extent of the contribution of the Tamil population, the LTTE was an important actor in so far as they have exploited the suffering of the Tamil population for their political ends and mobilised the diaspora on these grounds. This mobilisation was linked to the LTTE's fundraising campaigns and resulted to various extent in intimidation, coercision and violence against Tamils living abroad.

The LTTE fundraised an estimated 80 million USD per year worldwide (Wayland, 2004). Another study mentions a monthly fundraised amount of about 2 million US dollars, a quarter of this coming from Canada (Hafeez, 2009). Initially, the funds were used to sustain the Tamil population in the LTTE-controlled areas (International Crisis Group, 2010) but as the war continued throughout the 1990s, 80-90% of the military budget of the LTTE were financed through the diaspora (Human Rights Watch, 2006). The LTTE consolidated its approach towards fundraising over the years and employed fundraisers overseas to solicit 'tax payments' and donations. McDowell (1996) estimates that about 5% of the diaspora in Switzerland worked for the LTTE, mostly as fundraisers. Their task was to ensure a weekly or monthly income depending on the individual's earnings. In Switzerland, the monthly tax payment amounted from 50 to 100 US dollars, in London monthly rates ranged from 10 to 30 GB pounds (Human Rights Watch, 2006), and in Canada a minimum of 30 US

.

³⁷ For example, transfers via the informal banking system or village and old students' organisations (Cheran, 2003) but also via charitable organisations or LTTE structures.

dollars per month and per person or family was collected (International Crisis Group, 2010). Human Rights Watch (2006) also mentioned daily 'assessed rates' of 1 Canadian dollar, 1 Euro or 1 GB pound per day for the length of stay abroad which resulted in considerable amounts over time. The LTTE also fundraised larger amounts for special projects – between 350 to 430 US dollars -, and demanded payments up to 3,500 US dollars from the Tamil business community (Human Rights Watch, 2006).

In Germany, a number of interview partners confirmed their monthly contributions to the LTTE, even though they did not mention specific amounts. During the periods of intensified war, other means of fundraising occurred in addition, such as the sale of calendars with Tamil holidays or videos on the Tamil struggle (Wayland, 2004). Varadan mentioned that, for example, pictures of Prabhakaran were sold in Berlin for an amount of 200 Euro. In addition, a voucher system was introduced whereby gold and cash up to 5,000 Euro was collected and a voucher issued, guaranteeing a reimbursement once the war was successfully won. Tamil schools, Hindu temples, cultural and sports organisations were other venues to collect funds (Brun et al., 2012).³⁸

Human Rights Watch (2006) reported that intense pressure, direct threats, intimidation, coercision, and even extortion were used to collect these funds (see also Fair, 2005; George, 2011). For example, members of the diaspora were threatened that they would not be able to visit their family members back home, or they would harm them, or they were constantly harassed and visited by the LTTE fundraisers, or they were told that they would simply encounter 'trouble', if they refuse to pay. Incidents of physical assault were reported as well. Generally, the LTTE and its front organisations, such as the World Tamil Movement, were able to create a 'culture of fear' that ensured financial flows. This also meant that payments were hardly refused.

³⁸ After the defeat of the LTTE, the fundraising efforts by the LTTE stopped. The vouchers, which were issued during the war period, were either reimbursed (in few cases) or were simply cancelled. Conflicts among the Tamil diaspora in Germany are currently ongoing in regards to the collected LTTE funds that are still hold in Germany.

Among the Tamil interviewees in Berlin, only Rajesh and Rajkumar had the courage to openly refuse their payments to the LTTE. Their political orientation, as opponents of the LTTE, was well-known in Berlin, and thus, their dissent was accepted by the LTTE. Others mentioned that they did not pay their 'tax' at the beginning but supported the LTTE later, or vice-versa. For example, Tavarajah mentioned:

"The Tigers collect money. They come when they want. You do not have to give money, but then you have to ask yourself: Who is protecting my country? In fact, nobody does, only the LTTE. So you give voluntarily. ... At the beginning, I supported the Tigers but then my family situation changed and I could not give money anymore. So I told them. They still came several times after that, but then, gradually, they stopped." (Tavarajah, Tamil, male, first generation)

Tavarajah points at the overlapping nature of voluntary contribution and coercive action: some might consider themselves voluntarily contributing to the LTTE, whereas others would define the same situation as forced. How one defines such a situation is neither a question of 'choice' nor a question of LTTE coercion solely, but also a question of identity. Rajesh and Rajkumar as opponents of the LTTE always defined themselves politically, not ethnically, Tavarajah, in contrast, defines himself ethnically. So their sense of belonging determines how they perceive the situation and how they will tell their story. This, however, should not disguise the aggressive and at times violent means of fundraising by the LTTE. Rather, it should stress the complex nature of these practices and the importance of identity and belonging in this context.

These practices contrast with the financial practices of the Sinhalese community, which prefers to invest in the home country for a future in the country:

"Every year in summer, we go to Sri Lanka and we can build houses there. With a sum of 50,000 euros you can build a very beautiful house in Sri Lanka. You cannot do this here." (Ananda, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

"I have three houses there. I live here like this [in a small flat] and build houses there. If I want, I can sell them there and buy one here also. But now I am building one in my home town, in Negombo, for my old age when I cannot work any more." (Kumarage, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Among the Sinhalese diaspora, financial contributions are oriented very differently and are focused on the accumulation of wealth and the construction of houses in the home country. This practice is also mirrored in the village of Wennappuwa ('Little Italy') on the southern coast of Sri Lanka, where economic activity is flourishing thanks to financial flows from the Sinhalese diaspora in Italy³⁹; even Qatar Airways has set up a branch office there as they operate direct flights from Colombo to Rome and Milan (Perera, 2004). The context of the Sinhalese diaspora community is, of course, very different from the Tamil diaspora community. They often remain Sri Lankan citizens because, for them, return to the home country is not just imagined but is, for many, a feasible option in the future. So they prepare for this future. The significant difference compared to Tamils, though, is the fact that a return is possible.

Many of the Tamils lost all their belongings in the war, have family displaced in Sri Lanka and scattered throughout the world, and can often not return for political reasons. Sinhalese do not share this same fate; only for those who are politically involved in Sri Lanka may a return also not be possible. But when they cannot return for political reasons, they then shift the focus of their financial investment to Germany and invest in the purchase of land or a house there: hence, the focus of investment remains for themselves and not for the community. At times, Sinhalese also support cultural organizations in Germany but to a much lesser extent, while 'tax' payments to Sri Lankan political parties are not carried out by Sinhalese.

-

³⁹ Italy has the largest Sinhalese community in Europe.

Even though Tamils may also build their own home in Germany – if they can afford it financially – first and foremost they contribute financially to the 'homeland'. So Sinhalese and Tamils have developed a very different sense of belonging and, as a result, pursue different patterns of financial contribution.

Does gender matter?

The gendered nature of these economic practices cannot be clearly filtered according to male and female interview partners. Migration to the Middle East as domestic helpers is clearly feminized and, hence, women have not only been the main financial contributors but also gained other freedoms outside traditional family structures. This will not be further touched upon here as it does not apply to the German migration patterns in the same way: women often follow their husband to Germany with the husband remaining the head of household and primary household earner, even if women also penetrate the job market in Germany. The transfer of remittances takes place by both women and men alike, and Sinhalese and Tamils alike. The difference that can be observed here is, first, that the Tamil women interviewed – both first and second generation – rather 'invest' in social and care projects, and the husband in technical or purely political projects, and second, that the male head of household the primary target of the LTTE fundraisers was. Their motivation to do so, however, is the same. The remittances by Sinhalese women interviewed are either absorbed in the husband's house-building project or are geared towards helping the family. So overall, the gender difference lies in the 'investment target' but not in the motivation.

Political activities

Political activities can take many different forms, for example, participation in elections, demonstrations, advocacy, or awareness raising (Al-Ali et al., 2001a), or they may be rejected altogether. These activities often relate to the citizenship status of the migrant and link to their perception of the 'nation' and the 'homeland' which provide the foundation for the political activities and political engagement (Vertovec, 2001). Political activities, however, do not remain the same, but do change over time. They not only depend on the social locations of the person but also on the political context. Indeed, any political event in Sri Lanka has an immediate impact among the diaspora population and may change their political behaviour. The geographical distance from home allows space for particular political opinions: Rajesh (Tamil, male, first generation) mentioned in the interview that "because we are not suffering much here, it is much easier and safer to support the war". Indeed, nationalism in the diaspora is often much stronger than in the home country.

Political engagement also varies according to the host country's political context. As asylum procedures and laws have been either amended or applied more rigidly throughout Europe, some members of diaspora communities adjusted their political engagement accordingly. Indeed, several interviewees referred to their fear of acting due to the policies regarding deportation and repatriation in cases of committing a criminal act. Although these policies were already enacted in Germany since the *Asylkompromiss* ('asylum compromise') in the early 1990s, they assumed a new importance for the Tamil population once the LTTE was listed as a 'terrorist organization' by the European Union in 2006, and Germany, although reluctantly, had to agree to this as well. As a direct result, interviewees pointed out that:

"People are frightened to do something here... There is this fear [of repatriation or deportation], therefore people do not engage." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

Finally, political engagement – unlike other forms of activity – depends on the individual's perception of change and their ability to influence the political situation:

"I don't think individually I can do anything. Collectively, yes. But not individually; nobody is going to take notice of it." (Kajani, Tamil, female, first generation)

"If we would be somehow organized, we could achieve something. But we are unfortunately not organized. Alone you cannot do so much." (Rajasingham, Tamil, male, first generation)

"Politically, I am not so active. There are two parties, two sides, and they always fight. I do not like this so much... But it is good that there are groups which are active who show that they do not close their eyes. I do not know whether they will succeed to change something. It is good to try. I am not involved personally though." (Kamani, Sinhalese, female, first generation)

"I do not think we can do much. We can protest, we can write but other than that I don't think we can change anything. We cannot do much and so I am not politically active." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation)

These quotes reflect the perception that diasporic political engagement will not bring about change, hence all the respondents refrain from involving themselves. It is interesting to note here that Kajani and Rajasingham, both Tamils of the first generation, explicitly refer to the collective as an agent of change, but not the individual. This also fits with the identity they have, a collective identity based on their ethnicity as Tamils. This identity construction is also influenced, among others, by the discourse of the LTTE at the time, which relied on the collective for their nationalist project. Kamani and Chahila, both Sinhalese women, simply do not believe that their involvement would change anything; they do not believe in their agency in this regard, neither individually

nor collectively. Their personal histories and their social locations play a role in shaping these perceptions. The emotional attachment to their home country is not the main determinant of this scepticism as they all had expressed an explicit identification with their ethnicity in the interview. It seems as if the pragmatism prevails and influences their decision to participate or not to participate.

Of course, the effects of the political engagement can be viewed very differently. For example, one interviewee expressed doubts about the impact the diaspora can have despite the fact that he is politically very active:

"I think it is very limited what the diaspora community can do. But it may also be different from one [diaspora] to the other, depending from which community you are coming from." (Priyadarshana, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Priyadarshana raises not only doubts about the effectiveness of diaspora activism but also puts this in perspective. Being a Sinhalese, working closely with the Tamil community, he does acknowledge that this perception varies across the different communities. Political activism has different facets across the same ethnic group, gender, age and political orientation. Most of the interviewees expressed not only an affinity to a certain political group, which may or may not have resulted in political involvement, but could also express this in a different way of involvement, be it financially, socially, culturally or virtually.

The following provides an account of the variety of political activities across the different social locations.

Rajesh (Tamil, male, first generation) was a trade unionist in Sri Lanka and he had to leave the country with the anti-Tamil riots in 1983. As he arrived in Germany, he immediately linked up with the trade unions there. This facilitated his integration in Germany. His political engagement in the early years was with German trade unions and their international solidarity work. He also became a member of the Group of International Marxists, and later of the *Kommunistische*

Partei Deutschlands (KPD, the Communist Party of Germany) and the Partei des Demokratischen Sozialismus (PDS, the Party of Democratic Socialism in Germany)⁴⁰. After having established his political contacts in Germany, Rajesh was able to direct his activism again towards Sri Lanka. He was involved at various levels and with different groups, but he found his political 'home' with the Sri Lanka Democratic Forum (SLDF)⁴¹. So he shared, among other things, the story about his political engagement with SLDF in recent years:

"Our protest was not only against the suppression by the state, but was also against the LTTE, against human rights violations of all groups. The most important thing is to minimalize human rights violations and to work for a political solution. We established SLDF in 2002 and we had to continue to do substantial work in the last two years [2004–2006]. I am very much satisfied with the work I do with SLDF. We have a very good network in Vavuniya; we also kept persons in hiding in some places... Some people criticize us for criticizing the LTTE but, during the ceasefire agreement, the LTTE committed more human rights violations than the government. We issue critical statements but we coded them to be anonymous. Amnesty International did not issue statements because they said they did not have enough evidence to prove LTTE's involvement. But we continued to issue statements. We used our influence, we pressurized. Human Rights Watch was also the first to condemn LTTE, then only Amnesty International, then others followed, even TamilNet. So we realized that it works. Then we started to collaborate with the Human Rights Council, even for the latest report [in 2006] we gave lots of information... So the government started to attack us but then the EU gave us a chance to meet, and we met the team of the European Commission." (Rajesh, Tamil, male, first generation)

_

⁴⁰ In 2007, the Party of Democratic Socialism was renamed 'The Left'.

⁴¹ The website of SLDF is www.srilankademocracy.org still pops up on Google but does not show a functioning link. Its last statement was released in 2010. SLDF worked across the world, mainly with a membership in Canada, Germany, Norway, the UK and the USA, defining itself as a "global network of human rights and democracy activists committed to promote democratisation and inter-ethnic relations." (See www.srilankademocracy.org.)

Rajesh is a committed political person and, therefore, he continued his politics in Germany. He has always kept direct links to Sri Lanka, even though he did not return there physically until after 2004, when he got German citizenship. This allowed him for the first time to go back again. But his citizenship status did not influence his relation to 'home', which he still considers to be in Colombo and Jaffna. Germany only gives him "some feeling because I am used to it after so many years". He defines himself as a "cosmopolitan because my family members are married to so many different people. But I am a party member; this is my real home. I never fitted into society because I am a party member." He referred to his ethnicity only in language terms as he speaks Tamil. His identity was formed in relation to his emotional attachment to politics and it was reinforced through his marginalization by others. His experience of marginalization shaped his identity and this is comparable to others – as referred to in the previous chapter – even though the basis of the marginalization differs, being political membership and not ethnicity. His political identity and his political engagement mutually reinforced each other. In fact, Rajesh's home was Sri Lankan politics and he indeed was perceived like this both in Sri Lanka and abroad.42

Rajesh is definitely unique with his story, his engagement and his reflections, yet, he is not the only one who defined himself politically and got engaged on this basis. Even though the political orientation differs from person to person, the triad interrelationship of feeling at home in the political space, identifying with politics and acting politically can be observed in other instances too. Jayalath, a male Sinhalese of the first generation, who also defines himself politically, said:

"I am a lot involved with the diaspora here and also in Europe more generally. At the moment, this is my goal, to find a solution for Sri Lanka together with the diaspora. The LTTE is dependent on the diaspora and the government of Sri Lanka is also dependent on foreign donors. So we are here in Europe, we can put pressure on both of them. That is what

.

⁴² Rajesh died two years after the interview was conducted and he was then honoured in Germany and in Sri Lanka by different political groupings.

we have to do now and I am sure it will have an impact as well. I work with INSD [International Network of Sri Lankan Diaspora] on this... The annual Bad Boll conferences also help to put pressure." (Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Jayalath has a very different political history to Rajesh. Jayalath was a leading member of the JVP in Sri Lanka, was in prison in Sri Lanka and then later fled to Germany. In Germany, he did not join a political party but engaged in his early years in third-world solidarity work and set up a meeting place for foreigners and Germans to discuss politics. He was a founding member of the Sri Lankan Friendship Circle, a small registered NGO, and of the International Network of Sri Lankan Diaspora (INSD)⁴³. Jayalath also became a German citizen but this did not allow him to return home to Sri Lanka. So Jayalath and Rajesh have very different social locations shaping them: Jayalath is Sinhalese, Rajesh is Tamil; Jayalath is about 20 years younger than Rajesh; Jayalath's personal history in Sri Lanka is shaped by his membership in a political party, Rajesh's by his membership in a trade union; Jayalath's political activism in Germany was directed towards NGOs, Rajesh's towards political parties. All these elements shape their respective identities but the result is similar: an identification with politics. This political identity drives their political engagement. It shapes their feeling of 'belonging' – the 'home' which is for both in the political space.

Political identification necessitates a strong anchoring in politics back home, before migrating and after. Rajkumar (Tamil, male, first generation) defines himself clearly as 'Tamil', even though he was adopted as a young adult by German parents, which enabled him to stay in the country. The foster parents looked after him and helped him to integrate. He was active in politics in Sri Lanka but his political orientation in Germany was mainly directed towards the host society: he got involved in anti-racism work and only much later shifted again to political activities targeting Sri Lanka itself. Rajkumar's political engagement surely was influenced by his integration into German society where

-

⁴³ See <u>www.srilankandiaspora.com</u>

he – through his foster parents – was closely in touch with Germans but still remained an 'outsider', a member of a visible minority. His German citizenship status, which he gained quite early after his arrival in Germany, may have influenced his political targeting as well. So his German activism had a slightly different basis than Jayalath's or Rajesh's. His identity, however, always remained Tamil and he considers 'home' both Germany and Sri Lanka. In Rajkumar's case, his proximity to German society alongside his Tamil identity as an 'other' has made him engage politically in Germany. The experiences of marginalization and discrimination in a society that is 'close to his heart' have also made him engage in order to uphold his Tamil identity in an environment hostile to foreigners.

Even though certain commonalities can be filtered throughout these histories, diversity prevails. Another interviewee who knows Rajesh and Rajkumar highlights their differences:

"I have met sometimes with [Rajesh] and [Rajkumar]. They had this
Tamil association here. I also worked with them for some time... But you
know, I do not like fixed structures, I just wanted to work for human
beings. You know, those living in exile are a different kind of people.
They are a different class. They can do their political things – that is also
good but I have more an interest in the 'common' people. So I stopped
engaging politically. If I am in Sri Lanka it would be different."

(Rajasingham, Tamil, male, first generation)

Rajasingham also had a history of political involvement in Sri Lanka with one of the splinter groups of the LTTE. He is a political person with a clearly defined Tamil identity, but he points to another dimension that influences the political engagement in the diaspora: class and, implicitly, caste. In the Sri Lankan context, caste is an important, albeit 'unspoken of', determinant. Class and caste influence political orientation, as does education. These dimensions are difficult to separate because they mutually influence each other. Nevertheless, Rajasingham is very clear in his analysis, which could be transcribed as 'class matters and it makes them different from me'. As an 'ordinary person' he wants

to work for 'ordinary people'. The disassociated and abstract engagement in conferences, advocacy and awareness-raising activities does not link sufficiently to the 'common people', does not impact directly on those who matter to him. He cannot relate it to his life and 'his people'. Even though Rajesh, for example, is fighting a class struggle through his communist—socialist orientation, he is of a different caste and has an understanding of how politics at international level interlinks with the national level and, eventually, filters down to community level. So class may not be exactly the right terminology here, but caste and education definitely are.

All these voices heard above are associated with an ethnic or political identity but they are all located outside the mainstream politics of Sri Lanka. While they do position themselves in relation to the nation states – both the Sri Lankan nation state and the de facto nation state created by the LTTE – it is in a dissenting manner. They reject the nationalism and human rights violations exercised by both sides to the conflict and seek alternative ways of engagement, or, alternatively, they disengage totally. The national question, however, is prevalent for all and they all – first and second generation alike – define themselves in relation to the national question, be it for or against.

"They [the LTTE] are the only ones protecting us. We always ask ourselves 'who is our guardian?' because we were all suppressed by the Sri Lankan government. If we have problems, we all support them. They are like our people, not different: they come also to the Tamil families and they help everybody... I do not want war for my people. I want that our people can live quietly. Only that is important; it makes me support them here also." (Tiru, Tamil, male, first generation)

Tiru is a supporter of the LTTE and he was actively involved with them in Sri Lanka. He only arrived in Germany in 1994, about ten years later than many of the other Tamils quoted in this chapter. Much of his account above relates to Sri Lanka and, indeed, his support for the LTTE in Germany is based on his experiences and perception of the LTTE in Sri Lanka. He identifies with the LTTE, carries a collective identity of 'my' and 'our' people, and his concern is

the protection of his co-ethnics in Sri Lanka. Nayan had expressed a similar concern and identification with 'my people' but it translated into a different sort of action. Nayan contributed financially and Tiru politically through participation in different events. Furthermore, as in Rajkumar's case, Tiru's experiences of exclusion determined his identity, and yet, the suppression he refers to is one experienced in the home country carried out by the Sri Lankan government and not within the host society. The source of suppression and marginalization is different for Rajkumar and Tiru (host society versus Sri Lankan government), but the experience (suppression and marginalization) is the same. Tiru's main emotional attachment is towards the home country and he does not mention German society in his narrative at all. One would not be able to locate him geographically – he could be based in Canada, France, Norway or Switzerland just as much as in Germany. Only Sri Lanka remains the reference point; that is where he belongs.

Whereas Tiru as a first generation Tamil is entirely oriented towards the home country, second generation Tamils seem to be focused much more on Germany, though they can equally be supporters of the LTTE:

"You cannot say we are LTTE; we are sympathisers of the LTTE. I am a member of the Tamil Coordination Committee here in Germany. With the EU ban, the name has changed but activities have continued. For example, the demonstrations here: you have the biggest number of people attending them, so this is also a sign that they identify with this political line... This does change something. As a diaspora, we will play an even more important role because more and more work will be done with governments." (Ganesh, Tamil, male, second generation)

The changing political context in the European Union impacts on how Ganesh identifies himself: he is one of the representatives of the LTTE in Germany and yet he calls himself 'only' a 'sympathiser'. So he has to present a different identity – due to the political repercussions this may otherwise have on his

personal life⁴⁴ – than he may actually have in terms of his emotional attachment. This is indeed an important facet in diaspora politics of identity because it applies to all Sri Lankan citizens. The extent to which real, perceived, or imagined repercussions threatens one's life nevertheless may differ according to the political groups one supports or belongs to and the level of engagement. However, this applies to both Sinhalese and Tamils as the political attachment here is the determinant factor rather than ethnicity.

A second important aspect in Ganesh's account is that he is a second generation Tamil and, in many ways, he is more, or at least equally, engaged, politicized and nationalist than many first generation Tamils. This may be surprising at first sight: however, it does link to the creation of an 'imagined' home and homeland. First generation Tamils have experienced atrocities, injustice, discrimination and violence themselves. They went through the war and, therefore, their relationship to the homeland is also grounded on these life experiences. Distance, though, also creates a 'nostalgia' mode so that much of the original experiences get distorted, and they enter into the realm of imagination – just as with the second generation. The difference, however, is that nationalism, emotional attachment and identity construction among second generation Tamils is based on the experiences of 'others'. Ganesh is a German citizen; he speaks German fluently and is well integrated professionally. However, he is a visible minority member, which makes him not feel fully 'German'. So, confronted with a relatively hostile environment and having been raised as a 'Tamil', he has to find new ways of defining himself. Germany is 'home' but only partially; it does not cover the multiple facets of his identity. Sri Lanka is part of his identity but it is not a 'real' home either, as he only visited the country from time to time and never lived there over a long period. Yet, given his experiences in Germany, Sri Lanka does offer a 'refuge', a safe space where an alternative feeling of being 'at home' can be constructed. It is an 'imagined' home, which is reinforced by the nationalist discourse of the LTTE. The LTTE itself relies on the construction of an 'imagined' homeland – though

⁴⁴ Note, that in Switzerland, for example, following the EU's 'ban' on the LTTE, a number of arrests and raids took place of persons who were previously known LTTE supporters and representatives. This had an effect on how the LTTE could function and organize itself abroad.

clearly linked to the de facto nation state – in Sri Lanka, in order to mobilize support for its nationalist project. Ganesh is much more open to these 'imaginations' and to the associated nationalism than his parents are because it helps him to define himself. Even though the first generation also supports the nationalist project of the LTTE, they still put this in relation to their real life experiences. In this way, the second generation becomes a fertile ground for nationalist projects and it is often much more radicalized than the first generation.

Ganesh is a second generation Tamil who embraces the discourse of a nationalist project and gains his feeling of belonging from this affiliation. Ganesh is not an exceptional case because the same dynamics of being a visible minority, imagining home in Sri Lanka, and being absorbed in a nationalist project, can be observed with second generation Sinhalese too. The determinant factor is here that they are linked to a nationalist discourse, in the case of the Sinhalese, to the discourse of the Buddhist nationalist parties. It is important to note, at this stage, that a national or ethnic identity *per se* can have a positive impact on the lives of Tamils and Sinhalese in the diaspora as it can provide a positive sense of belonging and can foster diversity. Yet, once one enters the realm of nationalism with a negative perception towards the 'other', this identity construction can become problematic as it can lead to violence and fragmentation.

As a result of this described dynamism, Ganesh is publicly and actively engaged politically and he is, in fact, one of the organizers of LTTE-supportive political events in Germany on Sri Lanka. Demonstrations and rallies are a common way to express a political opinion, to articulate solidarity and to raise awareness and reach out to a wider public. The LTTE has used demonstrations and rallies as a strategic communication tool to gain visibility, but also to create identity. Anbarasani shares her understanding on these events:

"There is a 'National Day': it is a kind of memorial for Tamils who lost their lives in the war. It is held on the anniversary day of the leader [LTTE leader V. Prabhakharan] and there are special guests who come for this, also from Sri Lanka. They make speeches and you really get also dragged into it, if there are 10,000 German Tamils coming together. I also thought then: 'Yes, I am here, I am part of it." (Anbarasani, Tamil, female, second generation)

Anbarasani expresses her pride in being part of this movement. So, in fact, the messaging of the speeches itself is far less important in her account than the feeling of being together. Having like-minded people brought together reinforces one's identity and creates a sense of belonging. And indeed, belonging matters in the diaspora, given members' alienation and their sense of 'difference' from the host society. At the same, precisely because belonging matters, the LTTE can even more effectively mobilize around their nationalist project and instrumentalize the event for their political purposes. Participants of such events often are less politicized or nationalist than they may appear to be, given their participation in the event. Anbarasani exemplifies this as she writes in a note to the author:

"I am brought up in a multicultural or multi-ethnic society. To put it in other words, I am neither 100% German nor Tamil. I am rather a German citizen with Tamil origins grown up in a metropolitan area." (Anbarasani, written note, 27.01.2007)

So her participation in the LTTE demonstration could lead to the assumption of a strong national or nationalist identity but, instead, her affiliation is on the basis of her Tamil identity and the emotional attachment it creates. Her participation is also a reflection of her Tamil socialization and, yet, she not only has a Tamil identity but also a German identity. The German identity, however, is not entirely based on her citizenship status but on her metropolitan identity. Anbarasani unifies multiple identities: all exist for her but not all come to the fore or have the same importance at the same time. At the LTTE demonstration, the Tamil identity is dominant, but when interacting with her friends of diverse background her German identity, or rather her 'multi-ethnic' identity, comes to the fore. Identities adjust; they are fluid and changing. This complexity, however, makes her understanding of belonging difficult. She does truly belong

to Tamil society and, yet, she also is embedded and belongs to German society. Belonging is multiple and multi-faceted.

Among the diaspora communities in Germany, the LTTE is the most organized group when it comes to engagement in political projects. However, a Sinhalese nationalist counter-discourse does exist. At the time of the research, it originated mainly from the embassy of Sri Lanka as Sinhalese nationalist political parties were not active physically but were organized virtually. Kumarage mentioned in his interview that:

"[t]he embassy has not done anything. That was a mistake. Now they are changing and they are really trying to counter-attack through propaganda." (Kumarage, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Kumarage's assessment was quite true as, for a long time, the embassy had not been engaged in nationalist politics but did so once the atrocities during the ceasefire period increased as of 2005–2006. A group called 'Sri Lankans against the Terror of the LTTE – Germany' (SLALTG – Group) has also become politically active and their demonstrations were announced on the embassy's website. A press release issued by the Sri Lankan embassy in Berlin states:

"Demonstrations of this sort against the Liberation Tigers were not thinkable a few years ago, but today the Sri Lankan Diaspora in Europe is well determined to reveal the atrocities of terrorists in the world through demonstrations across European capitals. On 26 July [2009], the 'Sri Lankans Against the Terror of the LTTE – Germany' have successfully organized a demonstration against the Sri Lankan terrorist group, LTTE, also known as Tamil Tigers. The demonstration against the LTTE took place on the streets of Berlin. According to the information from the Group more than 1,200 people – Sri Lankans and Germans – from all over the Federal Republic participated in the event last Saturday." (News release dated 31.07.2009 from author's archive)

This extract shows that the nationalist project of the LTTE did not differ much from the nationalist project of the Sri Lankan state. The difference is, however, that the Sinhalese interviewees defined and positioned themselves solely vis-àvis the LTTE and the Tamil interviewees positioned themselves first and foremost vis-à-vis the suffering of the Tamil – 'my' – people. The identification process and the level of identification are, therefore, quite distinct and result in a different political engagement.

Finally, elections are a form of political participation that are often used and encouraged to express one's belonging. In the case of Sri Lankan–German relations, the participation in elections is without signification. Sinhalese with Sri Lankan citizenship cannot vote in Sri Lanka at the elections because "there is no system allowing us to vote" (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation). Indeed, the Sri Lankan government did not provide the possibility for its citizens to vote from abroad. Therefore, unless they travelled to Sri Lanka to cast their vote on an election date, their voices would not be heard in their home country. Tamils, as Sri Lankan citizens, similarly could not vote in Sri Lanka. However, in 2010, after the war officially ended, the Transnational Government of Tamil Eelam was formed and referendums and elections concerning a 'Government of Thamil Eelam' were held around the world, among other events, also in Germany. Tamils – regardless of their formal citizenship – could participate in these events. As this goes beyond the research period no further elaborations on it will be recorded here. Tamils and Sinhalese, once they obtain a permanent residence title, can participate in communal elections and, if they become German citizens, they can also participate in elections at all levels in Germany. Hardly any of the interview partners of the first generation mentioned this form of political participation and only few of the second generation referred to it. This provides an indication on how they define themselves, where 'home' is actually located, and the extent to which they feel they belong to German society.

Does gender matter?

Political activities are gendered. Most of the male interviewees expressed and positioned themselves politically, whereas women were more reluctant to do so.

Even though women actively participated in the war in Sri Lanka⁴⁵. their engagement in the political activities listed above was very limited. Some participated in demonstrations and rallies but, even then, this was not highlighted as a political activity per se. If they mentioned such engagement – and only very few did in the interviews – it was as part of a family activity. So the whole family would go to the demonstrations as a collectivity, under the leadership of the male head of household. This participation would be based, therefore, on their role as social and cultural dependents, which will be also further elaborated below, rather than on their active political identity. Women expressed in the interviews a distinct ethnic identity, but this did not translate into or was not linked to a political identity. So they were participants, but women followed the nationalist discourses, reproduced by the dominant (de facto) state structures, without shaping them. This dynamic was then mirrored in their political identification and feeling of belonging. Sinhalese and Tamil interview partners shared a similar discourse here, although the LTTE always reached out and integrated women into their military struggles in Sri Lanka more actively and systematically than the state structures did. Ethnicity was not a determinant for their political engagement; the difference was rather in being first or second generation. First generation Tamil and Sinhalese women – with some few exceptions, especially related to those who came for studies - came to Sri Lanka as wives of husbands who had either fled to the country or migrated for economic reasons. The husbands were the family heads and remained so also in Germany, and, hence, they took the political decisions. This explains the reason for men's political identity and women's ethnic identity. Second generation Tamil and Sinhalese women have grown up in a different context and could frame their gendered identity and their role in the society also in relation to the host society. Therefore, they also had a space to define their political identity leading to political action. The determinant factor is, therefore, whether there is a space for action and the framing of an identity outside the traditional Tamil and Sinhalese societal structures. If such space is there, political engagement can result initiated by women as active agents with a political identity, and not only by being absorbed in the male-headed household

-

⁴⁵ See Told (1997) for a detailed analysis of women's role as participants in the military structures, both government and LTTE, in Sri Lanka.

or (de facto) state structures. Indeed, if this space is found, even women of the first generation would engage actively on their own account.

Social activities

Social activities relate to contacts with friends and family in the home and host country, to membership in social organizations or clubs, to contributions in newspapers or the media more generally, but can also relate to schooling and education (Al-Ali et al., 2001b). It is sometimes hard to draw the line between social and cultural activities as these boundaries between the two are blurred and mutually influential. Social activities do not necessarily link to politics. However, as the focus of this research is on political activities, they will be analysed in view of their political impact – if any.

One obvious transnational social activity is having regular contact with friends and family members in the home country and host country. All the interview partners had kept contact with Sri Lanka, even though some may have interrupted their contacts for some time and resumed them after having settled in Germany. The focus of interaction also shifted for some from Sri Lanka to elsewhere, be it to Germany or other places, such as Canada, France or Switzerland, where their family members or friends had migrated to. But social contacts were important for both Sinhalese and Tamils, though the level, number and intensity of these contacts have varied. Clearly, the social contacts with the home country aligned with identity: those with a political identity kept contact with political contacts back home, while others who defined themselves ethnically kept contact mainly with their community or family members. Very few indeed crossed the boundaries of their ethnicity. Contacts in the host society, however, were more varied:

"I have a few best friends but with them I do not talk about politics. They are very nice but only a few are really close because it is better not to say exactly what you think politically. They do not trust you otherwise. For example [Tiru] was a Tiger, then we always had tensions; but then

they realized that I am not so anti-Tamil, maybe just a little bit critical sometimes, so then when they realized that, it was OK." (Rajasingham, Tamil, male, first generation)

"I have won new friends in the international diaspora. They are very trustworthy people, also internationally. Sometimes you lose some Sri Lankan friends but then you win new ones also and these are friends who are open, engaged people." (Jayalath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

"My friends are only Turks, no Germans. My best friends in primary school were a Turkish girl, a Polish girl and a Yugoslav girl. I was the only Sri Lankan. I had contacts in the Tamil community too but this was a different class because we were always very political and followed the anti-LTTE groups. The LTTE is a closed circle, so we did not have so much to do with them." (Letchumi, Tamil, female, second generation)

"I have Sinhalese friends, yes, but I do not have a close relationship to them. I say hello and talk to them but when I go home I don't share my feelings with them. I do not have trust." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation)

The variety of these quotes has to be analysed in view of their social locations, which are selected here across ethnicity, gender and generation. For Rajasingham and Letchumi, both Tamil, their social relations within the Tamil community exist but are shaped by the dominance of the LTTE as an organized group in Germany. So a critical voice against the LTTE is difficult to sustain and, therefore, friendships are also influenced by this. Or alternatively, if one is an LTTE supporter, social contacts would remain within this political group. Jayalath and Chahila, both Sinhalese, also have contacts within their ethnic community but they have no close friends within their own ethnic group because they do not trust them. Trust, it seems, is a value that either explicitly or implicitly plays an important role in defining the social engagement. All of them, Sinhalese and Tamils, women and men, first and second generation, referred to

trust as a determinant factor through which friendships are defined. The value system here influences social contacts, which also shape a person's feeling of belonging.

Jayalath, a first generation Sinhalese, and Letchumi, a second generation Tamil, both also stressed their contacts and friendships with others beyond their own ethnic group, including non-Germans. Being in Germany does not imply having close German contacts. Jayalath and Letchumi said that they felt much closer to non-Germans than Germans, as they found their friends on the grounds of being a minority in Germany, independent of citizenship status. Here a 'minority' identity – versus the majoritarian German population – came to the fore, which influenced the feeling of being 'at home'. Some other interviewees, Sinhalese and Tamils, did highlight their good contacts to a very few Germans, which mainly developed in relation to their arrival to Germany, when Germans were very helpful and supportive in their settling in Germany. These German contacts then remained over the years. Obviously, the relationship to the host country and its people shapes social engagement and interactions. If the relationship is marked by marginalization, exclusion or discrimination then little contact exists; if positive contacts were encountered, friendship with the local population were built up. This was experienced regardless of ethnicity, gender or generation, but what could be commonly observed as the determinant factor was either the hostility or the friendliness of members of the host society and the political orientation of the migrant.

Alongside the contacts with friends and family members, social gatherings also occurred on regular basis, both with the Tamil and Sinhalese diasporas:

"I organize informal meetings once a month for people to come together. We show [visually] the killings of the Sri Lankan government and we tell them that it is important to see this. I talk to the participants, I show my feelings also. We usually have 100 to 150 people each time." (Tavarajah, Tamil, male, first generation)

Clearly, the social activity described here is also a political activity, linked to the nationalist project and grounded in the identification with the Tamil cause. Tavarajah is also the contact person for the 'Eelam's Tamil Welfare Association e.V.', a registered NGO in Berlin. Sinhalese organize similar gatherings, but they link these instead to the social and cultural aspects of the get-together. Yet, some turn into more politically oriented meetings:

"We have organized meetings every first and third Friday, but they are not so political. We meet to discuss and gather socially, eat Sri Lankan food together. But lately, for some time actually, we have also started to work more with the diaspora and to have political discussions." (Sarath, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Sarath's account highlights the social dimension of identity formation. Food, for example, is an important marker and links the community together. In this regard, the Tamil food shops play an important role as meeting points. But Sarath's remarks also show that social gatherings can evolve from the non-political to the political realm. Such a development reflects change in the political situation in the home country. Diaspora communities react very quickly to contextual changes in the home country, which expresses itself not only in political activities but also reinforces their ethnic or national identity. It can also bring a political identity to the fore or shift it to a different orientation. Such a shift indeed could be observed among a number of interviewees, such as Sivalingam:

"I was a member of PLOTE originally but then withdrew from politics. I also had to work and had a family here. But in recent years, as I have seen how the government treats my people, I have felt like doing something. I am still not pro-LTTE but I am pro-Tamil. There is nobody strong enough to take on the Tamil voice, only the LTTE." (Sivalingam, Tamil, male, first generation)

Sivalingam then got engaged politically again, participated in the social gatherings where Sarath had been active, became a member of INSD, and

finally, later on, started to upload strong pro-Tamil messages through social media. So he obviously went through different stages of engagement, which gradually developed in parallel to the changing political situation. His identity always remained Tamil, but within that shifted from moderate to radical. Indeed, not only are identities diverse within a community but they are also fluid in a person, over time and situationally.

Social engagement can find its expression in different ways. Keller (2001) lists a number of Tamil membership organizations, including a Tamil student organization, and informal Tamil sports clubs. They are all based in Germany and do give a sense of belonging abroad. Sivalingam has also directed his engagement towards the host society, but others link it instead to Sri Lanka, for example, through the support of development projects in Sri Lanka, as outlined earlier. Kajani and Muthu, both Tamil, engage in social projects through their money transfers, while Sinhalese also participate in similar ways:

"After the tsunami, the Sri Lanka Association helped 18 children every month. They sent money for scholarships." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation)

The Sri Lanka Association Berlin e.V. (SLA) ⁴⁶ is a registered association, established in 1978 in Berlin, which unites – according to its website – all ethnic groups to undertake a wide range of social and cultural activities, such as the one mentioned by Chahila. Even though theoretically multi-ethnic, in practical terms only Sinhalese join its meetings and activities. The association's social gatherings also shifted from being moderate and non-political, to reproduce a more radical, politicized and nationalist discourse. This is not surprising, given that the Sri Lanka Association is closely linked to the Sri Lankan Embassy in Berlin and, therefore, influenced by its increasingly nationalist discourse. In a news item on the Sri Lankan embassy's website in Berlin on 31 July 2009, a report was posted about a promotional event in which "Sri Lankans Against the Terrror of the LTTE – Germany participated", and that the event "at the

⁴⁶ See http://www.srilankans-berlin.de/

Embassy was organized with the assistance of the Sri Lanka Association – Berlin". This establishes a clear linkage between these three entities (i.e., the Sri Lankan embassy in Berlin, Sri Lankans Against the Terror of the LTTE – Germany and the Sri Lanka Association Berlin).

One of the most important social activities of Sri Lankan diasporas are contributions to the media, although these could also be considered straightforward political contributions as will be seen below. The diaspora communities can, of course, contribute from Germany to the media in Sri Lanka, especially to the radio and print media. One interviewee who was active in journalism in Sri Lanka continued to publish in Sri Lanka itself. In 2009, he, together with other journalists across Europe, started Journalists for Democracy in Sri Lanka⁴⁷, a media platform providing news, analysis, features and videos on Sri Lanka. This platform, although international in its outlet, is run from Germany. In addition, the International Association of Tamil Journalists (IATJ), established in London in 2006 (TamilNet, 2006), also has a membership in Germany.

In addition, a number of newspapers are published in Germany and others are imported from Sri Lanka, London or Paris in the Tamil language and are sold through Tamil food shops. Similarly, Sinhalese newspapers are available through Tamil food shops but have a much lower circulation. Radio and TV in Sinhala and Tamil can also be received in Germany. A large number of internet radio and TV stations exist, each with a different political orientation. Tamillanguage radio and TV stations also operate out of Germany; for example, the European Tamil Radio⁴⁸ is transmitted worldwide and is based in Hamm, Germany. Sinhala radio stations are mostly headquartered in Italy as it hosts the largest – and most nationalist – Sinhalese community (Henayaka-Lochbihler et al., 2004). A diversity and variety of media outlets exist and, to some extent, their numbers and political orientation are not so important; more important is the fact that they exist, that the diaspora is using them and that they connect through these media to the home country and keep their identity alive.

_

⁴⁷ See http://www.jdslanka.org/

⁴⁸ See http://etr.fm/default.html

"I like to listen to the news. Daily, I listen to it. I like to know the situation in Sri Lanka." (Nayan, Tamil, male, first generation)

Nayan is just one voice but a very common voice. The range of media provides political, economic, social and cultural news from Sri Lanka. The second generation, although it also listens to the news, perceives them very differently:

"There are so many Tamil media, radio, newspaper and TV channels. They have all got a political colour. But I do listen to the Tamil news; everybody listens to it. Every young Tamil listens to it, even if we do not understand a word. They talk so fast and you cannot catch what it is all about: JVP, PA, UNP, TNA, JHU, SLMC, names of journalists who have been killed, whatever; so many things they tell. It is so difficult to follow because we don't know the context; we miss the big picture. But of course, this is also business. Then you need to go to them [to Tamil school or the LTTE] and they explain it to you." (Anbarasani, Tamil, female, second generation)

Anbarasani's perception is quite unique as she confirms, on the one hand, that the Tamil news channels are frequently listened to but, on the other hand, also that she does not really understand the political context. This is true of the second generation, which is alienated from Sri Lanka's history and, yet, wants to understand and learn. Her perception of the situation needs to be contextualized in so far as she defines herself as having grown up in a political, anti-LTTE family and, therefore, she interprets her interest as 'business' rather than a simple matter of lack of language fluency or historical knowledge. The example nevertheless shows that the news channels are important to both the first and second generation, and they are indeed used.

In recent years, the internet has also played an important role in covering this need. A long list of English, Tamil, Sinhala and German websites exist that service this need. Later in this chapter, the virtual space will be further explored.

Does gender matter?

Women are often those who are perceived to be linked to social activities in many contexts but in the diaspora, social gatherings are just as important for men. Women and men are 'foreign' to their host country and they together need to define a space of their own. Often this happens through social gatherings. Women are those who prepare the food for these events or are primarily responsible for the social and cultural reproduction of the Tamil or Sinhalese value system, but, as soon as politics enters, their participation is less obvious; even if Tamil women seem more active than Sinhalese, owing to their general politicization and their participation in the LTTE struggle as fighters.

Nevertheless, women have not taken on leadership and decision-making positions in the LTTE. Instead, women have been instrumentalized for the nationalist project. Their identities have always been constructed within the realm of the family and this can also be observed in the interviews:

"The first thing is to be a good mother and show that this is our Sri Lankan culture. I can tell stories, make the family stick together and respect each other. The world has changed, so I want my children to be independent but I don't want them to be 100% German." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation)

Women are perceived as biological reproducers (Anthias et al., 1989) and as mothers who have a role in the reproduction of their group's value system. This narrow perception of women as mothers places them in a subordinate position. Indeed, many interviewees - male and female – have mentioned that women in Sri Lankan society are suppressed and do not have equal rights. Many have also recognized that by living in Germany some adaptation had to take place. Nevertheless, women remain responsible for family relations and are the children's socializers:

"I had no idea how to socialize my children but I am a Tamil. So I want to transfer to them Tamil values. I have to give my children an identity. Take the example of the 'Tamil Women's Circle' here: They hardly play a role here but family-wise the circle is important – to transfer and create

identity and values ... German society is a closed society. Men have their rights and women are just ordinary housewives. Not so many women work here, they raise children. For us, as Tamils, it is important that children learn. They have to learn, learn, and learn. We have to teach them their culture. Men are not doing this. This is the role of women, of us mothers." (Praveena, Tamil, female, second generation)

Praveena's point of view does not differ much from Chahila's. They both define themselves as mothers who have to look after social and family relations, as well as the socialization of children. Diaspora women reproduce the traditional family structures from the home country but also adapt it within acceptable limits to the German context. These 'limits' are set by their understanding of their identity: they reproduce and maintain ethnic boundaries (Anthias et al., 1989). These boundaries have to be set not just vis-à-vis other ethnic groups but also, and more importantly, vis-à-vis the host society. Flexibility is allowed as long as a child's identity can be maintained and ensured, which is the essential role of women. This ascription of the role is the same for Tamil and Sinhala women. However, there is one difference: For Tamils, education and learning is an inherent value which has to be transferred to their children and children are expected to study well in school, as Praveena illustrated. Tamil interview partners insisted on this aspect on several occasions, Sinhalese only mentioned it as part of the socialization process but not as a distinct value.

The role of women in social activities is closely linked to their role as reproducers of culture, or as Anthias and Yuval-Davis (1989) have put it, as 'ideological reproducers'.

Cultural activities

Cultural activities in the diaspora concern cultural and educational events, religious and other cultural practices, language classes, but also drama, film, and music (Al-Ali et al., 2002). Women have a particular role in the reproduction of culture and ideology but also, inter alia, in signifying difference (Anthias et al., 1989). Werbner highlights three dimensions of culture: as "a field of transaction and relatedness ...; as performance...; and as an "imaginary of selfhood, identity, subjectivity and moral virtue" (2005:746). In translocating culture, members of the diaspora confer agency and perform cultural and religious practices according to the host country's context. This also means that culture cannot be essentialized but should be adapted to the host country's context. The way in which culture is embodied influences the way identity is constructed and belonging defined. Hence, performance of culture becomes an important instrument to mark difference, especially in nationalist projects. As Hall has pointed out: "Cultural identity is ... a matter of becoming as well as being" (1990: 222). This implies that 'culture' is about the past, the present and the future. One interviewee underlined precisely this when he explained:

"There are events organized by the LTTE: dances performed, songs sung, Tamil values taught. They [the LTTE] demand that we keep our culture, they want to increase our awareness. They focus on the second generation. I know that because I also give tutoring classes. They [the LTTE] explain what culture means and what is happening in Sri Lanka. Indirectly, they mention politics always. ... They do so as if it is culture. But in reality, it is politics, hard-core politics, and you have to recognize that. Many know that from Sri Lanka but they do not want to admit this." (Anadan, Tamil, male, second generation)

Anadan not only lists cultural activities that are carried out by the LTTE⁴⁹ but he also highlights the importance of culture for the nationalist project of the LTTE.

_

⁴⁹ Note, that most schools were run at the time by the World Tamil Movement (WTM), among others, the 'educative' branch of the LTTE. Interviewees, however, did not differentiate between the WTM and LTTE, hence, the text only refers to the LTTE.

Culture is instrumentalized to shape the future generation within the ideological framework of the nationalist project. In Berlin, two Tamil schools exist - one was run by the LTTE at the time of this research and one in close ideological proximity to the LTTE⁵⁰. As the second generation is socialized in the German context, the LTTE has to ensure that they will not 'drift away' culturally from the nationalist path. Hence, a strong emphasis is given to the cultural education of the young Tamils. The first generation is also included in this cultural-nationalist project, but because they had experienced the Sri Lankan history themselves, they are mobilized as parents to help educate the youth. Indeed, Anadan continued to explain:

"The main difference is that next to the German school, we also have the Tamil school. I started with the Tamil school when I was seven. So first you attend the German school, then you come home and attend the Tamil school. You get influenced by both. There is no chance for you to be critical. Parents also contribute to this. With the first generation I understand this, but with the second generation I don't." (Anadan, Tamil, male, second generation)

Anadan is quite sharp in his analysis as he also mentions that there was no chance for children to be critical. Indeed, it would not serve the nationalist project to educate critical youth – even if – despite all efforts – critical youth still do emerge. All the second generation interviewees, except one, did attend the Tamil school. Many of the first generation Tamil women and some of the second generation were involved as educators in these schools. Education is perceived as a women's realm, in order to transfer Tamil culture to the next generation. The second generation, being particularly radicalized as outlined earlier in this chapter, and women especially, can be instrumentalized doubly: As women, being the 'natural' care-givers and cultural carriers, and as second generation, not questioning or critically challenging the methods applied by the LTTE in these educative activities – all serving the purpose of reinforcing loyalty to the imagined homeland and creating a strong Tamil identity.

50 A third Tamil school was mentioned by one interviewee but not by others.

Once again, the LTTE is the dominant structure which has subsumed other groupings, in particular towards the end of the ceasefire period and the end of the war. Nevertheless, the same mechanisms used by the LTTE are also used by nationalist Sinhalese to reproduce their culture:

"I really love to give a bit of my culture. They [the children] cannot get it from here [Germany], so I need to teach them. If I don't do this, they will not learn it. If they can perform them [i.e. dance performance], then I have done my duty for Sri Lanka. It is my responsibility to do this. That's why I enjoy it." (Chahila, Sinhalese, female, second generation)

Chahila, a young, second generation Sinhalese woman, introduces cultural activities to the younger generation as does the LTTE. She works through the 'Sri Lanka Association Berlin e.V.' (SLA) which provides the platform for these activities and which - as mentioned earlier - is an extended branch of the Sinhalese state. She is proud to perform her duty for her country and to ensure that members of this country do not forget their cultural roots abroad. This constructed nationalism, transferred to the second generation, brings her to carry out these activities. There is, indeed, in essence not much difference between the nationalist Sinhalese state and the LTTE structures, except that the LTTE's rationale has to be geared towards both the home country and the host country: They have to ensure that Tamil culture is defended in German society and they have to mark their difference to the Sinhalese state in order to mobilize for an independent Tamil Eelam. Yet, the Tamil schools, as proxy of the LTTE, and the SLA, as proxy of the Sri Lankan government, both reproduce a cultural identity, ensure that the home- and Motherland is alive abroad and use women as their primary reproducers.

Cultural activities not only concern classical and popular arts, such as dance, drama, and music but importantly also language. The Tamil schools and the SLA both offer language classes for their respective languages, in which religious values are also taught.

"I work with the Sri Lanka Association here. We meet to discuss the situation, we offer Sinhala language classes and we organize cultural events, like the summer market or the Christmas market where we perform a cultural programme." (Priya, Sinhalese, female, first generation)

Whereas the Tamil schools are explicitly Tamil and therefore offer only Tamil language classes, the SLA, despite its official mandate to bring together all ethnic groups from Sri Lanka, only offers Sinhala language classes. To some extent, one could argue that the Tamil schools cover the Tamil language need sufficiently, yet, as shown, they are politically oriented and therefore, they do not quite cover the need for non-partisan language classes. Accordingly, one could argue that the SLA covers a non-partisan need and yet, they do not do so. Therefore, it appears that the SLA is a reproducer of Sinhala culture only, which is consistent with both its relationship to the Embassy of Sri Lanka in Germany and to the 'Sri Lankans Against Terror of the LTTE - Germany'.

Next to language, religion is another important marker of culture. For Sinhalese, a Buddhist association exists in Berlin and three Buddhist temples are run in the tradition of the Sri Lankan Theravada Buddhism⁵¹. Tamils are more diverse in their religious fabric. According to Schalk (2007), roughly 17–20% of all Tamils in Germany are Catholics and 3-5% are Protestants, the remaining 75-80% are Hindu. In 1989, only four Hindu temples existed in Germany, differing considerably in size and activities (Baumann, 2001). Ten years later the number climbed to more than 20 (Baumann, 2000). The increasing number of temples reflects the increasing number of Tamil migrants and reveals the growing confidence of the Tamil population to practice their religion and associated rituals in Germany. At the same time, it enabled them to express their belonging to a minority religion. In Berlin, at least three temples were mentioned by the interviewees, all organised in private houses. In September 2013, the Sri Mayurapathy Murugan temple was opened as first public Hindu temple in Berlin

⁵¹ See http://www.buddhanet.info/wbd/province.php?province_id=127

(Schurmann, 2013)⁵². Tamil and Sinhalese Christians could practice their religion by visiting the existing churches in Germany and thereby, integrating into their neighbourhood.

Some interviewees mentioned that they practice Buddhism and that religion is an important feature of their Sinhala identity, but they did not associate their belief with the Buddhist nationalist parties⁵³. Similarly, Tamil interviewees mentioned that they are practising either Christianity or Hinduism.

"There is a small Tamil Catholic community. Since I came here, I am there regularly. We are very engaged there. We have a Tamil priest and we meet for prayers. We also collect money and send it to Sri Lanka. There are also other associations but we do not go there." (Muthu, Tamil, female, second generation)

"I am a Tamil and I am a Hindu. I pray every day. There is a Hindu temple here but I was there only three times in six years. But still I pray every day." (Nayan, Tamil, male, first generation)

Religion does play an important role in the daily lives of Sinhalese and Tamils in Berlin. Since identities are shifting, the complex interplay between religious and ethnic identity has to be further examined to understand the extent to which the Sri Lankan diaspora communities base their political activism on religion.

Levitt (2003) points out that transnational religious practices are shaped by global culture and institutions, Werbner (2005) draws attention to the potential of regional culture, among others religion, to create cross-cutting ties and to transcend coalitions mitigating conflicts back home, and Paerregaard (2008) argues that members of diaspora communities use their religious engagement to pursue goals oriented towards the host country, for example, to create a

⁵² The temple in Hamm, Westphalia is the biggest Sri Lankan Tamil Hindu temple in Germany, with up to 15,000 devotees from all over Germany and neighbouring countries, such as France, Switzerland and Denmark, visiting to worship the Hindu gods. (Baumann, 2010).

⁵³ Note that Sinhala Buddhist nationalists emerged in Berlin in particular after the end of the war. The large majority of Sinhala Buddhist nationalists live in Italy.

public space for themselves or to differentiate themselves from other minorities. Underlining all these views are that religious engagement can serve political ends: the strengthening of a global institution, mitigating conflicts in the home country or creating space in the host country.

In regards to Sri Lanka and its diaspora communities in Germany, religion has also been used for political gains, and yet, the war in Sri Lanka is not based on religion (Schalk, 2007) but on territory, ethnicity and discriminatory politics. As stated in chapter 3, Buddhism is constitutionally defined as state religion, ignoring the importance of Hinduism, Christianity, and Islam in the country. This provides the space for the Sinhalese state to mobilise the majoritarian Sinhalese population on religious grounds, as seen through the emergence of the Buddhist nationalist political party JHU and other religious, non-political formations.

In contrast, the de facto LTTE state under the leadership of V. Prabhakharan never mobilised its Tamil constituency in the country on the basis of religion *per se*. The Tamil speaking population in the North and East is religiously too diverse for this to happen and many of the LTTE leadership were Christians and even Muslims in the earlier days of LTTE.⁵⁴ From the beginning of the ethnic conflict until today, the Catholic Church in the North and East has been a firm supporter of the rights for the Tamil people. According to Schalk (2007), Hinduism, Christianity and Islam are considered by the LTTE as parallel religious expressions of Tamil culture. These convictions were also exported into the diaspora but politics penetrated religious life in a different way:

The LTTE had to finance its war for an independent Tamil Eelam and, therefore, they asserted control over Tamil schools, Hindu temples, cultural and sports organisations (Brun et al., 2012). Donations to these institutions, especially temples, are considerable, and therefore, the control by the LTTE became quite important (Keller, 2001). The interlinkage of religion and politics is documented

⁵⁴ For example, V. Prabhakharan (Christian), S.P. Tamilselvam (Christian), Balraj (Christian), Pottu Amman (Christian), Anton Balasingham (Christian), Soosai (Christian), Basheer Kaka (Muslim).

in the case of the Sri Muthumar Amman Temple in London. This temple was founded by a Jaffna Tamil who was sent to London by the LTTE. He worked as a trained accountant and as financial controller of the LTTE in Western Europe, responsible for collecting funds from Tamils in the European diaspora and for procuring weaponry (David, 2008). This case illustrates the direct link between gaining control of the temple and accessing funding.

At the same time, the control of the religious space allowed the LTTE to access the Hindu Tamil community to mobilize for their nationalist project. For this purpose, cultural activities linked to religion were appropriated and redefined. Bharatanatyam is a form of traditional, classical Tamil dance embedded in the ancient Hindu tradition and performed in Hindu temples (David, 2009a). O'Shea has illustrated that Bharatanatyam in Toronto was used by two Tamil dance teachers to create new choreographies that supported the nationalist project of the LTTE. Anadan quoted earlier in this chapter alluded to the political nature of the dance performances in the Tamil schools in Berlin, too, but he omitted to explain its originally religious background. So, the dance ritual was consciously instrumentalized for political means and thus, its religious meaning was lost.

In the context of Sri Lanka, religion is instrumentalized by two actors: the Sinhalese-dominated state used Buddhism to mobilize and motivate their populace for the war; and the LTTE used religion to obtain funds and to transfer their nationalist ideology. In both cases, the instrumentalization was directed towards the own ethnic group and did not target the other ethnic group. During the period of the war, the LTTE attacked in three amjor instances Buddhist places of worship, monks and devotees⁵⁵. These attacks were politically motivated and targeted in fact the Sri Lankan state.⁵⁶ This specification is of significant importance to understand the role religion plays in Sri Lanka. Religion is used as a means for the (de facto) state structures, government and

_

⁵⁵ The three incidents are known as: the Sri Maha-Bodhi Anuradhapuraya attack on Buddhist pilgrims in May 1985; the Aranthalawa attack of Buddhist monks in June 1987; and the Temple of Tooth attack in January 1998.

⁵⁶ Note that only during the last phase of the war and after the war, Hindu temples and mosques were specifically and explicitly targeted on religious grounds, partly as integral part of the government's strategy to deprive Tamils and Muslims their minority rights.

LTTE, to achieve their own political objectives and to foster the war on ethnicnationalist grounds, not on religious grounds.

Sivapalan, a first-generation Tamil, who runs the 'Adults Moral Education Service', is directly linked to one of the Hindu temples in Berlin. He focuses on teaching the *Thirukkural*, a classic Tamil book of couplets on human living, and on transferring the related value system: Occasionally, he also advises the teachers at the Tamil school on moral issues. In the interview, he clearly linked his moral teaching to the ethnic and national question:

"I am teaching morality and moral living. As a teacher, I am interested in correcting people. You have to show identity for this, you have to know how to conduct yourself. ... We want a separate land because the government did not give us any rights. It is a moral issue to get the land back. We want it. The government is deceiving the whole world. They perform so much violence. So we have to educate people about what they [the government] do, we have to support the movement [the LTTE]. ... I am not so much tied to Sri Lanka, but to Tamil Eelam, even if it is far away. I am a Tamil German, for me home would be Tamil Eelam."

(Sivapalan, Tamil, male, first generation)

As a teacher of religion, he is well aware of religion as a marker of identity and uses this explicitily in his teaching. He links the transfer of the Hindu value system to the construction of identity and the creation of a sense of belonging. His moral view is linked to the land question, which was at the core of the Tamil struggle for independence. In his understanding, the government has a moral obligation to give this land back to the Tamils. He is resisting the government's action, not for religious reasons but for political ones, and this compelled him to support the LTTE. Sivapalan continues to believe in Tamil Eelam as the only legitimate home. That is where he belongs to. Owing to his German passport, he considers himself as Tamil German, but in no part of the interview was there a sense that his identity was linked to Germany. It was entirely oriented towards the 'homeland' as propagated in the LTTE discourse. And strikingly, even though he teaches Hindu morality in his interview he did not express a Hindu or

religious identity. This identity must exist for him as a person running a Hindu temple, yet it is overridden by the importance of the Tamil identity.

Sivapalan illustrates this complex and 'negotiated' relationship between ethnic and religious identity: both exist simultaneously but one is more prevalent than the other at different moments of time. The politicized context of Sri Lanka, characterised by the two ethnic-nationalist projects, defines the sense of belonging, despite the frequent performance of religious practices.

Finally, literature, film, and music are important expressions of performing culture. Classical arts have been always a way to express resistance to or support for a nationalist project. The expression of feelings, but also of belonging, can be found, for example, in many of the diaspora writings. V.I.S. Jayapalan (2013), a known Tamil nationalist poet, wrote the following verses in a poem called "The Song of the Defeated" 57:

"Primordial Mother! Do not cry.

Our history is not a sand-castle

In Mullivaikkal that it can be
washed away.

It is built from the living desire of the North-East peoples.

It is their unfinished dream.

From Melbourne to Toronto
Across the seven seas
Tamils awaken to your call.
Even the last Tamil in the world
Dreams only of your liberty, Mother!"

Jayapalan not only expresses the longing of the Tamils in the diaspora for their own land but he also refers to this land as the 'Mother'. In nationalist writings, the 'mother' is frequently used as a metaphor for the nation. The nation then

_

⁵⁷ See http://www.jdslanka.org/index.php/2012-01-30-09-31-17/poetry-a-prose/318-the-song-of-the-defeated

becomes female and a site of struggle. Women are at the core of the identity of the nation. In their role as cultural, ideological and biological reproducers, women are essential to defend the nation and to set its boundaries. Therefore, women also become a site of struggle and in the nationalist project, they are symbolically possessed and have to be liberated, both as women and as a nation.

Diaspora writing not only refers to the nationalist project. It can as well express resistance. Tamil literary meetings were set up in the mid-1980s to find a channel to express dissent and protest against the militant armed groups. Some of the interviewees were active participants at these meetings.

"I am in the literary circle and we have a women's group there. I go regularly to these meetings. They are in different cities in Europe, sometimes in Germany but also in Norway, in London, in other places. I am otherwise not politically active, but I like these meetings and we all know each other." (Praveena, Tamil, female, second generation)

In these literary meetings, Praveena finds a political home and a safe haven where she can express herself. Literature provides the space for an identity of resistance to come to the fore. The women's group has existed within the literary circle and through it women were able to give their political engagement a public voice that is expressed in bilingual publications.

Literary resistance to dominant structures was not only exercised by members of the Tamil community. Many political Sinhalese in the diaspora also expressed themselves through literature. Often this was done through poems or prose articulating a nostalgic memory of Sri Lanka, published in Sinhala in Sri Lanka. As they became more settled in the host society, some also started to express themselves in the language of the host country, be it English, French or German.

One of the interviewees has for many years engaged in Sinhala political writing but published his first novel in German only in 2010 entitled "*Mit dem Wind*

fliehen: Ein tamilisches Flüchtlingsschicksal' ('Escaping with the wind: The fate of a Tamil refugee') (Henayaka, 2010). The book tells the story of a Tamil refugee coming to Germany and his experiences in the hostile, even racist environment of the 1980s and 1990s. It is a fictional political story based on true incidents. But more so, the author told me that it was a way for him to express himself, to give witness to German politics and to come to terms with a racist society that has become 'his' society over the years.

Cultural activities can find, yet again, a different expression such as in the example of Kumarage:

"I am managing the Sinhalese library here. I am the one who opened the library two years ago. Last time I went to Sri Lanka, I bought some books and sent them in the container of the new ambassador. So now the library is open, every Friday." (Kumarage, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Literature preserves language which is a cultural marker. This is particularly important for the Sinhalese because their language is only spoken in Sri Lanka and its diaspora communities. In such a context, setting up a library contributes to preserving not only language but also identity. It actually can become even a nationalist project. An indication for this may be the transportation of books through the Sri Lankan Embassy in Berlin and the location of the library in the Sri Lanka Association.

Does gender matter?

In cultural activities, women not only matter, they are essential. Cultural activities, as shown above, rely on a gendered construction in order to form identity. The role of women in maintaining ethnic boundaries, signifying difference and reproducing ideology is located within the cultural realm. Identity depends on cultural continuity to survive, hence, diaspora communities, both Sinhalese and Tamil, have to ensure its continuity. Women are active to this end. Traditional decision-making and family structures that exist in Sri Lanka

have to be reproduced in Germany. Many women interviewees found it very difficult to cross their traditional boundaries, given the social pressures they face within the community. Within nationalist projects, the construction of an ethnic identity, the construction of an identity towards the 'other' and the construction of a national identity are more important than women's empowerment, and yet, they are also essential for women's empowerment. Sometimes this implies a dual reproductive role for women — within the family and among co-ethnics, and vis-à-vis the host society. Second generation women interviewees expressed their dilemma in this regard even more often. They are the future 'nurturers' and 'carers' of the nation and hence, nationalist projects have to target them as well, even in and especially in the diaspora. A sense of belonging is created through the identity and values women, mothers, and teachers transfer to their children. This applies to nationalist projects in the home country just as much as it does in the diaspora.

Virtual activities

In recent years, the internet has gained in importance and cyber-space has become important for diaspora interaction. The internet has enabled faster and more in-depth access to information: it has also resulted in better information flows and networking. Information now crosses boundaries without any obstacles and can be shared in real time. This section will only touch upon these activities to introduce this topic but by no means will it be able to cover all aspects of this 'online revolution'.

A vast range of Sinhala, Tamil, and English language sites exist which provide news about Sri Lanka from different political angles.

Tamil websites in English

http://sangam.org/

http://www.tamilguardian.com/

http://www.asiantribune.com/

<u>www.globaltamilnews.net/</u> (tri-lingual Tamil/English/Sinhalese)

Tamil Nationalist, pro-separatist websites

http://www.tamilnet.com/ (in English)

http://pathivu.com/ (in Tamil)

http://www.athirvu.com/ (in Tamil)

http://www.sangathi.com/ (in Tamil)

Sinhalala news websites with dissenting opinions

http://www.lankanewsweb.com/ (bilingual English/Sinhalese)

http://www.lankaenews.com/Sinhala/ (bilingual English/ Sinhalese)

<u>http://www.vivaraenews.com/</u> (in Sinhalese)

<u>http://www.lankaguardian.com/</u> (bilingual English/Sinhalese)

In Sinhalala extremist nationalist websites and Facebook sites are run mainly from Sri Lanka because they are provided the space to do so. All others have to re-allocate their websites abroad. Also interesting to note is that Sinhalese nationalists mainly engage through Facebook sites.

https://www.facebook.com/TheSword.lk

http://lankacnews.com/sinhala/

One Sinhalese nationalist anti-LTTE website exists also in Germany:

<u>http://lttewatch.wordpress.com/</u> LTTE Watch Deutschland (in German)

Social media have become a powerful tool for engaging politically. Facebook and Twitter have gained in recent years in importance, though at the time of the research both were not yet as popular as they are today. Age also matters in this regard. "Older" diaspora persons check websites but do not use social media; the younger members of the diaspora – both women and men – take advantage of the wide range of offers available on the internet and also use it specifically as a platform to express political opinions:

"I am not supporting the LTTE as such but you have to be against the Sri Lankan government. They suppress the Tamils. I write on Facebook and I share information. So that people know. I am a Facebook journalist." (Sivalingam, Tamil, male, first generation)

Sivalingam does identify himself as anti-government and Tamil, and in order to share this identity, he uses Facebook as a tool where he regularly uploads information exposing the human rights violations of the government and the plight of the Tamil people. The outreach of his Facebook site goes far beyond Germany. Networking and campaigning through Facebook are now daily features of political life.

There are also dedicated sites, such as the Facebook group 'Tamil Community Germany' which bring like-minded persons together. However, these sites are all transnational: most of the time they cannot be traced to one country and the originator may not be known either. It is a form of impersonal engagement which, on the one hand, provides a safe space and, on the other hand, also allows for radicalization more than ever. This is especially the case for blogs where commentaries can be provided. Owing to its transnational and impersonal nature, ethical standards have fallen dramatically and personal attacks on dissenting voices can be observed more frequently.

The impact of the internet and the social media has been dramatic for both the Sinhalese and Tamil community, both at home and in the diaspora. It has brought about many changes:

"I am coordinating a political news website here. But it has changed since when I came here. I am compelled now to collect more data to prove the situation. It changed the original kind of positioning we had and it now gives me an opportunity to relate to international issues and to the broader map of the whole of Indian Ocean. This is also what I study, mayn other Tamils studying this as well. I can speak to them now and this has strengthened my argument." (Priyadarshana, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Priyadarshana's positioning has changed in the diaspora: both his way of work and his way to collect data have changed. This may not be just because of the internet but he has much better access to information now. In Sri Lanka, many sites are, for example, blocked, or can be accessed only through proxy servers. In addition, the audience in the diaspora has changed dramatically, being much more demanding and networked. The internet and the social media links the home and the diaspora, it allows one to escape realities and to create new realities.

Does gender matter?

The internet is used by both women and men in the diaspora. As shown earlier, the internet can create a protected space for women to interact politically, for example, through blogs. However, only few of the women interviewees confirmed their use of blogs in the interviews. Blogs are used much more frequently by men, and they use it mainly to express their political opinions. Women, in contrast, engage more on private and family matters.

Facebook is as popular and appealing to young women as it is to men. The huge difference is, though, that women interviewees use this virtual space to engage socially, rather than politically. They reproduce expected 'social' and emotional messaging and reinforce in this way their social role as 'carers', rather than expanding and newly defining their prescribed gender role.

Twitter is also a frequently used communication tool. It is considered a more substantive tool for short messaging, limited to 140 signs per message. One interviewee and frequent twitter user mentioned:

"The content of tweets is very different from Facebook. Twitter is a very political tool. Within a year I have got 600+ followers and among them less than ten are women. Very few people are actually from Sri Lanka, they are mainly from the diaspora and if there is a good tweet, immediately it is re-tweeted." (Madura, Sinhalese, male, first generation)

Madura's experience is quite telling: Out of a twitter community of 600+, a little bit more than 1% are women. This enormous imbalance shows once again that politics is gendered and male-dominated.

The internet provides a space to belong to a virtual community which is social, cultural, and political. Sri Lankan dissenting voices in the political arena are mostly expressed in web media and provide platforms to make virtual connections to the country. Sinhalese and Tamil extreme nationalists in the diaspora also engage in these platforms. This makes the connectivity to the homeland or the motherland a transformative political process. Internet-based communication brings home close, for example keeping the Skype on over a longer period of time creates a feeling of home. VOIP networks offer economic telephone rates to Sri Lanka. These internet-based communication technologies allow family and extended family members to meet in a virtual 'home' through live video calls. The internet and social media not only cross borders, but also create a virtual community and connectivity and, thus, a new form of belonging.

CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS

This research was based on my desire to learn more about the dynamic relationships of both Sinhalese and Tamils living in Germany with their home and host country, and to understand better the complexities of their political involvement. As a starting point, the research has described the history of the ethnic conflict in the post-independence period and has analysed it in order to highlight migration flows out of Sri Lanka (chapter 3). It has also outlined Germany's relationship to economic and political migrants and the accompanying policies that impact on Sri Lankan diaspora communities' residence there (chapter 4). These two chapters addressed my *first research question* on the historical circumstances resulting in out-migration from Sri Lanka and the different forms of settlement in Berlin:

I showed that migration from Sri Lanka in the early 20th century and in the post-independence period, until the onset of the armed conflict, was mainly linked to upward mobility of the middle classes, both Tamils and Sinhalese. Large-scale migration of Sri Lankan Tamils started in the late 70s and continued over a period of almost three decades: The Sinhala-Only policy, Buddhist Sinhalese nationalism, anti-Tamil riots, violent attacks and continuous discrimination, restrictive minority policies and no autonomous status are just a few of the accumulated reasons for leaving the country.

Although Sinhalese society also went through two armed insurrections and state suppression, no forced migration of Sinhalese youth occurred. However, Sinhalese migrated for economic reasons and still do so today. In recent years, dozens of Sinhalese journalists and an even larger number of Tamil journalists, as the one outstanding professional group, have left the country and sought asylum in different countries across Europe.

The Muslim community and the Plantation Tamils of Indian origin also faced ethnic backlashes and discrimination; still, they tended to remain in the country

as their political leaders were able to partner with the state political powers. So, for example, the 100,000 Muslims who were expelled from the North by the LTTE found a friendly environment to live outside these areas through state patronage (Sørbø et al., 2011).

It is within this context, that Sri Lankan Tamils have forcefully migrated outside Sri Lanka, and nearly one million Sri Lankan Tamils (Potters, 2013) have now settled outside Sri Lanka in Western countries. This out-migration by Sri Lankan Tamils has greatly reduced their numerical strength in the country. For example, if the natural increase is taken into the account, the Tamil population in Jaffna has reduced by half (Sivathamby, 2004). This also had major political consequences: The Jaffna electoral district which had 11 parliamentary seats in 1981 were reduced to 6 seats by 2010 (Department of Election, 2013).

Germany during the same period faced a very different history. Germany relied after the war, especially in the 1960s and 1970s, on guest workers from Turkey, Italy, Portugal and other countries to rebuild its economy. This was also the period when in-migration started on a large scale and all policies were geared towards the temporary stay of these guest workers. In doing so, Germany applied very flexible rules in order to respond to the needs of the economy. However, the guest workers brought their wives and families to Germany on the basis of family unification, and actually prepared for long-term settlement.

In the early 1980s the politics towards guest workers started to change. However, borders remained open for asylum seekers and refugees. 24% of all asylum applicants in 1984/85 were from Sri Lanka (Bosswick, 1993), which indeed only mirrored the political events in Sri Lanka and were directly linked to the anti-Tamil riots in 1983. At that time, most asylum seekers, Sri Lankans included, came through the GDR which applied liberal asylum policies. Once arrived in East Berlin, they crossed the border at Friedrichstrasse and then claimed asylum in West Berlin. Sri Lankan asylum seekers were nearly all Tamils and they mostly received a *Duldung* (exceptional leave to remain in the country).

The situation dramatically changed again with the fall of the Berlin Wall in 1989: the entry through East Berlin was closed off and laws concerning asylum seekers and refugees tightened. Instead, Germany now faced an influx of East Germans and even encouraged ethnic Germans from other countries to settle in Germany. They enjoyed a number of privileges, among others, immediate citizenship. During this period, xenophobic and racist sentiments in the country rose against migrants of all sorts.

Germany's politics only started to change for the better when the new redgreen coalition government came to power in 1998. Finally, the government officially announced that indeed Germany was an 'immigration country' and its population had a diverse make-up resulting in a number of important legal reforms. This went also hand-in-hand with EU policies which pushed for more harmonization in this area. Sri Lankans now had for the first time a chance to change their residence status from one of relative instability to German citizenship – and many did so. Germany moved from having a relatively homogeneous ethnic society to one with approximately 15 million foreigners in 2008 (Werewolf, 2008). The young generation is used to this diversity, for example in schools, despite the fact that discrimination remained a negative feature of German society.

As summarized above, my *chapters 3 and 4* not only responded to the first research question but they also linked in new ways the processes of outmigration from Sri Lanka and in-migration to Germany together. The chapters described historical facts but they even more so told the history of Sri Lanka and Germany from the migration angle as it applied to Sinhalese and Tamils. Literature on Sri Lankan migration mainly focuses on forced migration of Tamils (among others Fuglerud, 1999; Cheran, 2001; Shanmugaratnam, 2001; McDowell, 1996) or on economic migration of Sinhalese to the Middle East (among others Brochmann, 1993; Korale, 1984; Adams, 2003). So it largely omits Sinhalese migration to the West and, indeed, I have not yet come across literature linking Tamil and Sinhalese migration together. In the context of Germany, again, much has been written about immigration, integration or more generally on migration policies (among others Klusmeyer, 2001; Pagenstecher,

1994; Deniz Göktürk, 2007; Heerwart et al., 2007; Green, 2004; Schönwälder, 2010; Muenz et al., 2003), yet, Sri Lanka has not been part of any particular investigation. So the combination as we find it here – Sinhalese and Tamil migration out-migrating from Sri Lanka to Germany can be considered a continuation to the current literature.

My second research question posed the question on the kind of belonging and collective identities that have emerged among the Sri Lankan diaspora and transnational communities in Berlin. This question was dealt with in chapter 5 on "Belonging, Citizenship and Identity". In order to investigate this question and to find responses to this research question, belonging was framed within the analytical framework outlined by Yuval-Davis (2011) considering social locations, emotional attachments and identifications and political and ethical value systems. However, this framework was embedded in the existing literature and applied specifically to the diaspora and the narratives of my Sinhalese and Tamil interviewees. Some of the findings of this chapter include the following:

Belonging is shaped by the multiple relationships between the home and host country and it is closely linked to the construction of 'home'. The Tamil and Sinhalese diaspora communities in Berlin construct belonging not only in relation to a 'real' (geographic) territory/land – depending on their social locations – either in relation to Sri Lanka or in relation to Germany, but more importantly they expand the notion of 'home' to the virtual and the imagined realms. In fact, they may enter into 'phantasmic' and virtual belonging, which allows them to create a new 'space': a space that is now finally theirs and which cannot be occupied by others. This new appropriation of space can be observed among the Sinhalese and Tamil communities and among the first and second generation. They differ, however, in their 'appropriation' strategy, i.e. the ways they interact in that newly created space, the frequency, the contents, etc. This 'virtual' space may be found in the internet but, indeed, it can also be found in 'imagination'. This appropriation strategy is influenced also by diasporic identity and material realities. It seems likely that the stronger a political identity

is, the more the appropriation of the new space is needed – real if possible, or else virtual and imagined.

The political context matters, both the political context in Sri Lanka and the political context in Germany. The political contexts influence the sense of belonging and the construction of (collective) identities in many ways: The political context in Sri Lanka determines, for example, whether return is possible. The real possibility of return, however, will differ according to the personal history and the identities of the individual. In general, a Sinhalese may have the possibility of return. However, if engaged in politics against the home country, this return may not be possible at all and remains a dream. Just as for the Tamil population whose return is influenced by both the politics of the LTTE⁵⁸ and the government of Sri Lanka. At the same time, the political context of Germany, being a xenophobic environment, influences the desire to return, for both Sinhalese and Tamils. So the German context influences the desire to return but the Sri Lankan context determines the real possibility of return.

The political context in Germany also shapes at least to some extent aspects of citizenship. Decisions to take up new citizenship in Germany were clearly related to the change in the legal framework in Germany and in Europe, and they were also influenced by the desire to return home. Their decision regarding German citizenship created for Tamils and politically engaged Sinhalese the possibility of return. Yet, this citizenship status did not necessarily influence their sense of belonging or emotional attachment, but the emotional attachment, i.e. the identity, shaped their decision in regards to citizenship. A Tamil, strongly identifying himself as Tamil, tended not to take up German citizenship even if he had the possibility, and even if German citizenship could have allowed him returning to Sri Lanka. His political identity would be the determinant factor. Important to note is also that the decision-making power in regards to citizenship did not exist before the change of laws because the German state simply dictated the policy. So the political context of Germany influenced

_

 $^{^{58}}$ Note the research period concerns the period 2006 - 2008, so a time period during which the LTTE still formally existed.

citizenship – even if it meant that migrants were not perceived as agents but objects.

Similarly, the political context in Sri Lanka also shapes the relationship to the nation and this relationship then influences the sense of belonging. Biased and discriminatory government policies and Sinhalese Buddhist nationalism have influenced Tamil identity throughout history and indeed, Tamil nationalism. The creation of an imagined nation but also the creation of a real de facto nation state – which indeed did exist until 2009 – is thus crucial. This in itself resulted in a new Sri Lankan political context, which influenced both the Sinhalese and Tamil communities in Sri Lanka and Germany alike, though in different ways. Collective ethnic identities emerged and reinforced, identities of resistance were created.

Belonging remains a multi-layered, multi-territorial concept and it is influenced by the many identities a person may have. Identities shift and adapt to the contexts they are linked to. Even though multiple identities exist in parallel, only one identity can be filtered as dominant and therefore as determinant factor. Which identity this is depends on, for example, the situation, personal history, political contexts, the 'other' in the host country but also the 'other' in the home country. In comparing the narratives of the Sinhalese and Tamil, their political identity is the determinant factor shaping their sense of belonging but also of action.

Chapter five, even though grounded in the literature, brings to the fore the dynamics of belonging and identities among the Sinhalese and Tamil communities in Berlin. In this way it analyses 'belonging' in a diaspora context across two ethnicities and two generations. This provides a complexity that the literature usually does not address. For example, studies of the second generation, even third generation, exist (among others Andall, 2002; Christou et al., 2010) but at the same time they restrict themselves to a particular ethnic group only. Of course, this has much validity and allows in-depth insights into a specific community, yet, it may lack a holistic viewpoint. A community is always embedded within a 'bigger' picture and my attempt here was to show this bigger

picture. In doing so, I hope not only to have added a new context of study (Sri Lanka/Germany) but also a new dimension of study (two ethnicities/two generations) to the existing literature. This new dimension also is meant to perceive the dynamics between the two communities as relational but also – and in particular – as relative. Relative, for example, in relation to their political identity: Sinhalese in the diaspora – contrary to the claim often made – face and are shaped quite similarly to Tamils if they have a political identity as the dominant identity. This would not apply, though, if their ethnic identity is the dominant identity.

The *third research question* relates to the gendered character of collective identities and political processes. To some extent this question is absorbed in both chapters 5 and 6. I shall elaborate and comment on this in more detail when I discuss chapter 6. However, in relation to chapter 5, one could summarize my conclusions in the context of my research that belonging is gendered, but not necessarily always. This may be a provocative statement, and yet, it reflects to some extent the complex interface of belonging, influenced by social locations, emotional attachment and identification and value system within the context of the Tamil and Sinhalese diaspora communities. Gender matters and is even instrumentalized, but it does not always play a dominant role. So as my investigation filtered determinant factors, belonging is gendered but at times when the political identity determines the migrant's belonging, at that moment, a gendered identity becomes secondary to the political identity. So gender still matters but does not have the same strong influence. At other times, gender actually is the determinant factor and can be then also instrumentalized through different reproductive roles (see Yuval-Davis, 1997a)

Finally, the *fourth research question* relates to the ways the members of the Sri Lankan diaspora communities engage politically. This question has been addressed in chapter 6 of my thesis. I have structured this chapter along the five most common transnational activities, namely economic, political, social, cultural, and virtual activities. These activities have been related to the concepts as elaborated in chapter 6, and have been elaborated only in so far as they were relevant to the political engagement of the diaspora communities studied.

In addition, a gender lens was applied. The findings in this chapter are based on the collected narratives only, and I have not related them to the existing literature.

Economic activities *per se* are carried out by both Sinhalese and Tamils, however, their motivations and the grounds of this involvement differ. Women and men also invest differently and reproduce traditional gender perceptions: women 'invest' in social care projects, men in political or technical projects. Sinhalese 'invest' in their own future, so that they can go back home one day to live. Tamils of course also send remittances to their families but they otherwise 'invest' in projects benefiting their co-ethnics. This divergent motivation is linked, on the one hand, to the possibility of return and, on the other hand, to ethnic identity which, of course, in the case of Tamils is nurtured abroad.

Engagement in political activities is diverse. It changes with the different social locations, the political context and the individual's perception of his or her ability to have an impact through action. The engagement may be directed towards the host country or solely towards the home country. Whether, how and where such engagement will happen depends on the political identity of the person involved. Faced with discrimination in Germany, both Sinhalese and Tamils engaged politically in the host country and in this way defended their "otherness'. The extent to which state and de facto state structures, or other political groups from the home country, are able to mobilize and function in the host country will also influence the political engagement of the individual. In the context of nationalist projects, the second generation then becomes an important target. Depending on the space women can create, they can engage as active agents or be absorbed and instrumentalized by the home structures.

Interview partners across ethnicity, gender and generation referred to trust as a factor which determined whether they would engage in social gatherings in the host country or not. Knowing people was crucial. However, contacts with friends and family back home were mostly kept alive independently. In addition, the context of Germany and the political orientation of the individual influenced their level and ways of engagement: Social gatherings, sports activities, attendance

at conferences, listening to the radio, reading newspapers and writing in Facebook were all activities that were determined similarly. They could be carried out to different degrees and involvement may change over time – from moderate to more radicalized, nationalist or politicized – depending on the dominant identity of the actor. Women's role is crucial in this respect and, indeed, the state (or de facto state) structures rely on their function as 'carers' and 'nurturers' to influence belonging.

Cultural activities are very much in the women's realm. It is the space where women are instrumentalized to contribute to identity politics as biological reproducers, ideological reproducers, signifiers of cultures, and reproducers of symbols. Women are the ones who transfer the group's culture through dance, music, drama, language classes, family traditions, and food, but they are not those determining what the culture is. It is a 'soft' entry point into political engagement and to contributing to a nationalist discourse. Belonging to a community and to the 'homeland' is constructed through a culture based on an ethnic identity. Literature plays a particular important role as a marker of difference from the host society. Language and religion give identity to both Tamils and Sinhalese in the diaspora alike. It can reinforce their ethnic identity, their political identity, their identity of resistance, and their cultural identity.

Finally, virtual activities have gained more importance in recent years, especially among diaspora communities. They link the home and the host country; they ensure a communication flow with 'home', even if passive; and they allow people to escape realities or create new realities. They create community and a feeling of belonging. The medium used, however, differs between Tamils and Sinhalese, and the first and second generations: Tamils run websites from outside the home and those are consulted by the first generation primarily. Nationalist Sinhalese have set up mainly Facebook sites from within Sri Lanka that are shared worldwide. The second generation not only uses the internet but also social media. Identity construction in the virtual world is now a reality and is a powerful tool for creating a sense of belonging. Women, however, engage fundamentally differently than men. Women often

remain anonymous and men go public. Indeed, this is very much a reproduction of traditional gender roles.

Chapter six of my research has provided an analysis of narratives relating to different kinds of activities in which members of the Sinhala and Tamil diaspora are engaged. It shows that these activities – independent of what kind of activity – link to politics, especially in the context of nationalist projects fostered in the home country and within a hostile environment of Germany. Belonging manifests itself in transnational practices and in identity construction consciously fostered through these activities, when aimed at a political project. This part of the research contributes not only one more country case study to the many existing (among others Al-Ali et al., 2001b; Wight, 2000; Hajo et al., 2004; Ehrkamp, 2005; Korac, 2009b), but it also frames it within the concept of belonging and the complex interface of gender, Sinhalese/Tamils and first/second generation.

Overall, I would hope that through my research new insights and knowledge can be gained not only on the complex and multiple constructions of belonging and identity but also on the interplay of gender, ethnicity and generation. My research shows that economic, political, social, cultural and virtual activities in the diaspora often entail political activism that either reflects the agency of the migrant or his or her instrumentalization by the (de facto) state structures. The degree of this political activism of a migrant then depends on his and her social locations in the home and host country, his and her emotional attachments and his and her value systems. Therefore, political activism shapes the sense of belonging and allows the migrant to assert an agency in the host society that connects and impacts on both the home and host country.

My findings should then find interest among academics wanting to understand the dynamics of the Sri Lanka diaspora communities as well as among policy makers. In looking at this 'holistic' bigger picture and in bringing all these dimensions together, a differentiated understanding with implications for home country politics and host country politics is acquired: Reconciliation efforts in Sri Lanka would indeed benefit from a differentiated analysis of the Sinhalese and

Tamil diaspora communities. At the same time, in Germany, understanding the dynamics within diaspora communities allows policy makers to possibly formulate migration and integration policies closer to the expectations and needs of its population – be they citizens or denizens. In this way, they could also be more responsive to the visible minorities and indeed, foster diversity. More generally, I would hope that my findings also contribute to, shed light upon and inspire the analysis of other complex intersectional contexts, and as such contribute to building a wider knowledge base of diaspora communities.

This research, however, remains only a starting point to better understand Sinhalese and Tamil diaspora communities. Many questions remain unanswered and would merit further research. In the following and as a concluding note, I want to suggest a few research questions that could build on my research and take the agenda further:

- 1. How do perceptions of belonging change in a post-war scenario, such as Sri Lanka, where the armed movement for a separate homeland has been crushed militarily and structurally, and where new parliamentary politics have replaced the Tamil nationalist militant movement? Such research could be taken up in the framework of reconciliation efforts after a separatist, violent war.
- 2. How far does the age of the internet influence the sense of belonging among the migration populations? Today, the internet and social media have changed the communication patterns with the home country and made it more accessible. The virtual space strengthens family bonds and keeps them alive, while at the same time this may hinder integration into the host society. In which ways would this really hinder integration and affect multiculturalism? How far do internet-based web media contribute to the home country and to transnational communities?
- 3. How does the Sinhalese diaspora define belonging and citizenship in the context of the intensified polarization that has taken place in the last phase of the war and in the post-war period? No academic research has been undertaken to better understand the Sinhalese diaspora. Such understanding

could provide new insights for policy-makers and civil society towards reconciliation and peace-building.

4. What is the impact of literary works in vernacular languages, i.e. Tamil and Sinhalese, on diaspora communities? How does it transfer the feelings of 'home' and belonging to the next generations? In the course of my research, I came across some Sri Lankan English and German literary works but much more exist in Tamil or Sinhalese. Vernacular languages are a powerful tool used by the Sri Lankan diaspora to convey diaspora experiences and, hence, it merits further research.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- (1997) The Treaty of Amsterdam
- (2004) Gesetz über den Aufenthalt, die Erwerbstätigkeit und die Integration von Ausländern im Bundesgebiet (Aufenthaltsgesetz AufenthG).
- A/67/254 (2012) UN General Assembly: International migration and development. Report of the Secretary-General. New York, UN.
- ABEYASINGHE, T. (1966) *Portuguese rule in Ceylon, 1594-1612,* Colombo, Lake House Investments.
- ACHERMANN, A. & GATTIKER, M. (1995) Safe Third Countries: European Developments. *International Journal of Refugee Law,* 7, 19-38.
- ADAMS, R. (2003) International migration, remittances, and the brain drain. *Policy Research Working Paper.* Washington, The World Bank.
- ADAMSON, F. B. (2002) Mobilising for the transformation of home Politicised identities and transnational practices. IN AL-ALI, N. & KOSER, K. (Eds.) New Approaches to Migration Transnational communities and the transformation of home. London, Routledge.
- ADLER, S. M. (2004) Multiple layers of a researcher's identity: Uncovering Asian American voices. IN MUTUA, K. & SWADENER, B. B. (Eds.) Decolonizing research in cross-cultural contexts: Critical personal narratives. Albany, State University of New York Press.
- AL-ALI, N., BLACK, R. & KOSER, K. (2001a) The limits to "transnationalism":

 Bosnian and Eritrean refugees in Europe as emerging transnational communities. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 24, 578-600.
- AL-ALI, N., BLACK, R. & KOSER, K. (2001b) Refugees and transnationalism: the experiences of Bosnians and Eritreans in Europe. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 27, 614-634.
- AL-ALI, N. & KOSER, K. (2002) New Approaches to Migration Transnational communities and the transformation of home, London, Routledge.
- AL-RASHEED, M. (1994) The Myth of Return: Iraqi Arab and Assyrian Refugees in London. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, **7**, 199-219.
- ANDALL, J. (2002) Second-generation attitude? African-Italians in Milan. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 28, 389-407.

- ANDERSEN, U. & WICHARD, W. (2003) Ausländer und Asyl. IN ANDERSEN, U. & WICHARD, W. (Eds.) *Handwörterbuch des politischen Systems der Bundesrepublik Deutschland.* 5th ed. Bonn, Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung.
- ANDERSON, B. (1983) *Imagined Communities: reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism,* London, Verso.
- ANTHIAS, F. (1998) Evaluating 'Diaspora': Beyond Ethnicity? *Sociology*, 32, 557-580.
- ANTHIAS, F. (2001) New hybridities, old concepts: the limits of culture. *Ethnic* and Racial Studies, 24, 619 641.
- ANTHIAS, F. (2006) Belonging in a globalising and unequal world: rethinking translocations. IN YUVAL-DAVIS, N., KANNABIRAN, K. & VIETEN, U. (Eds.) *The Situated Politics of Belonging.* London, Sage.
- ANTHIAS, F. & YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1989) Introduction. IN ANTHIAS, F. & YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (Eds.) *Women-Nation-State*. London, Macmillan.
- ANTIDISKRIMINIERUNGSSTELLE DES BUNDES (2013) Ethnische Herkunft. Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes.
- APPADURAI, A. (1995) The production of locality. IN FARDON, R. (Ed.)

 Counterworks: Managing the Diversity of Knowledge. London,

 Routledge.
- APPADURAI, A. (1996) *Modernity at Large: Cultural Dimensions Globalisation,*Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.
- APPIAH, K. A. (1998) Cosmopolitan Patriots. IN CHEA, P. & ROBBINS, B. (Eds.) Cosmopolitics: Thinking and Feeling Beyond the Nation.

 Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.
- BAJORIA, J. (2009) Backgrounder: The Sri Lankan Conflict. Council on Foreign Relations.
- BALAKRISHNAN, S. & KELLER, W. (1981) Tamilische Minderheiten in Sri Lanka - ist eine Lösung des Konflikts in Aussicht? Eine Analyse der ethnischen Problematik zwischen Sinhalesen und Tamilen. Dortmund, Südasienbüro e.V.
- BASCH, L., GLICK SCHILLER, N. & SZANTON-BLANC, C. (1994) Nations
 Unbound: Transnational projects, postcolonial predicaments and
 deterritorialised Nation-States, Amsterdam, Gordon & Breach.

- BAUBÖCK, R. (2002) How migration transform citizenship: international, multinational and transnational perspectives. *IWE Working Paper Series No 24.* Wien, Oesterreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- BAUBÖCK, R. (2007) Stakeholder citizenship and transnational political participation: a normative evaluation of external voting. *Fordham Law Review*, 75, 2393 2447.
- BAUMANN, M. (2000) Vows in Diasporic Context: Hindu Tamils in Germany.

 18th Congress of the International Association for the History of Religions. Durban, International Association for teh History of Religions.
- BAUMANN, M. (2001) Disputed Space for Beloved Goddesses: Hindu Temples, Conflicts and Religious Pluralism in Germany. *Rever: Revista de Estudos da Religiao*, 1.
- BEAUFTRAGTE DER BUNDESREGIERUNG FÜR MIGRATION, F. U. I. (2004)
 Migrationsbericht der Integrationsbeauftragten im Auftrag der
 Bundesregierung. Berlin, Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration,
 Flüchtlinge und Integration.
- BEAUFTRAGTE DER BUNDESREGIERUNG FÜR MIGRATION, F. U. I. (2005)

 Bericht der Beauftragten der Bundesregierung für Migration, Flüchtlinge und Integration über die Lage der Ausländerinnen und Ausländer in Deutschland. Berlin, Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, Flüchtlinge und Integration.
- BHATIA, S. (2002) Acculturation, Dialogical Voices and the Construction of the Diasporic Self. *Theory & Psychology*, 12, 55-77.
- BHATIA, S. & RAM, A. (2009) Theorizing identity in transnational and diaspora cultures: A critical approach to acculturation. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 33, 140-149.
- BHATT, C. (2000) Dharmo rakshati rakshitah: Hindutva movements in the UK. *Ethnic and Racial studies*, 23, 559-593.
- BLANCHARD, A. L. & MARKUS, M. L. (2002) Sense of Virtual Community Maintaining the Experience of Belonging. *Proceedings of the 35th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences.* IEEE Computer Society Press.
- BOSSWICK, W. (1993) The impact of reforms in German asylum law. *People and Place*, 1, 18-24.

- BRAH, A. (1996) Cartographies of Diaspora: Contesting identities, London, Routledge.
- BROCHMANN, G. (1993) *Middle East Avenue: Female Migration from Sri Lanka to the Gulf*, Boulder, Westview Press.
- BROWN, J. (2011) Expressions of diasporic belonging: The divergent emotional geographies of Britain's Polish communities. *Emotion, Space and Society*, 4, 229-237.
- BRUBAKER, R. (2005) The 'diaspora' diaspora. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 28, 1-19.
- BRUN, C. & VAN HEAR, N. (2012) Between the local and the diasporic: the shifting centre of gravity in war-torn Sri Lanka's transnational politics. *Contemporary South Asia*, 20, 61-75.
- BÜCHEL, F. & SCHWARZE, J. (1994) Die Migration in Ost- und
 Westdeutschland Absicht und Realisierung. IN ALLMENDINGER, J.

 (Ed.) *Mitteilungen aus der Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung.* Nürnberg,
 Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung.
- BUNDESBEAUFTRAGTE FÜR MIGRATION FLÜCHTLINGE UND INTEGRATION (2003) Unterrichtung: Migrationsbericht 2003. Berlin, Deutscher Bundestag.
- BUNDESREPUBLIK DEUTSCHLAND (1965) Das Ausländergesetz der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. *Ausländergesetz.*
- BUNDESZENTRALE FÜR POLITISCHE BILDUNG (2008) Arbeitslosenquote ab 1950 (BRD) und ab 1990 Gesamtdeutschland., Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung.
- BUSCH-ROSSNAGEL, N. A. (2006) First, do no harm: Culturally centered measurement for early intervention. IN TRIMBLE, J. E. & FISHER, C. B. (Eds.) *The handbook of ethical research with ethnocultural populations and communities.* London, Sage Publications.
- BYFIELD, J. (2000) Introduction: Rethinking the African Diaspora. *African Studies Review (Special Issue on the Diaspora)*, 43, 1-9.
- CARITAS INTERNATIONALIS (2011) The Female Face of Migration. Caritas Internationalis.
- CASTLES, S. & DAVIDSON, A. (2000) Citizenship and Migration: Globalisation and the politics of belonging, London, Palgrave.

- CASTLES, S. & MILLER, M. J. (2009) *The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World,* Basingstoke, Palgrave MacMillan.
- CHERAN, R. (2001) *The Sixth Genre: Memory, History and the Tamil Diaspora Imagination,* Colombo, Marga Institute.
- CHERAN, R. (2003) Diaspora Circulation and Transnationalism as Agents for Change in the Post-Conflict of Sri Lanka. Toronto.
- CHERAN, R. & AIKEN, S. (2005) The Impact of International Informal Banking on Canada: A Case Study of Tamil Transnational Money Transfer Networks (Undiyal), Canada / Sri Lanka. Toronto, York University.
- CHRISTENSEN, M. (2012) Online mediations in transnational spaces: cosmopolitan (re)formations of belonging and identity in the Turkish diaspora. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 35, 888 905.
- CHRISTOU, A. (2011) Narrating lives in (e)motion: Embodiment, belongingness and displacement in diasporic spaces of home and return. *Emotion, Space and Society*, **4**, 249-257.
- CHRISTOU, A. & KING, R. (2010) Imagining 'home': diasporic landscapes of the Greek-German second generation. *Geoforum*, 41, 638-646.
- CLARANCE, W. (2007) Ethnic Warfare in Sri Lanka and the UN Crisis, London, Pluto Press.
- CLIFFORD, J. (1994) Diasporas. Cultural Anthropology, 302-338.
- COHEN, R. (1997) Global Diasporas: an Introduction, London, UCL Press.
- COLIN-THORNY, P. & RAGEL, F. R. (2005) The Portuguese and The Dutch Burghers. An Overview. IN VIJAYALAKSHMI, E. (Ed.) *Cultural Minorities in Sri Lanka. Their Growth, Achievements and Relevance Today.*Colombo, International Centre for Ethnic Studies.
- COLIN COOKE, M. (2011) Rebellion, Repression and the Struggle for Justice in Sri Lanka. The Lionel Bopage Story., Colombo, Agahas Publishers.
- COLLINS, P. H. (2000) Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment, London, Routledge.
- COMMONWEALTH SECRETARIAT (2013) Sri Lanka: History. Commonwealth Secretariat.
- COMMUNICATION DEPARTMENT OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION (1995 2013) Europe without frontiers. European Union.

- CONNELL, R. W. (1990) The state, gender, and sexual politics. *Theory and society*, 19, 507-544.
- CONNOLLY, W. E. (1996) Suffering, justice, and the politics of becoming. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry,* 20, 251-277.
- CZARNIAWSKA, B. (2009) The Use of Narrative in Social Science Research.
 IN HARDY, M. & BRYMANN, A. (Eds.) *Handbook of Data Analysis*.
 London, Sage Publications.
- DAILY NEWS (2011) Agreement to provide 3500 jobs for Sri Lankans in Italy. *Daily News.* Colombo.
- DAVID, A. R. (2008) Religious Dogma or Political Agenda? Bharatanatyam and its Re-emergence in British Tamil Temples. roehampton.openrepository.com.
- DAVID, A. R. (2009a) Performing for the gods? Dance and embodied ritual in British Hindu temples. *South Asian Popular Culture*, 7, 217-231.
- DAVID, K. (2009b) Understanding War and Democracy in Sri Lanka. IN FERNANDO, N. & ARAI, S. (Eds.) *The Struggle for Human Rights and Peace in Sri Lanka*. Tokyo, The International Movement Against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism.
- DE SILVA, K. M. (2005) A History of Sri Lanka, New Delhi, Penguin Books.
- DE VRIES, P. (1992) A Research Journey: On Actors, Concepts and the Texts.

 IN LONG, N. & LONG, A. (Eds.) *Battlefields of knowledge: the interlocking of theory and practice in social research and development.*London, Routledge.
- DELANTY, G. (1996) Beyond the Nation-State: National Identity and Citizenship in a Multicultural Society a Response to Rex. *Sociological Research Online 1(3)*.
- DENIZ GÖKTÜRK, D. G., ANTON KAES (EDS) (2007) *Germany in Transit:*Nation and Migration 1955 2005, Berkley, University of California Press.
- DENZIN, N. K. & LINCOLN, Y. S. (2008) Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials, London, Sage Publications.
- DEPARTMENT OF ELECTION (2013) Past Parliamentary General Election Results. Department of Election.
- DEPARTMENT OF IMMIGRATION AND EMIGRATION (2009) 50 Years of Migration. Colombo, Department of Immigration and Emigration.

- DESHINGKAR, P. & AHEEYAR, M. M. (2006) Remittances in Crisis: Sri Lanka after the tsunami. London, Overseas Development Institute.
- DEWARAJA, L. S. (1994) *The Muslims of Sri Lanka: one thousand years of ethnic harmony, 900-1915,* Colombo, Lanka Islamic Foundation.
- DUELLI KLEIN, R. (1983) How to do what we want to do: Thoughts about feminist methodology. *Theories of women's studies*, 88-104.
- EDENSOR, T. (2002) *National Identity, Popular Culture and Everyday Life,* Oxford, Berg.
- EHRKAMP, P. (2005) Placing identities: Transnational practices and local attachments of Turkish immigrants in Germany. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 31, 345-364.
- EIDE, P. & ALLEN, C. B. (2005) Recruiting Transcultural Qualitative Research Participants: A Conceptual Model. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 4.
- EUR-LEX, PRELEX & DIRECT., E. (2010) Treaty of Maastricht on European Union. European Union.
- EUR-LEX, PRELEX & EUROPE DIRECT (1995 2013) Summaries of the EU Legislation: The gradual establishment of an area of freedom, security and justice. European Union.
- FAGERLUND, E. (2011) The Tigers' Roar: Insurgent Violence Against Civilians in Sri Lanka. *Psychology & Society*, **4**, 96-116.
- FAIR, C. C. (2005) Diaspora involvement in insurgencies: Insights from the Khalistan and Tamil Eelam movements. *Nationalism and Ethnic Politics*, 11, 125-156.
- FAIST, T. (2000) Transnationalization in international migration: implications for the study of citizenship and culture. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 23, 189-222.
- FEARON, J. (1999) What is identity (as we now use the word). *Unpublished manuscript, Stanford University, Stanford, Calif.*
- FEDERAL MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR (1994) Recent Developments in the German Law on Asylum and Aliens. *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 6, 265-270.
- FERNANDO, N. (2011) Sri Lanka's Local Elections Test Government's Popularity in North but Development Continues. Asian Foundation.

- FERNANDO, P. (1981) *A Self-Criticism [in Sinhala],* Colombo, Janatha Sangamaya Publication.
- FUGLERUD, O. (2003) Local communities and state ambitions in Eastern Sri Lanka. IN MAYER, M., RAJASINGHAM-SENANAYAKE, D. & THANGARAJAH, Y. (Eds.) *Building Local Capacities for Peace.*Rethinking Conflict and Development in Sri Lanka. New Delhi, MacMillan India Ltd.
- FUGLERUD, Ø. (1999) Life on the Outside: The Tamil Diaspora and Long Distance Nationalism, London, Pluto Press.
- FUGLERUD, Ø. (2001) Time and space in the Sri Lanka-Tamil diaspora.

 Nations and Nationalism, 7, 195-213.
- GEIGER, W. (1912) *Mahavamsa: Great Chronicle of Ceylon*, Colombo, Ceylon Government Information Department.
- GEORGE, G. (2011) The Canadian Tamil Diaspora and the Politics of Multiculturalism. *Identities*, 18, 459-480.
- GILROY, P. (1993) *The Black Atlantic: Double Consciousness and Modernity,* Cambridge, Harvard University Press.
- GÖKTÜRK, D., GRAMLING, D. & KAES, A. E. (2007) *Germany in Transit:*Nation and Migration 1955 2005, Berkeley, University of California Press.
- GOVERNMENT OF SRI LANKA (1978) The Constitution of Sri Lanka.

 Colombo, Government of Sri Lanka.
- GRANT, P. (2009) *Buddhism and ethnic conflict in Sri Lanka,* New York, Suny Press.
- GREEN, S. (2004) *The politics of exclusion: Institutions and immigration policy in contemporary Germany*, Manchester, Manchester University Press.
- GREVERUS, I. M. (1979) Auf der Suche nach Heimat, CH Beck.
- GUNAWARDENA, C. A. (2005) *Encyclopedia of Sri Lanka*, Elgin, New Dawn Press.
- GURIBYE, E. (2011) Sacrifice as coping: A case study of the cultural-political framing of traumatic experiences among Eelam Tamils in Norway. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 24, 376-389.
- HAFEEZ, M. (2009) Ethnic conflict in Sri Lanka Islamabad, Institute of Strategic Studies.

- HAJO, S., BORCK, C., SAVELSBERG, E. & DOGAN, S. E. (2004) Gender in Kurdistan und der Diaspora, Münster, Unrast Verlag.
- HALL, S. (1990) Cultural identity and diaspora. IN RUTHERFORD, J. (Ed.) *Identity: Community, Culture, Difference.* London, Lawrence & Wishart.
- HALL, S. (1996) Introduction: Who Needs 'Identity'? IN HALL, S. & GRAY, P. D. (Eds.) *Questions of Cultural Identity.* London, Sage Publications.
- HAMMAR, T., BROCHMANN, G., TAMAS, K. & FAIST, T. E. (1997a)

 International Migration, Immobility and Development: Multidisciplinary perspectives, Oxford, Berg.
- HAMMAR, T. & TAMAS, K. (1997b) Why Do People Go or Stay? IN HAMMAR, T., BROCHMANN, G., TAMAS, K. & FAIST, T. (Eds.) *International Migration, Immobility and Development: Multidisciplinary Perspectives*. Oxford, Berg.
- HAMMERSLEY, M. (1992) What's wrong with ethnography?: Methodological explorations, London, Routledge.
- HARAWAY, D. (1988) Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of the Partial Perspective. *Feminist Studies*, 14, 575 599.
- HARDING, S. G. (1987) Introduction: Is There a Feminist Method? IN

 HARDING, S. G. (Ed.) *Feminism and Methodology.* Bloomington, Indiana
 University Press.
- HARDING, S. G. (1991) Whose science? Whose knowledge?: Thinking from women's lives, New York, Cornell University Press.
- HEERWART, S. & SCHNURMANN, C. E. (2007) Atlantic Migrations. Regions and Movements in Germany and North America / USA during the 18th and 19th century, Hamburg, Verlag Dr. W. Hopf.
- HENAYAKA-LOCHBIHLER, R. & LAMBUSTA, M. (2004) The Sri Lankan Diaspora in Italy: An explorative mapping. Berlin, Berghof Research Centre for Conflict Management.
- HENAYAKA, R. (2010) *Mit dem Wind fliehen. Ein tamilisches Flüchtlingsschicksal,* Bad Honnef, Horlemann.
- HENDRY, P. M. (2009) Narrative as Inquiry. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 103, 72-80.

- HENNAYAKE, N. (2006) *Culture, Politics, and Development in Postcolonial Sri Lanka*, Oxford, Lexington Books.
- HERBERT, U. (2001) Geschichte der Ausländerpolitik in Deutschland.

 Saisonarbeiter, Zwangsarbeiter, Gastarbeiter, Flüchtlinge, München,

 Verlag C.H. Beck.
- HETHERINGTON, K. (1998) Expressions of Identity Space, Performance, Politics, London, Sage Publications.
- HEWITT, V. M. (1997) *The New International Politics of South Asia. Second Edition.*, Manchester, Manchester University Press.
- HOOLE, R., SOMASUNDARAM, D., SRITHARAN, K. & THIRANAGAMA, R. (1990) *The Broken Palmyra: The Tamil Crisis in Sri Lanka. An Inside Account.*, Clarement, CA., The Sri Lankan Studies Institute.
- HORST, C. (2004) Money and mobility: transnational livelihood strategies of the Somali diaspora. IN GLOBAL COMMISSION ON INTERNATIONAL MIGRATION (Ed.) *Global Migration Perspectives*. Geneva, Global Commission of International Migration.
- HUGHES, C. (2002) Key concepts in feminist theory and research, London, Sage Publications.
- HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH (2006) Funding the" final war": LTTE intimidation and extortion in the Tamil diaspora, New York, Human Rights Watch.
- IGNATIEFF, M. (1994) *Blood and Belonging: Journeys into New Nationalism,* London, vintage.
- INTERNATIONAL CRISIS GROUP (2010) The Sri Lankan Tamil Diaspora after the LTTE. *Asia Report No. 186.* Brussels, International Crisis Group.
- IRIN HUMANITARIAN NEWS AND ANALYSIS. (2009) Sri Lanka. "Too many people" at huge IDP camp UN. UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs.
- ITZIGSOHN, J., CABRAL, C. D., MEDINA, E. H. & VAZQUEZ, O. (1999)

 Mapping Dominican transnationalism: narrow and broad transnational practices. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 22, 316-339.
- JAYARAM, P. (1995) An audacious gamble for peace. India Today. Noida.
- JAYAWARDENA, K. (1970) Economic and Political Factors in the 1915 Riots. *The Journal of Asian Studies*, 29, 223 - 233.
- JEYAPALAN, V. I. S. (2013) The Song of the Defeated.

- JOISTEN, K. (2003) *Philosophie der Heimat Heimat der Philosophie,* Berlin, Oldenbourg Akademie Verlag.
- KASTORYANO, R. (2002) The Reach of Transnationalism. IN HERSHBERG, E. & MOORE, K. W. (Eds.) *Critical Views of September 11: Analyses from Around the World.* New York, The New Press.
- KAYA, A. (2012) Transnational citizenship: German-Turks and liberalizing citizenship regimes. *Citizenship Studies*, 16, 153 172.
- KEARNEY, R. N. (1964) Sinhalese Nationalism and Social Conflict in Ceylon. *Pacific Affairs*, 37, 125-136.
- KELLER, W. (2001) Mapping der sri lankischen Diaspora. Berlin, Berghof Forschungszentrum für konstruktive Konfliktbearbeitung.
- KINZEL, T. (2010) Segun Afolabi, Transnational Identity, and the Politics of Belonging. *Cultura: International Journal of Philosophy of Culture and Axiology*, VII, 111-123.
- KLUSMEYER, D. (2001) A 'guiding culture' for immigrants? Integration and diversity in Germany *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 27, 519 532.
- KÖLLING, M. (2013) Landesstelle für Gleichbehandlung gegen Diskriminierung. Berlin, Senatsverwaltung für Arbeit, Integration und Frauen.
- KÖNIG, H. (2013) Optionszwang für Zuwanderer-Kinder: Wer zögert, verliert den deutschen Pass. Hamburg, Spiegel Online.
- KOOPMANS, R. & STATHAM, P. (2001) How national citizenship shapes transnationalism. A comparative analysis of migrant Claims-making. *Revue Eurohernne des Migrations Internationales*, 17, 63-100.
- KORAC, M. (2009a) Policy, agency, and intercultural dialogue: Experiences of refugees from war-torn Yugoslavia in Italy". *Mondi Migranti*, 2.
- KORAC, M. (2009b) Remaking home reconstructing life, place and identity in Rome and Amsterdam, New York, Berghahn Books.
- KORALE, R. B. M. (1984) Migration for employment to the Middle East: Its demographic and socio-economic effects on Sri Lanka, Colombo, Employment and Manpower Planning Division, Ministry of Plan Implementation.

- KUHRT, N. & DIEHL, J. (2013) Ausländerfeindlicher Anschlag in Solingen: Das Brandmal. *Spiegel Online*. Hamburg.
- KUSOW, A. M. (2003) Beyond Indigenous Authenticity: Reflections on the Insider/Outsider Debate in Immigration Research. *Symbolic Interaction*, 26, 591-599.
- LAVENEX, S. (2001) The Europeanization of Refugee Policies: Normative Challenges and Institutional Legacies. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 39, 851-874.
- LEE-TREWEEK, G. & LINKOGLE, S. (2002) Danger in the field: Ethics and risk in social research, London, Routledge.
- LEE, E. S. (1966) A Theory of Migration. *Demography*, 3, 47-57.
- LEE, R. M. & FIELDING, N. G. (2004) Tools for Qualitative Data Analysis. IN HARDY, M. & BRYMANN, A. (Eds.) *Handbook of Data Analysis*. London, Sage Publications.
- LEVITT, P. (2003) "You Know, Abraham Was Really the First Immigrant": Religion and Transnational Migration. *International Migration Review*, 37, 847-873.
- LEVITT, P. & GLICK-SCHILLER, N. (2004) Conceptualizing Simultaneity: A

 Transnational Social Field Perspective on Society. *International Migration Review*, 38, 1002-1039.
- LIAMPUTTONG, P. (2010) *Performing qualitative cross-cultural research*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- LINDGREN, M. & WAHLIN, N. (2001) Identity-construction among boundary-crossing individuals. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 17, 357-377.
- LOGANATHAN, K. (1996) *Lost Opportunities*, Colombo, Centre for Policy Research and Analysis, Faculty of Law, University of Colombo.
- MAHADEVAN, I. (2002) Aryan or Dravidian or Neither? A Study of Recent Attempts to Decipher the Indus Script. *Electronic Journal of Vedic Studies*, 8.
- MANORAJAN, S. (1995) Colombo, MIRJE.
- MARIENSTRAS, R. (1989) On the notion of diaspora. IN CHALIAND, G. (Ed.)

 Minority Peoples in the Age of Nation-States. London, Pluto.
- MARSHALL, C. & ROSSMAN, G. B. (2010) Designing qualitative research, London, Sage Publications.

- MARSHALL, T. T. H. & BOTTOMORE, T. (1992) Citizenship and Social Class, London, Pluto Press.
- MARTIN, S. F. (2001) Global migration trends and asylum. *New Issues in Refugee Research*. Working Paper No. 41 ed., The Journal of Humanitarian Assistance.
- MASON, J. (1996) Qualitative Researching, London, Sage Publications.
- MCDOWELL, C. (1996) A Tamil asylum diaspora: Sri Lankan migration, settlement and politics in Switzerland. Providence [u.a.], Berghahn.
- MEHRLÄNDER, U. & SCHULTZE, G. (2001) "... und es bewegt sich doch ..."

 Von der Ausländer- zur Einwanderungspolitik. IN MEHRLÄNDER, U. & SCHULTZE, G. (Eds.) Einwanderungsland Deutschland: neue Wege nachhaltiger Integration. Bonn, Verlag J.H.W. Dietz.
- MERTON, R. K. (1972) Insiders and outsiders: A chapter in the sociology of knowledge. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78, 9-48.
- MIES, M. (1978) Methodische Postulate zur Frauenforschung dargestellt am Beispiel der Gewalt gegen Frauen. *Beiträge zur feministischen Theorie und Praxis*, 1, 41-63.
- MILES, R. (1996) Nationalism. IN CASHMORE, E. (Ed.) *Dictionary of Race and Ethnic Relations*. 4th ed. London, Routledge.
- MILLER, D. C. & SALKIND, N. J. (2002) Handbook of research design and social measurement, London, Sage Publications.
- MINOGUE, K. (1996) Nationalism. IN KUPER, A. & KUPER, J. (Eds.) *The Social Science Encyclopedia*. 2nd ed. London, Routledge.
- MOEN, T. (2006) Reflections on the Narrative Research Approach. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5, Article 5.
- MOORE, M. (2007) *The State and Peasant Politics in Sri Lanka*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- MOTTE, J., OHLIGER, R., VON OSWALD, A. & (EDS) (1999) 50 Jahre

 Bundesrepublik 50 Jahre Einwanderung: Nachkriegsgeschichte als

 Migrationsgeschichte, Frankfurt / Main, Campus Verlag.
- MUENZ, R. & OHLIGER, R. E. (2003) Diasporas and Ethnic Migrants:

 Germany, Israel and Post-Soviet States in Comparative Perspective,

 London, Frank Cass.

- MUGGAH, R. (2008) Relocation Failures in Sri Lanka. A Short History of Internal Displacement and Resettlement, London, Zed Books.
- MÜNZ, R., SEIFERT, W. & ULRICH, R. (1999) Zuwanderung nach Deutschland: Strukturen. Wirkungen. Perspektiven, Frankfurt a.M., Campus Verlag.
- N.A. (1986) Asyl: Nur Chuzpe. Der Spiegel. Hamburg.
- N.A. (2010) 1994, 1999 Democracy's triumph over terror. *Sunday Observer*. Colombo.
- NARAYAN, K. (1993) How Native Is a "Native" Anthropologist? *American Anthropologist*, 95, 671-686.
- NEWS STORIES (2007) More than 40,000 civilians flee latest fighting in eastern Sri Lanka. Colombo, UNHCR.
- NICKEL, R. (2006) Das Allgemeine Gleichbehandlungsgesetz: Einführung und Würdigung Berlin, Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung.
- NIELSEN, J. M. (1990) Introduction. IN NIELSEN, J. M. (Ed.) Feminist

 Research Methods: Exemplary Readings in the Social Science. Boulder,

 Westview Press.
- NORBU, D. (1992) *Culture and the politics of Third World Nationalism,* London, Routledge.
- NUHMAN, M. A. (2004) Understanding Sri Lankan Muslim Identity. IN STUDIES, I. C. F. E. (Ed.) *Course on Ethnicity, Identity and Conflict.*Colombo, International Centre for Ethnic Studies.
- PAERREGAARD, K. (2008) In the footsteps of the Lord of Miracles: The expatriation of religious icons in the Peruvian diaspora. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 34, 1073-1089.
- PAGENSTECHER, C. (1994) Ausländerpolitik und Immigrantenidentität zur Geschichte der 'Gastarbeit' in der Bundesrepublik, Berlin, Verlag Dieter Betz.
- PERERA, Q. (2004) 'Little Italy' in the town of Wennappuwa. *Sunday Times*. Colombo.
- PERERA, S. (1998) *Political Violence in Sri Lanka: Dynamics, Consequences and Issues of Democratization,* Colombo, Centre for Women's Research.

- PETTMAN, J. J. (1999) Globalisation and Gendered Politics of Citizenship. IN YUVAL-DAVIS, N. & WERBNER, P. (Eds.) *Women, Citizenship and Difference*. London, Zed Books.
- PHINNEY, J. S., HORENZCYK, G., LIEBKIND, K. & VEDDER, P. (2001) Ethnic Identity, Immigration and Well-Being: An Interactional Perspective. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57, 493-510.
- PICKERING, M. (2001) Stereotyping: The politics of representation, New York, Palgrave Macmillan.
- PINTO-JAYAWARDENA, K. (2010) Still Seeking Justice in Sri Lanka. Rule of Law, the Criminal Justice System and Commissions of Inquiry since 1977, Geneva, International Commission of Jurists.
- PIZARRO, G. R. (2000) Specific Groups and Individuals Migrant Workers: Human rights of migrants. Geneva, United Nations.
- PONNAMBALAM, S. (1983) Sri Lanka: The national question and the Tamil liberation struggle, London, Zed Books Ltd.
- PONNIAH, S. (2011) Satyagraha of March 1961 in Eelam. *Ilankai Tamil Sangam.* Association of Tamils of Sri Lanka in the USA.
- POTTERS, M. (2013) Engaging the Tamil Diaspora in Peace-Building Efforts in Sri Lanka. *Undergraduate Transitional Justice Review,* 1, Article 5.
- PRANTL, H. (2012) 20 Jahre Rostock-Lichtenhagen: Spiel mir das Lied vom Tod *Süddeutsche Zeitung*. München.
- PROBYN, E. (1996) Outside Belongings, London, Routledge.
- RAJASINGHAM-SENANAYAKE, D. (2001) Democracy and the Problem of Representation: The Making of Bi-polar Ethnic Identity in Post/Colonial Sri Lanka. IN PFAFF-CZARNECKA, J., RAJASINGHAM-SENANAYAKE, D., NANDY, A. & GOMEZ, E. T. (Eds.) *Ethnic Futures: The State and Identity Politics in Asia.* 3rd printing ed. New Delhi, Sage Publications.
- RAMERINI, M. (n.a.) History of the Dutch in Ceylon: The Burghers of Ceylon RATHA, D., MOHAPATRA, S. & SILWAL, A. (2011a) Migration and Remittances Factbook 2011. 2nd ed. Washington DC, The World Bank.
- RATHA, D. & SHAW, W. (2011b) Prospects Bilateral Migration and Remittances: Table 3: Bilateral Remittance Estimates for 2010 using Migrant Stocks and Host Country Incomes. The World Bank.

- RATTER, B. M. W. & GEE, K. (2012) "Heimat" a German concept of regional perception and identity as a basis for coastal management in the Wadden Sea. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 127 137.
- REISSLANDT, C. (2006) Fit für die Globalisierung? Die deutsche Migrationsund Integrationspolitik nach den rot-grünen Reformen. IN BUTTERWEGGE, C. & HENTGES, G. (Eds.) Zuwanderung im Zeichen der Globalisierung. Migrations-, Integrations- und Minderheitenpolitik. Wiesbaden, VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- RICHMOND, A. H. (1994) *Global Apartheid: refugees, racism and the new world order,* New York, Oxford University Press.
- ROBERTS, M. (2005) Firstness, History, Place and Legitimate Claim to Place-As-Homeland in Comparative Focus, Colombo, International Centre for Ethnic Studies.
- ROSS, R. R. & SAVADA, A. M. (1988a) Sri Lankan Freedom Party Rule, 1956 1965. IN ROSS, R. R. & SAVADA, A. M. (Eds.) *Sri Lanka: A Country Study.* Washington, GPO for the Library of Congress.
- ROSS, R. R. & SAVADA, A. M. (1988b) Tamil Militant Groups. IN ROSS, R. R. & SAVADA, A. M. (Eds.) *Sri Lanka: A Country Study.* Washington, GPO for the Library of Congress.
- ROTBERG, R. I. (1999) Sri Lanka's Civil War: From Mayhem toward Diplomatic Resolution. IN ROTBERG, R. I. (Ed.) *Creating Peace in Sri Lanka: Civil War and Reconciliation*. Washington, Brookings Institution Press.
- SAFRAN, W. (1991) Diasporas in modern societies: Myths of homeland and return. *Diaspora*, 1, 83-99.
- SALIH, R. (2001) Shifting Meanings of Home: Consumption and Identity in Moroccan Women's Transnational Practices between Italy and Morocco. IN AL-ALI, N. & KOSER, K. (Eds.) New Approaches to Migration.

 Transnational Communities and the Transformation of Home. London, Routledge.
- SAMARANAYAKE, G. (2008) *Political Violence in Sri Lanka, 1971-1987,* New Delhi, Gyan Publishing House.
- SANDERS, J. M. (2002) Ethnic Boundaries and Identity in Plural Societies. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 28, 327-357.

- SAPSFORD, R. & JUPP, V. (2006) *Data collection and analysis,* London, Sage Publications.
- SASHI SRI KANTHA (2011) Satyagraha of April 1961 in Eelam. *Ilankai Tamil Sangam.* Association of Tamils of Sri Lanka in the USA.
- SCHALK, P. (2007) Caivam A religion among Tamil speaking refugees from Sri Lanka. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 26, 91-108.
- SCHNAPPER, D. & BACHELIER, C. (2000) Qu'est-ce que la citoyenneté?, Paris, Gallimard.
- SCHÖNWÄLDER, K. (2010) Germany. Integration Policy and Pluralism in a Self-Conscious Country of Immigration. IN VERTOVEC, S. & WESSENDORF, S. (Eds.) *The Multiculturalism Backlash: European Discourses, Policies and Practices.* Oxon, Routledge.
- SCHRIJVERS, J. (1999) Fighters, Victims and Survivors: Constructions of Ethnicity, Gender and Refugeeness among Tamils in Sri Lanka. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 12, 307-333.
- SCHRÖDER, U. E. (2003) Organisation und Kommunikation in der tamilischen Diaspora in Deutschland. *Fakultät für Soziologie*. Bielefeld, Universität Bielefeld.
- SCHURMANN, S. (2013) Heinz Buschkowsky und die heilige Kuh: Berlin erster Hindu-Tempel. *Der Tagesspiegel Berlin*. Online ed. Berlin.
- SCHWINEKÖPER, K. (2005) Heimat, Naturbewahrung und Naturwahrnehmung im Wandel der Zeiten. Heimat und Natur: wissen, woher wir kommen, wo wir sein wollen und wo wir hinkönnen. Beiträge der Akademie für Naturund Umweltschutz Baden-Württemberg, 37, 17-27.
- SCOTT, S. D. (1993) Beyond reason: A feminist theory of ethics for journalists. *Feminist Issues*, 13, 23-40.
- SENEVIRATNE, H. L. (2004) Buddhism, Identity, and Conflict. IN
 INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR ETHNIC STUDIES (Ed.) Course on
 Ethnicity, Identity, and Conflict. Colombo, International Centre for Ethnic
 Studies.
- SHANMUGARATNAM, N. (2001) Forced Migration and Changing Local Political Economies: A Study from North-Western Sri Lanka, Colombo, Social Scientists' Association.

- SHEFFER, G. (1986) A new field of study: Modern diasporas in international politics. IN SHEFFER, G. (Ed.) *Modern Diasporas in International Politics*. London, Croom Helm.
- SIEVEKING, K. (1992) Statusrechte von Ausländern: Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge zur Freizügigkeit, sozialen Sicherung, Bildung und politischen Beteiligung Bremen, Universtiy of Bremen.
- SILVERMAN, D. (2013) *Doing qualitative research: A practical handbook,* London, Sage Publications.
- SINGLETON JR, R. A., STRAITS, B. C. & STRAITS, M. M. (1993) *Approaches to social research,* New York, Oxford University Press.
- SIVATHAMBY, K. (2004) *The Sri Lankan Ethnic Crisis A Tamil Perspective -* Colombo, Marga Institute.
- SMITH, M. P. (2001) *Transnational Urbanism: Locating Globalisation*, Oxford, Blackwell.
- SMITH, M. P. & GUARNIZO, L. E. E. (1998) *Transnationalism from Below,* New Brunswick, Transaction Publishers.
- SØRBØ, G., GOODHAND, J., KLEM, B., NISSEN, A. E. & SELBERVIK, H. (2011) Pawns of Peace. Evaluation of Norwegian peace efforts in Sri Lanka, 1997 2009. Oslo, NORAD.
- SOYSAL, Y. N. (1994) Limits of Citizenship: Migrants and Post-National Citizenship in Europe, Chicago, University of Chicago Press.
- SOYSAL, Y. N. (2000) Citizenship and identity: living in diasporas in post-war Europe? *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 23, 1-15.
- SQUIRE, C. (2008) What is....narrative research? . Research Methods Festival.

 University of East London.
- SQUIRE, C., ANDREWS, M. & TAMBOUKOU, M. (2013) Introduction: What is narrative research? IN ANDREWS, M., SQUIRE, C. & TAMBOUKOU, M. (Eds.) *Doing Narrative Research*. London, Sage Publications.
- STATISTISCHES BUNDESAMT (18.12.2012) 10,7 Millionen Migranten aus 194 Ländern leben in Deutschland. *Pressemitteilung Nr. 448/12*. Wiesbaden, Statistisches Bundesamt.
- STATISTISCHES BUNDESAMT (2011) Anzahl der Ausländer in Deutschland nach Herkunftsland. Wiesbaden, Statistisches Bundesamt,.

- STAVENHAGEN, R. (1990) *The Ethnic Question: Conflicts, Development, and Human Rights,* Tokyo, United Nations University Press.
- STOETZLER, M. & YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (2002) Standpoint theory, situated knowledge and the situated imagination. *Feminist Theory*, 3, 315 333.
- STOKKE, K. (2006) Building the Tamil Eelam State: emerging state institutions and forms of governance in LTTE-controlled areas in Sri Lanka. *Third World Quarterly*, 27, 1021-1040.
- STRAUSS, A. & CORBIN, J. (1990) Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques, Newsbury Park, Sage Publications.
- SÜDDEUTSCHE.DE/DPA (2010) Höhen und Tiefen der rot-grünen Bundesregierung *Süddeutsche Zeitung.* München.
- SULTANA, G. (2010) IDSA Comment. 18th Amendment: Making a Mockery of Democracy in Sri Lanka. Institute of Defence Studies and Analyses.
- SÜSSMUTH, R. (2001) Zuwanderung gestalten Integration fördern. Berlin, Unabhängige Kommission "Zuwanderung".
- TAMBIAH, S. J. (1991) Sri Lanka: Ethnic Fratricide and the Dismantling of Democracy, Chicago, University of Chicago Press.
- TAMBINI, D. (2001) Post-national citizenship. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 24, 195 217.
- TAMILNET (2006) International Association of Tamil Journalists formed in UK. London, TamilNet.
- THANGARAJAH, Y. (2003) Ethnicization of the Devolution Debate and the Militarization of Civil Society in North-Eastern Sri Lanka. IN MAYER, M., RAJASINGHAM-SENANAYAKE, D. & THANGARAJAH, Y. (Eds.) Building Local Capacities for Peace. Rethinking Conflict and Development in Sri Lanka. New Delhi, MacMillan India Ltd.
- THRÄNHARDT, D. (2001) Einwanderungsland Deutschland von der Tabuisierung zur Realität. IN MEHRLÄNDER, U. & SCHULTZE, G. (Eds.) Einwanderungsland Deutschland: neue Wege nachhaltiger Integration. Bonn, Verlag J.H.W. Dietz.
- THRÄNHARDT, D. (2008) Einbürgerung: Rahmenbedingungen, Motive und Perspektiven des Erwerbs der deutschen Staatsangehörigkeit. Bonn, Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.

- TOLD, M. (1997) The Gender of Ethnic-Nationalist Conflict: A Case Study From Sri Lanka. *Women and Development*. The Hague, Institute of Social Studies.
- TÖLÖLYAN, K. (1996) Rethinking Diaspora(s): Stateless power in the transnational moment *Diaspora*, 5, 3-36.
- TRIANDAFYLLIDOU, A. (1998) National Identity and the 'other'. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 21, 593-612.
- TSUDA, T. (2012) Whatever Happened to Simultaneity? Transnational Migration Theory and Dual Engagement in Sending and Receiving Countries. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 38, 631-649.
- TURNER, B. S. (2000) Contemporary Problems in the Theory of Citizenship. IN TURNER, B. S. (Ed.) *Citizenship and Social Theory.* 3rd ed. London, Sage.
- UN (2009) International Migration Stock: The 2008 Revision. UN Department of Social and Economic Affairs.
- UNHCR (2001) Statelessness in Sri Lanka. Colombo, UNHCR.
- UNITED STATES COMMITTEE FOR REFUGEES AND IMMIGRANTS (1997)
 U.S. Committee for Refugees World Refugee Survey 1997 Sri Lanka.
- UTHR(J) (1992) Briefing No. 1: Human Rights and the Issues of War and Peace. UTHR(J).
- UYANGODA, J. (2003a) Social Conflict, Radical Resistance and Projects of State Power in Southern Sri Lanka: The Case of the JVP. IN MAYER, M., RAJASINGHAM-SENANAYAKE, D. & THANGARAJAH, Y. (Eds.) Building Local Capacities for Peace. Rethinking Conflict and Development in Sri Lanka. New Delhi, Macmillan India Ltd.
- UYANGODA, J. (2003b) Working and Outcomes of Democracy in Sri Lanka.

 State of Democracy in South Asia. Dialogue on Democracy in Sri Lanka.

 Colombo, Programme of Comparative Democracy, Centre for the Study of the Developing Societies Delhi.
- VAN HEAR, N. (1998) New Diasporas: The mass exodus, dispersal and regrouping of migrant communities, London, UCL Press.
- VERTOVEC, S. (1999a) Conceiving and Researching Transnationalism. *Ethnic* and Racial Studies, 22, 447-462.

- VERTOVEC, S. (1999b) Three Meanings of 'Diaspora': exemplified by South Asian Religions. *Diaspora*, 6, 277-300.
- VERTOVEC, S. (2001) Transnationalism and Identity. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 27, 573-582.
- VERTOVEC, S. & COHEN, R. E. (1999) *Migration, Diasporas and Transnationalism,* Cheltenham, Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd. .
- VIJE, M. (1987) Where serfdom thrives: The Plantation Tamils of Sri Lanka, London, Tamil Information & Research Unit on behalf of Tamil Information Centre.
- VIMALARAJAH, L. & CHERAN, R. (2010) Empowering diasporas: The dynamics of post-war transnational Tamil politics. IN BERGHOF PEACE SUPPORT (Ed.) *Berghof Occasional Paper No. 31.* Berlin, Berghof Foundation.
- VIRUELL-FUENTES, E. A. (2006) 'My heart is always there': the transnational practices of first-generation Mexican immigrant and second-generation Mexican American women. *Identities: Global studies in culture and power*, 13, 335-362.
- VITTACHI, V. T. (1958) *Emergency'58: The Story of the Ceylon Race Riots,* London, Andre Deutsch.
- WAHLBECK, O. (1998) Transnationalism and Diasporas: The Kurdish Example.

 International Sociological Association XIV World Congress of Sociology.

 Montreal, Canada, International Sociological Association.
- WATERS, M. (1990) Ethnic options: choosing identities in America.
- WAYLAND, S. (2004) Ethnonationalist networks and transnational opportunities: the Sri Lankan Tamil diaspora. *Review of International Studies*, 30, 405-426.
- WEISS, G. (2011) The cage: The fight for Sri Lanka and the last days of the tamil tigers, London, Random House.
- WERBNER, P. (2002) The place which is diaspora: citizenship, religion and gender in the making of chaordic transnationalism. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 28, 119-133.
- WERBNER, P. (2005) The translocation of culture: 'community cohesion' and the force of multiculturalism in history. *The Sociological Review*, 53, 745-768.

- WEREWOLF (2008) Wie viele Ausländer insgesamt leben in Deutschland?, deutsch-werden.de.
- WICKRAMASINGHE, N. (2006) *Sri Lanka in the Modern Age: A History of Contested Identities*, Honululu, University of Hawaii Press.
- WIGHT, E. (2000) Bosnians in Chicago: Transnational activities and obstacles to Transnationalism, Sussex, Sussex Centre for Migration Research.
- WILSON, A. J. (1975) Electoral Politics in an Emergent State: The Ceylon General Election of May 1970, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- WILSON, A. J. (1988) *The break-up of Sri Lanka: the Sinhalese-Tamil conflict,*Honululu / London, University of Hawai Press / C. Hurst & Company.
- WILSON, A. J. (1994) S.J.V. Chelvanayakam and the Crisis of Sri Lankan Tamil Nationalism, 1947-1977: A Political Biography, Colombo, Hurst & Company.
- WILSON, A. J. (2001) Sri Lankan Tamil Nationalism: Its Origins and

 Development in the 19th and 20th Centuries, New Delhi, Penguin Books
 India.
- WOOD, N. & WAITE, L. (2011) Editorial: Scales of belonging. *Emotion, Space and Society*, **4**, 201-202.
- WORLD BANK (2003) Memorandum of the President of the International

 Development Association and the International Finance Corporation to
 the Executive Directors on a Country Assistance Strategy of the World
 Bank Group for the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka Appendix I: Root Causes of the Ethnic Conflict in Sri Lanka Washington.
- WORLD BANK (2013) International migration stock, total. Washington DC, World Bank.
- WORLDWATCH INSTITUTE (2006) The European Union Lists Sri Lanka's Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) as a Banned Terrorist Organization. *Worldwatch Institute*. Washington.
- WOUTERS, K. (July 2006) Legal Memorandum: On the right to leave a country including his own, the right to seek asylum and the Sri Lanka Immigrants and Emigrants Act. Leiden, Leiden University.
- YEOH, B. S. A., WILLIS, K. D. & KHADER FAKHRI, S. M. A. (2003)
 Introduction: Transnationalism and its edges. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 26, 207-217.

- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1997a) Gender & Nation, London, Sage Publications.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1997b) Women, Citizenship and Difference. *Feminist Review*, 57, 4-27.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1999a) Ethnicity, Gender and Multiculturalism. IN TORRES, R. D., MIRON, L. F. & INDA, J. X. (Eds.) *Race, Identity and Citizenship A Reader.* Oxford, Blackwell Publishers.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1999b) The 'Multi-Layered Citizen'. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 1, 119-136.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (1999c) What is' Transversal Politics? Soundings, 88-93.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N. (2011) *The politics of belonging. Intersectional Contestations*, London, Sage Publications.
- YUVAL-DAVIS, N., ANTHIAS, F. & KOFMAN, E. (2005) Secure borders and safe haven and the gendered politics of belonging: Beyond social cohesion. *Ethn Racial Stud*, 28, 513-535.